
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
 
76th Board Meeting 
Wednesday, August 8, 2007 12:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
Revised AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (Tom Foley)  


• Approve agenda   
• Discussion of action items: 


May 9 meeting minutes  1 Discussion/Action 
June 20 meeting minutes 1 Discussion/Action 
New solar homes exemption from 


            Green Tag Policy (R445) Jason Eisdorfer 3 Discussion/Action 
East Portland Community Center 


            solar project (R443) John Reynolds                          7 Discussion/Action 
Swalley Irrigation open  


             solicitation project (R444)  John Reynolds                7 Discussion/Action 
 
12:45 p.m. Vote on action items 


• May 9 meeting minutes   Action 
• June 20 meeting minutes  Action 
• New solar homes exemption from 
   Green Tag Policy (R445) Jason Eisdorfer  Action 
• East Portland Community Center 
   solar project (R443) John Reynolds                           Action 
• Swalley Irrigation open  
   solicitation project (R444)  John Reynolds                 Action 


 
1:00 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 


• Margie Gardner, Executive Director NEEA, annual update 
 


1:30 p.m. President’s Report 
 
1:35 p.m. Committee Reports  
    
 Finance Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 2  
 Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  
 Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 3 Information 
 Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 4 
 Strategic Planning Committee (Rick Applegate) 5 


• Geographic investment and distribution 
 Legislative update (Jason Eisdorfer)  Information 
 
 
 







Revised Agenda  August 8, 2007 


   2 


 
 
2:30 p.m. Break 
 
2:45 p.m. Energy Efficiency program (Jason Eisdorfer) 6 


• Washington-Cascade Natural Gas programs  Information 
• Production Efficiency program delivery  Information 


 
3:15 p.m. Renewable Energy program (John Reynolds) 7 


• Renewable energy strategic goals discussion  Information 
• Protocol for considering renewable energy  
   demonstration projects  Information 


 
4:15 p.m. Staff Report (Margie Harris) 8  


• Architecture review recommendations (Moss Adams)  Information 
• Feature presentation: 
     Business Energy Solutions Existing Buildings Program,  
     Greg Stiles, Sr. Business Sector Manager  Information 
• Highlights  Information 


 
5:00 p.m. Adjourn 
 
 
 


Please note: the next meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, October 2, 2007, 12:00 noon 


at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 








  
 
 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 73rd Meeting 
May 9, 2007 
 
Board members present:  Rick Applegate, Tom Foley, Julie Hammond, Al Jubitz, Debbie 
Kitchin, Vickie Liskey, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, Bill Nesmith, John Reynolds 
 
Board members absent:  Jason Eisdorfer, John Klosterman, Preston Michie, John Savage 
 
Staff attending:  Tom Beverly, Phil Degens, Fred Gordon, Michel Gregory, Margie Harris, 
Betsy Kauffman, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Debbie Menashe, Brooke Nelson, Linda Rudawitz, 
Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer, Adam Serchuk, Greg Stiles, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Susan Anderson, Executive Director, City of Portland Office of Sustainable 
Development; Steve Bicker, NW Natural; Melanie Bissonnette, contractor; Don Jones Jr., 
PacifiCorp; Lori Koho, OPUC; Jerry Paige, Total Comfort; Lee Rahr, City of Portland Office of 
Sustainable Development; Joelle Steward, PacifiCorp; Mark Tallman, PacifiCorp 
 
 
Business Meeting 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 12:10 pm.  
 
Agenda 
 
Alan Meyer asked to have the first item on the consent agenda concerning amendments to the 
confidentiality policy removed to permit board discussion.  
 
March 28, 2007, Meeting Minutes 
 
John Reynolds noted a correction on page 19, second paragraph concerning the legislative 
update, correcting it to read ”John Reynolds asked about a bill to give homebuilders (not 
homeowners) tax credits for building renewable energy and energy efficiency into their homes.”  
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the March 28, 2007, meeting, as corrected.  
 
 Moved by: Alan Meyer  Seconded by: John Reynolds 
 
 Vote:  In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 Opposed: 0 
 
 Adopted on May 9, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


2 


 


Consent Agenda 
 
Adopting a revised gas goal for the 2007-2012 strategic plan, resolution #436. 
 


RESOLUTION #436 
ADOPTING A REVISED GAS GOAL FOR THE 2007-2012 


STRATEGIC PLAN  
 


WHEREAS:  
 


1. At its November, 2007 meeting, the Energy Trust board approved a 
2007-2012 strategic plan with a gas savings goal of 19 million therms, 
subject to further analysis.   


2.   Energy Trust staff conducted further analysis to assess the 
appropriateness of this goal considering: addition of program 
implementation for Cascade Natural Gas Corporation and Avista 
Corporation; recognition of savings achieved through market 
transformation efforts of Energy Trust; and change of the levelized 
cost performance metric for gas savings.  


3. Based on this analysis, 21 million therms represents an achievable but 
robust goal for Energy Trust gas program activity based on current 
funding.  


 
It is therefore RESOLVED:   
 
The Energy Trust board adopts a gas goal of 21 million annual therms by 
2012, for incorporation into the 2007-2012 strategic plan as shown in 
Attachment 1. This goal may be revised later to reflect changes in scope or 
funding of Energy Trust activities.


 
 
 Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 
 
 Vote:  In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 Opposed: 0 
 
Adopted as part of the consent agenda on May 9, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
ATTACHMENT 1 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
2007-2012 STRATEGIC PLAN 


 
I. Introduction 
 


A. Energy Trust 
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., began operating in March 2002, funded by revenues collected from customers of Pacific 
Power and Portland General Electric pursuant to a 1999 Oregon law (SB1149). Energy Trust invests these funds on behalf of 
customers to further electric energy conservation and efficiency, renewable energy development and energy market 
transformation. Energy Trust began operating natural gas efficiency programs for NW Natural in 2003 and for Cascade Natural 
Gas Corporation and Avista Corporation in 2006. 
 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


3 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The following item was pulled from the consent agenda upon request of Alan Meyer: Amending policy on 
information submitted by program participants, contractors and bidders to allow disclosure of certain non-
residential information to BPA, resolution #438. 
 
Alan explained he supported the measure but felt wording was confusing. He has worked with John 
Volkman to amend the wording as shown below. 


 
RESOLUTION #438 


AMENDING POLICY ON INFORMATION SUBMITTED  
BY PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS, CONTRACTORS AND 


BIDDERS TO ALLOW DISCLOSURE OF CERTAIN  
NON-RESIDENTIAL INFORMATION TO BPA  


 
WHEREAS: 
 


1. In September 2004, the board adopted a policy on maintaining 
the confidentiality of information submitted to Energy Trust 
by program participants. The policy protects the 
confidentiality of all residential participants in Energy Trust 
programs, and assures that Energy Trust will supply only 
limited information about non-residential participants (name, 
city or county of business, Energy Trust services or incentive 
payments, and energy saved or generated as a result of Energy 
Trust services or incentives) to the Oregon Public Utility 
Commission, the legislature and other state agencies. 


2. In December 2006, the board authorized Energy Trust to 
enter into agreements with PGE and Pacific Power to provide 


Proposed Energy Trust Mission Statement, Vision and Goals 
 


 
 Mission statement: 


To change how Oregonians produce and use energy by investing in efficient technologies and 
renewable resources that save dollars and protect the environment.  


 
Vision: 


Imagine meeting the future energy needs of Oregonians in a way that lowers energy cost, adds 
comfort to homes, strengthens our economy and leaves our environment healthier for generations to 
come. This will happen when we use energy efficiently and create renewable energy. The people at 
Energy Trust are committed to this future. 


 
 Goals: 


1.  Save 300 average megawatts of electricity. 
2.  Save 21 million annual therms of natural gas. 
3.  Help Oregonians meet 10 percent of their electric energy needs from renewable resources. 
4.  Expand participation by customers that have been hard to reach historically. 
5.  Help businesses to thrive by promoting energy efficiency and renewable energy.  
6.  Encourage Oregonians to integrate energy efficiency and renewable energy in daily life. 


 







Policy on Information Submitted by Program Participants May 9, 2007  


4 


services on their behalf for the Bonneville Power 
Administration’s Conservation Rate Credit Program. 


3. Bonneville Power Administration (Bonneville) needs certain 
information on program participants for purposes of 
verification and reporting. If it requires more information than 
the policy would allow Energy Trust to report to the OPUC 
and state entities, Bonneville would sign a confidentiality 
agreement. 
 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 


That the Energy Trust board amends its policy on Information 
Submitted by Program Participants, Contractors and Bidders to 
afford Bonneville access to the same information that Energy Trust 
reports to the OPUC and state entities, as shown in the attached 
revised policy.


 
 


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Rick Applegate 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


Opposed: 0   


  
Adopted on May 9, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 


Attachment 


4.17.000-P  
Policy on Information Submitted by Program Participants, Contractors and Bidders 
 


History 
Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 


Policy Committee 5/24/04 Review and 
discussion 


8/24/04 


Policy Committee 8/24/04 Reviewed for board 
action 


9/9/04 


Board 9/9/04 Action postponed 
pending further 


review and 
discussion  


9/21/04 


Board 7/6/05 Approved (R345) 7/08 
Policy Committee 4/17/07 Amended for board 


action (R438) 
5/9/07 


 
 
Purpose: Energy Trust and its contractors acquire information from utilities , program participants and others. This document establishes 
Energy Trust policy on collection, use and disclosure of information about program participants. This policy also addresses confidentiality of 
contracts and bid information. The policy does not apply to information that is in the public domain. 
 
1. Energy Trust will inform participants of this policy 


Participants in Energy Trust programs will be advised of the contents of this policy by appropriate means (e.g., on program 
application forms, the Energy Trust web site and oral communications). Energy Trust and its contractors will offer 
participants a copy of this policy. 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


5 


 
2. Energy Trust protects information covered by utility information transfer agreements 


Utilities provide Energy Trust with information about energy consumers on condition that it is treated confidentially. This 
information is covered by “information transfer agreements” negotiated with the utility. Energy Trust will not afford access 
to information protected by utility information transfer agreements to anyone who has not signed a confidentiality 
agreement consistent with the information transfer agreements. However, if Energy Trust obtains written, oral 
(documented electronically or in writing), or electronic consent from an Energy Trust program participant, information 
relating to such participant is no longer subject to utility confidentiality agreements, and instead is governed by sections 4-5 
of this policy. Energy Trust may disclose to utilities the names of Energy Trust program participants to ensure that Energy 
Trust information is accurate. 


 
3. Energy Trust and those it works with use Participant Information only for Energy Trust purposes 


A. Definition of Participant Information: “Participant Information” means information obtained from program participants 
that refers specifically to the participant by name, address, or other personally identifiable characteristics.  


B. Generally. Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors will use Participant Information only for Energy 
Trust purposes. Contractors who receive Participant Information from Energy Trust may not disclose it to any other 
party unless required by law or the other party has by contract or other written agreement agreed to protect such 
information consistent with this Energy Trust policy. Contractors will consult with their Energy Trust contract 
manager when in doubt. 


C. Collaborative analysis. Energy Trust analyzes Participant Information and aggregates it with other information to plan, 
evaluate and report on Energy Trust programs. If consistent with section 3 and if the shared data do not reveal 
Participant Information, Energy Trust may share such aggregated information with other analysts, recognizing that 
some of these analysts work for organizations with their own information disclosure policies and requirements. 


D. Using Participant Information in marketing. Before using Participant Information in case studies, brochures, press 
releases, advertisements, marketing or other publicity material, Energy Trust and/or its contractors will obtain 
participant approval. 


E. Information provided to government entities 
(1)  Energy Trust will treat residential program participant information as confidential. Energy Trust may 


report individual residential participant information if it does not identify the participant by name, 
address, telephone or other information that would allow identification of the individual. 


(2)  For non-residential programs, Energy Trust may include the following information in reports to the 
Bonneville Power Administration, the legislature, the Oregon Public Utility Commission (“OPUC”) and 
other state agencies as necessary to meet Energy Trust responsibilities: 
§ participant name 
§ city or county of business  
§ Energy Trust services or incentive payments provided to the participant, or  
§ energy saved or generated as a result of Energy Trust services or incentives. 


(3)  Before providing Participant Information other than information listed in section 3.E(2), Energy Trust will 
obtain participant approval. 


 
4. Contracts 


A. Except for contracts that concern personnel matters, contracts to which Energy Trust is a party will not be treated as 
confidential. For purposes of this policy “contract” does not mean program application materials. 


B. If a contract specifically identifies as confidential sensitive business records or financial or commercial information that 
is not customarily provided to business competitors, Energy Trust will treat such information as confidential. 
However, Energy Trust may disclose all other information in the contract. 


C. Subject to litigation or other legal disclosure and/or audit requirements, Energy Trust will not disclose information 
submitted in response to requests for proposals or other solicitations. 


 
5. Audit 


Energy Trust will afford auditors full access to participant information for purposes of audit. 
 
6. Resolving issues 


In the event the OPUC requests from Energy Trust information that a participant has reasonably designated as 
Confidential Information, Energy Trust will follow the procedure specified in section 3.c of the Grant Agreement between 
Energy Trust and the OPUC (available at 
http://www.energytrust.org/Pages/about/who_we_are/puc_funding_agreement.PDF). 


 
 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


6 


 
General Public Comments 


 
Solar Now Campaign presentation by Susan Anderson, Executive Director, City of Portland Office of Sustainable 
Development (OSD). 
 
Susan Anderson invited board members to a party at EcoTrust June 26. The purpose of the gathering is 
to identify 100 community leaders who will commit to installing solar systems on their home or 
business. Susan explained why the city is now focused on solar, mentioning global warming impacts. She 
said their focus over the next 10-20 years will be on how to mitigate such impacts. The City of Portland 
and Energy Trust have worked side by side on a number of projects. The city has a goal to reduce CO2 
emissions to 10% below 1990 levels by 2010. A lot of the emission reductions will come from the 
transportation and land use sectors. Other steps include energy efficiency (vegetables) and renewables 
(dessert). The city is contracting to have 100% of its electricity load served by 50 MW of wind. A new 
city-wide biofuel ordinance requires 5% biodiesel in all diesel and 10% ethanol in all gasoline. With so 
much going on at the national, state and city level, she said it’s time to approach this on the personal 
level. The city’s solar goal is 400 residential and business solar installations annually.  


 
In partnership with Energy Trust, the city has started a solar promotion called Solar Now. Four solar 
workshops this year have already attracted a total of 500 people. OSD is following up to help them 
work with contractors and apply for tax credits. She’s employing a "Avon" strategy, starting with leaders 
like Energy Trust board members to get them to put systems on their roofs, and then attracting their 
friends and acquaintances to do the same.  
 
Al Jubitz said he doesn’t have time to deal with contractors, get the right panels, etc. He asked if Sue had 
contemplated a website that would let you fill out information about your home and a week later we’ll 
hear from you. Sue said that’s similar to what the program is doing. John Reynolds said he sees a lot of 
equipment but no architectural approach such as passive solar design. Sue acknowledged the point and 
said it would be good to add to the material.  
 
Tom Foley asked about new solar technology. Kacia Brockman said the federal government is investing 
in research and development and that some new, higher efficiency systems may be available in five years. 
Tom asked about Portland’s solar access ordinance. Sue said it still exists for existing homes. However, 
the ordinance cannot keep neighbor’s trees from growing up to block access. Tom asked if there is any 
room for property tax relief. Kacia said the value of solar systems is exempt from property taxes under 
state law.  
 
Margie noted there still is a $15,000 out-of-pocket cost and asked how to lower this barrier. Sue said 
she wants contractors to be able to offer loans. Debbie said there are financial institutions that take 
applications from remodelers and provide financing to qualified customers. She thinks it should be easy 
to apply this model to solar contractors. Tom suggested exploring whether big investors might want to 
lease residential solar systems. Sue said they have been attracted by this model, which is how Flexcar 
works – they lease the cars, and the car suppliers take the tax credits.  
 
Kacia said the cost is affected by demand, which has been outstripping supply. She added that 
manufacturers are ramping up to correct this imbalance. The other issue is delivery. As the market 
matures, these costs may increase, as installers begin hiring staff and paying benefits.  
 
Tom asked what SB 838 would do to the solar program. Peter said we will have more money to go 
deeper into the market and create more multi-year partnerships. Under current law we’re constrained 
by the 2012 end date.  
 
 
 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


7 


 
Debbie asked about the June event. Sue said the 10 who have already agreed to go solar will be 
announced at the event, and guests will include 100 candidates who are new to solar and able to afford 
the purchase.  
 
Al asked if radiant solar heating systems can completely heat a home. Kacia noted we get the least 
amount of sun when we need the most heat. Systems can be designed to work to heat a home during 
the shoulder seasons. Debbie noted it’s expensive to retrofit a home with radiant heat. 
 
Sue said they’re going to analyze whether property values rise when solar systems are added.  
 
Rick Applegate left the meeting at 12:55 pm.  


 
 


President’s Report 
 


Tom Foley described his meetings with Puget Sound Energy and their interest in becoming a green 
utility. He has a small contract with Climate Trust and is also working for an organization looking at 
demand response, transmission and distribution changes and their effects on line losses. Next week he 
meets with Goldman Sachs, who is getting involved in carbon markets. He believes such activities could 
affect the way we do business.  
 
 
Finance Committee 
 
In the absence of John Klosterman, Debbie Kitchin made introductory comments on behalf of the 
finance committee. She noted staff has made improvements in the area of forecasting spending. She 
introduced Sue Meyer Sample to discuss the cash reserve transfer resolution.  
 
2007 cash reserve transfer, resolution #437. Sue Meyer Sample noted that in August 2006, the board 
approved a process to transfer funds from cash reserves generated by interest earnings. This approach 
included a method for calculating interest earnings on renewable energy funds placed in escrow for 
future projects. In December 2006, the Board reviewed and adopted the reserve fund guidelines which 
described the circumstances under which funds could be requested from excess interest earnings. Using 
those guidelines to fund renewable projects with interest earnings, both staff and the finance committee 
recommended using the simpler interest income transfer. The board reviewed the proposed revised 
cash reserve transfer approach to direct an additional interest income allocation of $600,000 from the 
budgeted cash reserve balance to fund additional renewable energy projects in 2007.  


 
RESOLUTION #437 


2007 CASH RESERVE TRANSFER 


BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors approves an additional interest income allocation of $600,000 
from the budgeted cash reserve balance to fund additional renewable 
energy projects in 2007, in accordance with Attachment A .:


 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Vickie Liskey 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on May 9, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


8 


 


  


Al Jubitz commented on the “dashboard.” He is concerned about shortfall of 2008 committed projects 
and suggested setting goals for commitments. Steve Lacey and Sue noted that we created the tool to 
make sure we don’t overcommit funds. Al asked if we are on track to meet 2007 and 2012 goals; Margie 
said we are. Board members continued the discussion. Debbie said the finance committee will consider 
at its next meeting whether and how to modify the dashboard to better reflect status of progress 
toward goals.  







9 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $22,295,922 $15,035,184 $9,247,863 $889,636 $278,000 $47,746,605 $6,656,993 $4,534,421 $11,191,414 $58,938,019
CRC Funding 1,100,000 800,000 1,900,000 1,900,000
Revenue from Investments 2,325,038 2,325,038


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 23,395,922 15,835,184 9,247,863 889,636 278,000 49,646,605 6,656,993 4,534,421 11,191,414 2,325,038 63,163,057


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
EXPENSES


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 24,469,345 18,420,294 9,114,769 724,280 218,449 52,947,137 6,847,537 5,179,940 12,027,477 64,974,614


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 816,748 615,831 306,747 24,457 7,481 1,771,264 229,074 173,287 402,361 2,173,625
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 311,142 210,592 122,987 11,831 3,697 660,249 88,531 60,303 148,834 809,084


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


As Approved
  Total Administrative Costs 1,127,890 826,423 429,734 36,288 11,178 2,431,513 317,605 233,590 551,195 2,982,708


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 25,597,235 19,246,717 9,544,503 760,568 229,627 55,378,650 7,165,142 5,413,530 12,578,672 67,957,323


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (2,201,313) (3,411,533) (296,640) 129,068 48,373 (5,732,045) (508,149) (879,109) (1,387,258) 2,325,038 (4,794,266)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
Net Assets from prior years 11,387,299 (8,447,380) 6,870,552 93,290 117,837 10,021,598 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,734
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 (4,000,000) 0


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 10,925,986 (10,698,913) 6,573,912 222,358 166,210 7,189,553 25,009,477 9,409,893 34,419,370 2,673,546 44,282,468


As Proposed & Reflecting Additional Revenue


  Total Administrative Costs 1,127,890 826,423 429,734 36,288 11,178 2,431,513 317,605 233,590 551,195 2,982,708
------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 25,597,235 19,246,717 9,544,503 760,568 229,627 55,378,650 7,165,142 5,413,530 12,578,672 0 67,957,323
------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (1,567,416) (3,028,071) 39,855 147,598 48,373 (4,359,662) (369,586) (761,345) (1,130,930) 2,433,906 (3,056,688)
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


Net Assets from prior years 11,387,299 (8,447,380) 6,870,552 93,290 117,837 10,021,598 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,734
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 600,000 1,100,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000) 0


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 11,559,883 (10,315,451) 6,910,407 240,888 166,210 8,561,936 25,748,040 9,527,657 35,275,698 2,182,414 46,020,046


(Unaudited)


The Energy Trust of Oregon
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


Budget 2007-B-05.1 March rebudget, with seasonality change- Approved
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 
 


10 


Audit Committee 
 
Julie Hammond said the audit committee is in the process of selecting a financial auditor for 2007. Earlier 
today, they interviewed three candidates. Pending the outcome of reference checks, they have decided 
to stay with Perkins & Co. for the next two years. The committee will coordinate with Sue Meyer 
Sample to determine compensation and other final contract terms.  
 
 


Policy Committee 
 
Margie mentioned the notes should reflect Tom Foley’s attendance at the policy committee meeting 
April 17.  
 
John Volkman reported the policy committee discussed OPUC’s interest in seeing Energy Trust work 
with utilities to use the same assumptions for discount rates and resource availability. While both OPUC 
and Energy Trust staff will continue collaborating, a couple of policy issues have come up that are in 
discussion with commissioners. 
 
John said the committee reviewed the public interest policy and recommends no changes. 
 
Tom reviewed the draft agenda for the board strategic planning retreat June 8-9. Julie Hammond said 
she hopes adequate time will be provided for discussion of items at the end of the agenda, and possibly 
that too much time is allotted to discussion of legislative issues. Bill Nesmith suspects we’ll know more 
by early June. The legislature wants to adjourn early. Alan Meyer noted if the renewable energy standard 
passes in anything close to its current form, he will want to revisit some Energy Trust policies.   
 
Julie also noted comments reported in the CAC and RAC notes during discussion of evaluations that 
suggest Energy Trust is not as effective and efficient as we could be. She thinks these items should be 
discussed by the board, although not necessarily at the strategic planning worksession. Debbie suggested 
waiting for the program evaluation committee item.  
 
John said the staff strategic planning committee met yesterday. They recommend adding discussion of 
the program delivery model to the worksession agenda. He also noted the renewables team discussion 
is broader than pending legislative bills. Julie noted press in Bend stating a $35 million investment in 
geothermal energy is pending, and wondered if Energy Trust should focus on this technology, and – 
picking up on a comment by John Reynolds – on wave energy.  
 
Margie noted that P.S. Reilly, from the Athena Institute, spoke at a conference she recently attended and 
described the changing environment resulting from more and more people engaged in sustainable 
practices and concerned with global warming. Margie will be talking to P.S. on Friday about her 
availability to deliver a similar talk to the board during the workshop.  
 
 


Program Evaluation Committee 
 
Debbie Kitchin said the evaluation committee met last month with Margie Gardner from the Northwest 
Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) to discuss market transformation outcomes and accomplishments. At 
this point we’re getting great bang for our buck in the residential sector, the product of 10 years of 
investment in this sector. Comparatively, we’re only at the start of investments in the commercial and 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


11 


industrial sectors and will need to wait a while to see results. The committee also reviewed results of 
the 2004 new building efficiency impact evaluation, the results of which will be combined with those 
from the 2005 evaluation to have a more representative sample. The irrigation process evaluation and 
the solar impact evaluation, and staff response to both, were included in the packet. Debbie welcomed 
questions from the board.  
 
Board members discussed with Phil Degens, evaluation manager, the finding that billing analysis 
suggested less reduction in total energy consumption from photovoltaic systems than expected, even 
though the systems were delivering very close to the expected amount of generation. Staff intends to 
survey the same participants after three years to further examine the energy reduction shortfall.  
 
Board members briefly discussed the program delivery model.  
 
Regarding the NEEA evaluation, Alan Meyer noted Margie Gardner said, “NEEA is not driven by 
megawatt hour savings by sector.” They put their money where they expect the greatest savings. He 
wonders if we should allocate their savings/spending among our programs differently. Fred agreed that 
NEEA does not allocate funds primarily by funding from each sector to determine program funding to 
each sector, although it is a secondary consideration. NEEA initially focused on residential, where they 
saw low-hanging fruit. After a few years they shifted more of their resources into commercial and 
industrial. Fred noted at least half of the Alliance activities are joined at the hip and interdependent with 
Energy Trust initiatives – such as new homes – so it is difficult to look at the savings and costs from the 
NEEA efforts in isolation. Alan thinks adding NEEA spending and savings to our program results distorts 
the picture and makes it difficult to evaluate the performance of our programs. Fred added that care is 
taken to avoid double counting of savings results.  
 
Pilot Irrigation Initiative Program Process Evaluation. Tom Foley noted this evaluation finds fault with Energy 
Trust for being inflexible and rigid. Phil pointed out Energy Trust’s response to the comments in the 
evaluation. He noted the irrigation program was designed to operate with many of the features of a full-
blown program, but we characterized it as a pilot; perhaps pilot projects should have a simpler design. 
Tom asked if the full report substantiated assertions regarding inflexibility and inability to collaborate. 
Alan Meyer said this program is not a good example from which to generalize. He said the evaluation 
committee discussed how to structure staff responses to be broader and more forward-looking. Tom 
said two key issues that made this program less effective than it otherwise would have been were 1) 
that participation in the federal Equip program was easier and 2) the fact that the big rate increase facing 
irrigators ended up being phased in.  
 
Margie noted that such results are useful in that our standard for evaluation is very high, higher than 
those our peer organizations embrace. This ripples through our programs, requiring collection of 
verifiable data. She thinks as we move into a carbon-constrained economy, the need for rigor in 
counting our savings will become even greater.  
 
 
Legislative Update 
 
Tom asked Bill Nesmith to provide an update. Bill said the tax credit bills are moving forward. There will 
be a public hearing tomorrow and that he expects the bills to move forward next week, after the final 
revenue forecast is available. The BETC bill includes significant benefits for developing renewable 
resources and high performance new home construction. It would give credits to developers, while 
RETC rewards homeowners. He said the renewable energy standard bill is not a slam dunk because of 
its complexities.  







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


12 


 
Jason Eisdorfer joined the meeting at 2:20 pm.  
 
Jason said the renewable energy standard bill would be sent back to committee for a couple of quick 
amendments and is expected back on the house floor in a couple of days. 
Bill said another bill requires 1.5% of budgets for new public buildings to be for solar. A bill backed by 
the American Institute of Architects promoting sustainable design is in process. The forest products 
industry was concerned about LEED, which uses a sustainable wood certification that does less than an 
alternate certification to promote use of Oregon wood products. The provision was watered down and 
now the Oregon Department of Energy will determine which certification to use.  
 


Break  
 
The board took a 10-minute break at 2:25 pm. 
 


Energy Efficiency Program 
 
Bill Nesmith was out of the room. 
 
Steve Lacey and Fred Gordon presented a plan to accelerate natural gas savings acquisition. Fred said 
that two of the three largest gas uses are high efficiency water heaters and commercial rooftop units. He 
stated that he does not expect attractive, modest-cost efficiency options to be available on the market 
until at least 2008. Tom asked if he should pursue solar water heating backed by a tankless water heater. 
Fred said we currently have a tankless water heater pilot, and have a lot to learn about how much 
energy tankless water heaters actually save in homes. A monitoring program is planned. He noted the 
presentation in the packet covers all the ways we currently are or will be exploring to acquire more gas 
savings. Fred and Tom discussed using methane gas from biological sources to replace natural gas.   
 
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
John Reynolds introduced a proposal to pay up to $4.5 million of the above-market costs of a 94-
megawatt Goodnoe Hills East project. Peter West joined Mark Tallman of Pacificorp and both 
represented the proposal. Peter noted that in August 2006, Energy Trust approved $2.25 million each 
for the above-market costs of two 56-megawatt Pacificorp wind projects, called Goodnoe Hills East and 
Goodnoe Hills West. Pacificorp recently learned it would be unable to proceed with the West project 
and instead wants to increase the output of the East project from 56 MW to 94 MW. They say the 
project is still anticipated to come on line in 2007. Pacificorp has asked Energy Trust to retain the $4.5 
million in combined above market cost payment for this new project. 
 
Peter said the output expected from the revised East project is 20% lower than that expected from the 
combined output of the original proposal. Installed costs are comparable to those at PGE’s Biglow 
Canyon project. Despite the smaller size, the above-market costs of the revised single project are less 
than Energy Trust paid for the 41 MW Combine Hills project in 2003 on an energy or capacity basis.  
 
The new request translates into $147,686/aMW. Funding from Energy Trust for other biomass and 
community wind projects has ranged from $232,000 to $1.7 million per aMW. Staff concluded the costs 
for the revised project justify the request.  
 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


13 


Alan Meyer asked how green tag ownership would be handled. Peter said we would own 30-56% of the 
tags, in proportion to our share of above market costs and depending on funding other states 
contribute. Mark Tallman said for the first five years, the tags would be traded using the same 
methodology planned for the initial two-phase project. After that, a new allocation would be considered 
allowing other states to take more of the tags. If other states do participate, PacifiCorp would refund to 
the Energy Trust a proportional share of the incentive costs.  
 
Tom asked if we are paying more of the avoided costs than previously anticipated. Peter said he thinks 
we’re paying about the same amount. Mark said the methodology applied for the initial project was not 
changed. Jason asked if other states are aware of this proposal; Mark said he is not certain. Jason 
explained that Pacificorp is engaging in a multi-state discussion about how it deals with renewable energy 
certificates (green tags) and renewable portfolio standards. He thinks the agreement that Pacificorp and 
Energy Trust came up with is good for the time being.  
 
Before the vote, Tom Foley asked Peter to make sure the project complies with our green tag policy. Al 
Jubitz voiced concern about the increased project price. John Reynolds noted Energy Trust is paying 
about a third less per aMW for this project than we paid for Combine Hills. Julie Hammond asked if the 
project came in as it is now, and we did not have a previous commitment, would we fund it? Peter said 
he evaluated this project on its merits and concluded it deserves Energy Trust support.  
 
Jason thinks participation by Energy Trust assures a higher percentage of green tags coming to Oregon 
than would otherwise be the case.  
 
Peter said the new project leaves unchanged the percentage of above market costs. Peter said he would 
do a calculation to re-confirm.  
 
Al proposed to table action until green tag information was provided. There was no second.  
 
Goodnoe Hills contract amendment, resolution #439. 


RESOLUTION #439 


GOODNOE HILLS WIND PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust’s renewable energy goal calls for Energy Trust to 
achieve 150 aMW by 2012; the Oregon Public Utility Commission 
(OPUC) performance measures call for 9 average megawatts (aMW) 
per year as a three-year rolling average. 


2. To help achieve these goals and objective, in 2005, Energy Trust and 
PacifiCorp entered into a Master Funding Agreement designating 
funds for utility-scale projects yet to be determined. Under the 
agreement, specific projects would be funded through individual 
funding agreements. 


3. In August, 2006, Energy Trust approved $2.25 million each for the 
above-market costs of two 56-megawatt PacifiCorp wind projects, 
called Goodnoe Hills East and Goodnoe Hills West. 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


14 


4. Pacific recently learned that it would be unable to proceed with the 
Goodnoe West project and instead proposes to increase the output of 
the East site from 56 MW to 94 MW, to come on line in 2007. 


5. Staff has analyzed the project and determined that the above-market 
costs of the proposed project would justify an Energy Trust subsidy of 
up to $4.5 million. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc.: 


Authorize the Executive Director to amend the Project Funding Agreement 
for the Goodnoe Hills East wind project (authorized in resolution 401, 
August 23, 2007) to pay up to $4.5 million of the above-market costs of a 94-
megawatt Goodnoe Hills East project. 


 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Vickie Liskey 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 1 Al Jubitz voted no because he thinks we are paying 
more for the power than we have to. 


 


 Adopted on May 9, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Staff Report 
 
Communications and marketing feature presentation. Margie noted we are starting a new feature today, to 
occasionally spotlight different aspects of Energy Trust programs and activities when we have time on 
meeting agendas. The idea came to her when she attended a strategic planning staff retreat in March at 
which program managers presented information on their activities and strategies. Margie introduced Jan 
Schaeffer to make this first feature presentation about the marketing and communications team.  
 
Jan introduced her team: Spencer Plumb, Brooke Nelson, Denise Olsen, Tom Beverly and Michel 
Gregory. Michel showed clips of four recent television news stories involving Energy Trust. Jan reviewed 
the start-up work of the marketing communication team, including a branding identity study in 2002 and 
the first branding guidelines manual in 2003. The guidelines are updated each year and add coherence 
and consistency to a myriad of materials depicting the Energy Trust brand to Oregonians.  
 
Bill Nesmith returned to the meeting during showing of the media clips. 
 
In 2003, the website was established and call center opened. The website is the #1 entry point for 
people contacting us; it gets a half million discrete visits each year. Jan noted almost all our marketing is 
program-driven and is oriented toward getting people to participate in our programs. The guidelines 
help Energy Trust’s staff and contractors communicate Energy Trust’s look and feel using “one voice.” 
She noted the challenge inherent in such a decentralized creative process. In spite of making every effort 
to meet our requests, the materials submitted for review do not always succeed. Our team rewrites 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


15 


redesigns is inherently inefficient. She hopes the program delivery model study will result in new ways to 
make the review process more efficient. 
 
Looking ahead, she said we are thrilled to be riding the “Green Wave” of unprecedented awareness and 
interest in topics like global warming and sustainability. For the past 6-8 months, we’ve added global 
warming and energy independence references to our messaging. We encourage people to think about 
their own carbon footprint and help them understand that when they take action to incorporate energy 
efficiency and renewable energy into their home lives and business worlds, they are reducing their own 
carbon footprint and doing their part to cool global warming.  
 
At this juncture, staff is considering prospects for Energy Trust to focus more intently than ever on our 
goal #5 – to encourage Oregonians to integrate energy efficiency and renewable energy into their daily 
lives. It’s “call to action” time, as Margie says. People are eager to learn what they can do. Doors are 
opening for us to work with different partners and new media to reach ever-wider circles of consumers 
newly awakening to the concerns that brought all of us together to Energy Trust. It is a very exciting 
time to be here in this place with this purpose.  
 
Caddy McKeown said she appreciates being able to match faces to names on email. Other board 
members expressed appreciation for the quality of work created by the communications and marketing 
team.   
 
IT operations work plan accomplishments. Margie introduced Linda Rudawitz, IT manager, to present 
accomplishments of the operations work plan effort that began slightly less than a year ago. Linda noted 
she began by instituting an “IT Redoux” meeting last July that identified four critical focus areas – ease of 
use for FastTrack and Goldmine, data integrity, reporting consistency and reliability, and long-term 
direction and evolution of systems. She said significant progress has been made in each of these areas.  
 
To improve ease of use, a single login now provides access to files, reporting and FastTrack. FastTrack 
response times are greatly improved. Major FastTrack data entry screens have been enhanced based on 
user suggestions. Goldmine data entry screens have also been simplified. Automatic transfer of site 
details from Goldmine to FastTrack has minimized duplicate data entry.  
 
To improve data integrity, critically required items were identified, Goldmine contacts color coded, 
error reporting capability added, site attribute list standardized, measure attributes requiring data entry, 
improved consistency between FastTrack and Great Plains, and added program data for sector and 
goals.  
 
Within reporting, FastTrack data entry and validation for project reports was simplified, redundant Excel 
system tracking eliminated in the New Homes program, new PMC reporting capabilities added, support 
materials for quarterly reports “automated”, improved the feedback loop for PMC report review and 
input, and developed an efficiency programs progress report.  
 
Benefits resulting from these changes include improved communications, reduced data entry time, fewer 
errors, eliminated duplicate Excel systems, and more accurate and useable reports. She acknowledged 
contributors to the improvements.  
 
Linda noted the Enterprise Architecture Study now underway by Moss Adams is assessing IT 
requirements and system design options, including staffing and structural considerations, and will 
recommend improvements. A preliminary report is due in June, and findings will be reviewed in July. A 
response and implementation plan will be prepared in August for implementation this fall. 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


16 


 
Debbie Kitchin said she thinks the work the team has done is remarkable. Jason Eisdorfer commends 
Margie for giving staff a chance to present to the board what they are doing. He thinks staff should be 
extraordinarily proud of what they have done, and giving them the opportunity to come to the board 
and tell us about it is a good thing. Tom Foley asked if system improvements will be sufficient or are we 
facing the need for new systems; if so, will we have lead time to transition? Linda noted some possible 
new directions for Goldmine and Great Plains; FastTrack is the system most difficult to replace. In any 
case, there will be time to transition, she said. Al Jubitz commented that Linda and her team have done a 
remarkable job in the past few months.  
 
Margie provided the top 10 highlights from her staff report. She noted a contract with Cascade Natural 
Gas to study whether Energy Trust is in a strong position to deliver services to their Washington 
customers. No commitment has been made and at the end of the process, both parties will have a 
product that will allow them to evaluate this opportunity. The process includes conversations with the 
Washington State Transportation and Utility Commission and the OPUC. Al asked which way the wind 
is blowing at OPUC. Margie thinks it depends on what the study shows about impacts on our 
organization. She said she would not recommend going forward with anything that would our ability to 
fulfill our commitments to Oregonians.  
 
Margie noted that 8 of the 10 BEST Award winners had taken advantage of Energy Trust incentives.  
 
Next week on Tuesday, Margie will present the 2006 annual report and 2007 Q1 report to the OPUC.  
 
She noted Energy Trust has received the Blue Works award from the City of Portland Office of 
Sustainable Development for exemplary workplace recycling and other sustainability practices. Vickie 
said she thinks the new plastic-free board packet is easier to use. Margie said it was easier and quicker 
to create, less expensive and better for the environment.  
 
She noted efforts to integrate solar outreach into our home and business energy solutions. Al asked if 
there has been any progress on unifying our forms with BETC forms. Margie said we’ve gone about as 
far as we can to make them similar, because the forms require different information. Tom Foley 
challenged Linda to figure out a way to combine them. Linda explained how we might be proceeding 
toward this end. Bill Nesmith said ODOE is beta-testing having their residential be available online. It’s a 
work in progress. There’s no barrier to doing this, and over time we’ll probably figure out how to do it.  
 
Margie noted we are reaching out to smaller gas industrial customers, who pay the gas public purpose 
charge.  
 
She then briefly described the “flip” model of third-party financing for solar used for the Portland 
Habilitation Center project as a way to increase the number of non-profit and public projects over the 
next year.  
 
She noted Peter has joined the governor’s solar energy working group.  
 
Steve Lacey said two or three energy efficiency programs will be re-bid through the issuance of 
competitive RFPs this summer. They include the Home Energy Solutions program in the residential 
sector and within the commercial sector, the Existing Buildings program. The Production Efficiency 
program for industrial customers may be a third. 







Discussion Minutes  May 9, 2007 


17 


Al asked if we know how long web visitors stay on the site, and asked if we had surveyed web visitors 
for their impressions of the site’s usability. Jan said we are planning to engage a web design specialist to 
analyze the usability of our site and provide recommendations.  
 
 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 4:30 pm 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be a strategic 
planning worksession held Friday-Saturday, June 8-9, 2007, 9:00 am at Reed College, Vollum Lounge, 
Portland, Oregon. The workshop is open to the public. 
 








 
 
 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 75th Meeting 
June 20, 2007 
 
Board members present:  Attending in person: Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, Alan Meyer and John 
Reynolds. Attending via teleconference: Rick Applegate, Julie Hammond, Al Jubitz, John Klosterman, 
Vickie Liskey and Preston Michie. 
 
Board members absent:  Debbie Kitchin, Caddy McKeown, Bill Nesmith and John Savage 
 
Staff attending:  Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass and John Volkman 
 
Others attending:  Lori Koho, OPUC 
 
 
Business Meeting 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 1:01 pm.  
 
Agenda 
There were no changes to the agenda. 
 
Consideration of Resolution #441 approving two staff positions 
 
Tom Foley commented that the budget impact seemed low and wondered what period of time was 
being considered. 
 
Jason Eisdorfer commented the timing of these new positions is important due to the impending impact 
from SB 838. 
 
Vickie Liskey asked if Energy Trust had anyone in mind for these positions. Margie Harris replied that 
because we have had a competent person, Dean Penner, filling in for Thuong Ho during her maternity 
leave, she expected the transition in accounting to be very smooth. Fred Gordon said the 
Planner/Analyst position would be posted. 
 
There was no further discussion. 







Discussion Minutes  July 20, 2007 


2 


 
 


RESOLUTION #441 


APPROVING TWO STAFF POSITIONS 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust has experienced significantly increased volume of 
finance/accounting transactions over the past year. For the remainder of 2007, 
accounting/finance staff will be heavily engaged in operational improvements, 
budget development, and preparing for major system upgrades and 
replacements in 2008. In 2008, Energy Trust expects additional business lines 
and continued growth in transaction volume.  


2. The recent passage of the Oregon Renewable Energy Act will significantly 
increase demand for technical analysis, coordination and reporting on energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures and programs, impacting the need for 
additional planning and analysis staff. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the Executive 
Director to add and hire two new staff positions: a senior accountant and a 
planner/analyst.


  
 


 
 
 
 
 


Adopted on June 20, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 1:05 pm 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be Wednesday, 
August 8, 12:00 noon at Energy Trust offices, Portland, Oregon. 


Moved by: Preston Michie Seconded by: Rick Applegate 


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 








 
 
Finance Report 
May 7, 2007 
 
 
The Finance Committee met at 3:30 pm on May 7, 2007, with John Klosterman, Debbie Kitchin, Alan 
Meyer, Margie Harris, Sue Sample and Pati Presnail in attendance. Tom Foley was unable to attend. The 
committee welcomed Alan to his first finance committee meeting. 
 
Review March 2007 Year-to-Date Financial Statements 
 
Sue presented the financial statements for March 2007, which reflect revenue above budget by $1.6 
million in public purpose funding and by $109,000 in interest income. The committee asked Sue to seek 
explanations for the revenue variances from each utility. Sue said she would contact the utilities and 
report back. 
 
Other highlights: 


• Expenses year to date are below budget by $1.9 million. More than half of the variance comes 
from underspending in professional services, not atypical for the organization early in the year. 
Areas of noted shortfalls in professional services spending  are: 


o Evaluation services 
o Renewables inspection and project analyses 
o Delayed receipt of auditor’s invoices 
o Delayed timing of IT contractors and enterprise architecture study 


• Variance in program subcontractor payments of $438,000 results from receiving lower 
subcontractor invoices than had been projected for the quarter. We received estimates but no 
invoices from Lockheed Martin, whose local office is converting its financial system to the 
corporate system, creating significant delays in issuing invoices since the beginning of the year.  


• Current program delivery efficiency performance measure (administration plus program support 
costs) is 4.7%; last year at this time it was 4.9%. 


 
Amending 2007 Budget with Additional Cash Reserve Transfer 
 
Background information on this recommendation was presented to the committee. The need for 
additional funding in the renewables program has come to light since the budget was approved in March. 
With the additional revenue received and the additional interest income earned to date, another 
transfer can be made this year to the renewables program out of available cash reserves without 
jeopardizing the cash position of the organization. This method is administratively less complex than the 
approved method of generating funds for renewables program via escrow interest earnings. Staff 
suggested that the committee recommend adoption of the resolution at the board meeting on 
Wednesday.  
  
While the committee agreed in principle with the transfer, members discussed several concerns, 
including: 


• Lack of clarity about budget status caused by periodic piecemeal budget amendments 
• Where to strike the balance between achieving flexibility to use interest income based on 


the approved criteria versus using interest income based on contribution to the earnings. 
The committee asked Sue to resurrect her “back of the envelope” analysis, which shows 







Finance Report  May 7, 2007 


 2 


that renewables contributed 67% of the balance through delayed spending while requesting 
only 53% of the distributed proceeds  


• Whether to attribute some of the interest earnings to delays in spending of gas funds 
 
Staff continues to recommend maintaining flexibility by not specifically allocating interest earnings based 
on source but agreed to have Sue’s calculations available for board discussion if needed. 
 
Line of Credit 
 
The line of credit is due to be renewed. Sue sent all the information to Randy Sell at the Bank of 
Cascades and is awaiting documents for signature. [The documents were signed and returned to the 
bank on May 10.] 
 
Meetings 
 
John asked about the schedule for upcoming meetings. The revised schedule is as follows: 
 


July 16     3:30 pm 
September 10    3:30 pm 
October 8     3:30 pm 
November 5    3:30 pm 
December 3     3:30 pm 


 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:20 pm. 
 








commitments made in year for future years  ($millions)
2007 2008


BioPower 0.2                 0.7                 
Open Solicitation 0.2                 0.5                 
Solar PV 1.4                 -                
Utility scale 6.1$               1.5$               
Wind 0.05               0.0                 
PROJECTS 7.9$               2.7$               


Master agreement -$              


TOTAL 7.9$               2.7$               


Renewable Energy Programs


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
Quarterly Dashboard-Second Quarter 2007 (UNAUDITED)


March 2002-June 2007 Progress Toward 2012 Goals


131.4


5.0
16.9


Series2,  168.6 


Series2,  14.0 
Series2,  133.1 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


300 
aMW


19 
Million 
Thms


150 
aMW


Second Quarter YTD 2007 Progress Toward 
Conservative 2007 Annual Goals


7.8 0.6


Series2,  1.2 


Series2,  114.8 


0.1
0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


24.6 
aMW


1.81 
Million 
Therms


114.9 
aMW


Public Purpose Revenue and expenses - total company
June 2007 YTD Budget Comparison


(in Millions)32.5


22.1


34.8


18.2


$0


$5


$10


$15


$20


$25


$30


$35


$40


Revenue Expense


Budget Actual


Cash Balance Forecast
Jul 2006-Dec 2008 


based on
most recent incentive forecast


$0.0
$10.0
$20.0
$30.0
$40.0
$50.0
$60.0
$70.0
$80.0


Jul
06


Oct
06


Jan
07


Apr
07


Jul
07


Oct
07


Jan
08


Apr
08


Jul
08


Oct
08


Energy Efficiency Programs 
Incentives 2007


Commitments-to-date as % of annual budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted budget


Energy Efficiency Programs
Incentives 2008


Commitments-to-date as % of annual projection
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted projection


Electric spending - efficiency and renewable 
programs


June 2007 YTD (in Millions)15.3


3.1


12.2


1.8


$0
$2
$4
$6
$8


$10
$12
$14
$16
$18


Efficiency Renewables


Budget Actual


Gas spending - efficiency programs
June 2007 YTD (in Millions)


3.6


4.2


$3


$3


$4


$4


$4


$4


$4


Efficiency


Budget Actual








2007 Forecast - Incentive Variances Snap Shot


Monday, July 30, 2007 2:50 PM


Forecast Incentives TOTAL PGE PAC electric NWN CNG AVI gas


Expense
Existing Homes 7,315,990            2,621,719             2,355,427             4,977,146               2,241,713             97,130               -                     2,338,844             
New Homes and Products 4,273,128            1,952,797             1,246,611             3,199,408               861,969               141,989             69,762                1,073,720             
Existing Buildings 3,990,493            1,684,428             1,259,815             2,944,243               954,351               91,899               -                     1,046,250             
New Buildings 2,537,856            1,493,067             639,570                2,132,637               395,877               9,342                 -                     405,219                
Production Efficiency 8,062,172            4,158,654             3,903,518             8,062,172               -                      -                    -                     -                       


EE total 26,179,639       11,910,664         9,404,942           21,315,606          4,453,911          340,360           69,762               4,864,033           


solar 1,873,795            991,272                882,523                1,873,795               -                      -                    -                     -                       
biopower 287,707              137,501                150,206                287,707                 -                      -                    -                     -                       
wind 690,000              327,000                363,000                690,000                 -                      -                    -                     -                       
utility scale 6,127,138            6,000,000             127,138                6,127,138               -                      -                    -                     -                       
open solic 1,784,944            1,518,944             266,000                1,784,944               -                      -                    -                     -                       


RE total 10,763,584       8,974,717           1,788,867           10,763,584          -                     -                   -                    -                      


Total Incentives - forecast 36,943,223       20,885,381         11,193,809         32,079,190          4,453,911          340,360           69,762               4,864,033           


Original Budget TOTAL PGE PAC electric NWN CNG AVI gas


Expense
Existing Homes 7,255,240            2,642,993             2,294,674             4,937,667               2,210,198             107,375             -                     2,317,573             
New Homes and Products 4,069,805            1,560,168             1,091,029             2,651,197               1,174,003             152,661             91,944                1,418,608             
Existing Buildings 4,901,361            2,845,685             963,883                3,809,568               1,033,468             58,325               -                     1,091,793             
New Buildings 2,898,243            1,440,819             1,112,414             2,553,233               311,746               33,264               -                     345,010                
Production Efficiency 9,879,400            5,143,142             4,736,258             9,879,400               -                      -                    -                     -                       


EE total 29,004,049       13,632,808         10,198,257         23,831,065          4,729,416          351,625           91,944               5,172,985           


solar 2,168,185            1,270,737             897,448                2,168,185               -                      -                    -                     -                       
biopower 879,453              749,500                129,953                879,453                 -                      -                    -                     -                       
wind 700,800              379,744                321,056                700,800                 -                      -                    -                     -                       
utility scale 3,963,250            1,263,250             2,700,000             3,963,250               -                      -                    -                     -                       
open solic 1,646,353            1,311,353             335,000                1,646,353               -                      -                    -                     -                       


RE total 9,358,041         4,974,584           4,383,457           9,358,041            -                     -                   -                    -                      


Total Incentives - budgeted 38,362,090       18,607,392         14,581,714         33,189,106          4,729,416          351,625           91,944               5,172,985           


Change in Incentives - 
Increase/(Decrease) TOTAL PGE PAC electric NWN CNG AVI gas


Expense
Existing Homes 60,750                (21,274)                60,754                  39,479                   31,515                 (10,245)              -                     21,270                  
New Homes and Products 203,323              392,629                155,582                548,211                 (312,034)              (10,672)              (22,182)               (344,888)               
Existing Buildings (910,868)             (1,161,257)            295,932                (865,325)                (79,117)                33,574               -                     (45,543)                
New Buildings (360,387)             52,248                  (472,844)               (420,596)                84,131                 (23,922)              -                     60,209                  
Production Efficiency (1,817,228)           (984,489)               (832,739)               (1,817,228)              -                      -                    -                     -                       


EE total (2,824,410)        (1,722,144)         (793,315)            (2,515,459)           (275,505)            (11,265)            (22,182)             (308,951)            


solar (294,390)             (279,465)               (14,925)                (294,390)                -                      -                    -                     -                       
biopower (591,746)             (611,999)               20,253                  (591,746)                -                      -                    -                     -                       
wind (10,800)               (52,744)                41,944                  (10,800)                  -                      -                    -                     -                       
utility scale 2,163,888            4,736,750             (2,572,862)            2,163,888               -                      -                    -                     -                       
open solic 138,591              207,591                (69,000)                138,591                 -                      -                    -                     -                       


RE total 1,405,543         4,000,133           (2,594,590)         1,405,543            -                     -                   -                    -                      


Change in incentives (1,418,867)        2,277,989           (3,387,905)         (1,109,916)           (275,505)            (11,265)            (22,182)             (308,951)            


BY QUARTER
Total Electric Gas


Efficiency Forecast Forecast Budget Chg Inc/(Decr) Forecast Budget Chg Inc/(Decr)
Q1 2,108,327            1,521,296             1,644,499             (123,203)                587,031               372,519             214,513               
Q2 3,974,671            2,859,521             3,380,852             (521,331)                1,115,150             756,242             358,909               
Q3 8,180,025            6,965,341             6,400,710             564,631                 1,214,684             1,173,084           41,599                
Q4 11,916,616          9,969,448             12,405,004           (2,435,556)              1,947,168             2,871,140           (923,972)             
total EE 26,179,639       21,315,606         23,831,065         (2,515,459)           4,864,033          5,172,985        (308,951)           


Renewables
Q1 572,909              572,909                784,000                (211,090)                
Q2 383,715              383,715                832,286                (448,571)                
Q3 873,119              873,119                905,878                (32,759)                  
Q4 8,933,842            8,933,842             6,835,878             2,097,964               
total RE 10,763,584       10,763,584         9,358,041           1,405,543            -                     -                   -                    


GRAND TOTAL 36,943,223       32,079,190         33,189,106         (1,109,916)           4,864,033          5,172,985        (308,951)           








The Energy Trust of Oregon
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


Forecast Q3 - Produced July 2007
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007


(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL 2007 Budget
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs B-05.1 Change


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $23,666,626 $15,582,875 $9,663,759 $900,572 $160,163 $49,973,995 $6,978,634 $4,701,221 $11,679,856 $61,653,851 $58,938,019 $2,715,832
CRC Funding 550,000 550,000 550,000 1,900,000 (1,350,000)
Revenue from Investments 2,831,428 2,831,428 2,325,038 506,390


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 24,216,626 15,582,875 9,663,759 900,572 160,163 50,523,995 6,978,634 4,701,221 11,679,856 2,831,428 65,035,278 63,163,057 1,872,222


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,336,038 967,406 649,713 54,483 20,092 3,027,731 481,357 235,257 716,614 3,744,345 3,744,345
  Program Delivery 6,273,423 4,916,726 1,856,525 167,957 68,257 13,282,888 180,671 87,494 268,165 13,551,051 13,551,051
  Incentives 11,910,665 9,404,941 4,453,910 340,360 69,762 26,179,638 8,974,717 1,788,867 10,763,584 36,943,223 38,362,090 (1,418,867)
  Program Evaluation and Planning Services 1,118,418 847,586 557,569 41,527 7,272 2,572,372 145,954 72,643 218,597 2,790,970 2,790,970
  Program Marketing/Outreach 913,419 597,226 702,122 60,676 15,935 2,289,379 204,295 42,335 246,630 2,536,009 2,536,009
  Program Legal Services 11,774 8,538 4,796 392 100 25,600 82,941 26,779 109,720 135,320 135,320
  Program Quality Assurance 102,547 80,369 49,546 4,212 1,327 238,000 15,421 3,179 18,600 256,600 256,600
  Outsourced  Services 227,894 153,716 86,189 5,171 39 473,010 505,434 155,986 661,420 1,134,430 1,134,430
  Trade Allies & Customer Service Management 174,775 143,539 134,869 8,924 1,678 463,785 23,575 18,807 42,382 506,168 506,168
  IT Services 477,659 402,532 252,402 21,470 6,957 1,161,021 126,317 63,102 189,419 1,350,440 1,350,440
  Other Program Expenses 169,071 132,236 100,156 6,653 1,188 409,303 137,372 60,517 197,889 607,191 607,191


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 22,715,683 17,654,814 8,847,797 711,826 192,607 50,122,727 10,878,053 2,554,967 13,433,020 63,555,747 64,974,614 (1,418,867)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 776,883 603,800 302,597 24,345 6,587 1,714,212 372,033 87,381 459,414 2,173,626 2,173,625
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 314,985 202,686 125,696 11,714 2,083 657,164 90,771 61,149 151,920 809,084 809,084


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 1,091,868 806,486 428,293 36,059 8,670 2,371,376 462,804 148,530 611,334 0 2,982,708 2,982,708


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM & ADMIN EXPENSES 23,807,551 18,461,300 9,276,090 747,885 201,277 52,494,103 11,340,857 2,703,497 14,044,354 0 66,538,455 67,957,323 (1,418,867)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- --------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 409,075 (2,878,425) 387,669 152,687 (41,114) (1,970,108) (4,362,223) 1,997,724 (2,364,498) 2,831,428 (1,503,177) (4,794,266) 3,291,089


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== =========== ==========
Net Assets from prior years 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735 49,076,735 0
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000) 4,600,000 4,000,000 600,000


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== =========== ==========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 13,534,622 (10,164,055) 7,258,220 245,979 76,725 10,951,491 21,155,403 12,886,726 34,042,130 2,579,936 52,173,558 48,282,469 3,891,089


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2005 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.





		SUMMARY






The Energy Trust of Oregon
Program Expenses by Service Territory
For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
PROGRAM TOTALS INCLUDE FULLY ALLOCATED MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL EXPENSE


Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal budget
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total B-05.1 Change


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 4,893,181 4,438,776 9,331,957 4,293,286 213,710 4,506,996 13,838,953 13,757,549 81,404
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 4,334,753 2,868,271 7,203,024 2,613,302 359,198 201,277 3,173,777 10,376,801 10,152,335 224,466
Market Transformation (NEEA) 633,381 476,726 1,110,107 0 1,110,107 1,108,543 1,564


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------
  Total Residential 9,861,315 7,783,773 17,645,088 6,906,588 572,908 201,277 7,680,773 25,325,861 25,018,427 307,434


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 3,283,831 1,978,908 5,262,739 1,636,203 142,450 1,778,653 7,041,392 7,984,847 (943,455)
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,889,960 1,539,539 4,429,499 733,301 32,527 765,828 5,195,327 5,564,083 (368,756)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,030,667 775,750 1,806,417 0 1,806,417 1,803,871 2,546


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------
  Total Commercial 7,204,458 4,294,197 11,498,655 2,369,504 174,977 2,544,481 14,043,136 15,352,801 (1,309,665)


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 6,136,330 5,927,626 12,063,956 0 12,063,956 13,947,750 (1,883,794)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 605,456 455,708 1,061,164 0 1,061,164 1,059,668 1,496


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------
  Total Industrial 6,741,786 6,383,334 13,125,120 0 13,125,120 15,007,418 (1,882,298)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 23,807,559 18,461,304 42,268,863 9,276,092 747,885 201,277 10,225,254 52,494,117 55,378,646 (2,884,529)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Utility Scale Projects 6,614,303 174,180 6,788,483 0 6,788,483 4,542,973 2,245,510
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,503,301 1,217,219 2,720,520 0 2,720,520 3,019,112 (298,592)
Wind 710,212 639,472 1,349,684 0 1,349,684 1,355,794 (6,110)
Open Solicitation 1,933,331 339,567 2,272,898 0 2,272,898 2,130,697 142,201
Biopower 579,713 333,059 912,772 0 912,772 1,530,097 (617,325)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------
  Total Renewables Costs 11,340,860 2,703,497 14,044,357 0 14,044,357 12,578,673 1,465,684


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 35,148,419 21,164,801 56,313,220 9,276,092 747,885 201,277 10,225,254 66,538,474 67,957,319 (1,418,845)








 
 
Finance Report 
April 30, 2007 
 
Review April 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $2.1 million (9.0% variance) 
o Emails sent to the three primary utilities to seek explanations of variances 


 Increases in rates approved subsequent to budget preparation 
 Utility forecasts generally conservative 


• CRC Revenue under budget by $317 thousand 
o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program caused delays 


 If stands, will have significant impact on PPC revenues in future 
CRC: 
 PGE signed agreement-but waiting for corporate go ahead 
 PacifCorp agreement not yet signed 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $180 thousand  
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 


 
Expenses 


• Expenses overall below budget by $3.1 million (22.5% variance from budget) 
o By line item 


 Program management, delivery, marketing $711 thousand (23% of expense variance) 
• Fairly evenly spread across programs; likely due to timing 


 Incentives $611 thousand (19.6% of expense variance) 
• Commercial sector (89% of incentive variance) 


o New buildings—staff shortage impeding project completions 
o Existing buildings—temporary delay in project completions 


• Industrial sector (31% of incentive variance) 
o Reflects shift of a major project from April to June 


• Overspent in residential sector (-81% of incentive variance) 
o Spring lighting and washer campaigns going better than expected 
o Retrofit projects also much better than expected 


• Renewable energy (61% of incentive variance) 
o Primarily solar 


 Professional services $1.4 million (45% of expense variance) 
• Evaluations—delays in schedules 
• Renewables inspection and project analyses 
• Delayed contracting of IT contractors and architecture study 


o By division 
 Energy efficiency 


• Electric efficiency $2.4 million under spent (25% variance from budget) 
• Gas efficiency $89 thousand overspent (4% variance from budget) 


 Renewable energy   
• $828 thousand under spent from budget (40%)—solar, biopower, wind 


programs 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 4.9%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year in April was 5.6% 








R00407 7/17/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 7/17/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 6/30/07 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total: $4,468,507 $1,862,173 $2,606,334


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total: $818,585 $455,398 $363,187


Energy Efficiency Programs


Aspen Systems Corporation Production Efficiency PMC $31,196,550 $21,195,388 $10,001,162 7/1/05 12/31/07


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC $27,235,737 $12,588,092 $14,647,645 6/1/05 12/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation $19,090,000 $8,170,998 $10,919,002 1/1/05 12/31/10


Aspen Systems Corporation Building Efficiency PMC $16,133,900 $11,459,749 $4,674,151 7/1/05 12/31/07


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


New Homes and Products - 


PMC


$8,325,265 $3,174,254 $5,151,011 1/1/07 12/31/08


Science Applications 


International Corporation


NBE - PMC $7,460,911 $4,602,255 $2,858,656 1/1/06 12/31/07


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit $584,000 $505,580 $78,420 4/27/04 4/26/08


Multiple Cntractors Solar Water Heating $300,253 $126,708 $173,545


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


$300,000 $0 $300,000 1/1/07 12/31/08


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


BTO 2007 $261,586 $42,620 $218,966 1/1/07 12/31/07


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. $210,000 $0 $210,000 5/25/07 2/28/08


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation $190,000 $135,808 $54,192 1/26/06 9/30/07


HST&V, LLC PE Impact Evaluation $180,000 $173,213 $6,787 12/1/05 9/30/07


ADM Associates, Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation $150,000 $68,876 $81,124 8/1/06 7/31/07


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer $137,500 $59,117 $78,383 8/15/03 8/15/10


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services $100,000 $61,000 $39,000 2/21/06 12/31/07


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services $90,000 $36,106 $53,894 1/1/06 12/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Sgl Fam Load 


Research MOU


$87,500 $76,139 $11,361 7/21/05 7/31/07


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


$74,000 $55,600 $18,400 6/20/06 9/30/07


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation $68,500 $27,265 $41,235 11/15/06 7/31/07


Dethman & Associates BTU Program Evaluation $54,000 $48,580 $5,420 12/1/05 9/30/07


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Regional HVAC Forum 


Research


$41,000 $41,000 $0 10/16/06 10/15/07


Cascade Natural Gas Corporation Cascade WA Study $40,000 $6,652 $33,348 4/30/07 7/31/07


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum 


Sponsor.


$35,000 $35,000 $0 2/28/07 2/27/08


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services $26,500 $6,423 $20,077 4/17/07 3/31/08


Thornton Energy, Inc. dba 


Thornton Energy Consulting


Casey Project Energy Star 


LEED


$25,000 $0 $25,000 4/1/07 12/31/07


EQUIPOISE CONSULTING, INC. Irrigation Process Evaluation $18,000 $16,444 $1,556 10/1/06 5/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


$17,000 $0 $17,000 4/19/07 6/30/08


HST&V, LLC Monitor SP Newsprint 


Megaprjct


$15,000 $2,154 $12,846 4/1/07 10/31/07


Lane Community College Scholarship agreement $14,400 $0 $14,400 1/1/07 12/31/07


Conservation Services Group New Construct HVAC Pilot $11,610 $10,561 $1,050 1/1/07 6/29/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Regional Server Study $7,500 $7,500 $0 1/31/07 6/30/07


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship $5,000 $0 $5,000 3/27/07 3/26/08


Energy Efficiency Total: $112,485,712 $62,733,080 $49,752,632


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services $1,435,000 $589,410 $845,590 5/1/04 4/30/08







R00407 7/17/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 7/17/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 6/30/07 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Quantum Consulting, Inc. Evaluation Services $350,000 $314,876 $35,124 8/1/04 6/30/07


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services $62,000 $22,927 $39,073 1/1/06 12/31/07


Research Into Action, Inc. PMC Model Evaluation $60,000 $32,333 $27,667 12/18/06 6/30/07


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services $52,440 $10,271 $42,169 1/1/06 12/31/07


RLW Analytics, Inc. Evaluation services $51,000 $48,859 $2,141 9/1/05 9/30/07


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services $48,110 $9,117 $38,993 4/1/06 3/31/08


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services $38,500 $0 $38,500 4/19/07 12/31/07


Platts E-Source Membership $33,040 $33,040 $0 5/1/05 4/30/08


Quantec, LLC Evaluation Consultant 


Services


$21,700 $0 $21,700 1/1/06 10/31/07


HST&V, LLC Planning Services $17,550 $9,945 $7,606 1/1/06 12/31/07


Brien Sipe Professional Services $15,000 $2,920 $12,080 5/1/07 12/31/07


Dorothy Payton Solar services $15,000 $13,966 $1,034 12/23/05 12/31/07


Joint Programs Total: $2,199,340 $1,087,663 $1,111,677


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 $6,000,000 $0 $6,000,000 6/18/07 6/30/28


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East $4,500,000 $0 $4,500,000 9/20/06 12/31/07


Multiple Cntractors Solar Electric $1,714,872 $714,755 $1,000,117


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding Agreement $1,685,088 $0 $1,685,088 7/21/06 7/21/26


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project $475,000 $0 $475,000 2/17/04 2/17/25


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


$362,000 $0 $362,000 2/24/06 3/13/28


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring $341,266 $310,509 $30,757 2/21/03 2/21/08


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program $235,906 $223,606 $12,300 10/1/02 9/30/07


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


$186,910 $186,910 $0 9/1/05 9/1/25


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services $87,700 $72,609 $15,091 3/1/05 12/31/07


SmartPower, Inc. Market Research Consultant $80,000 $0 $80,000 6/26/07 10/31/07


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV $79,815 $24,371 $55,444 12/1/05 12/1/26


Evergreen Energy Corporation RE consultant services $78,200 $62,449 $15,751 4/1/06 12/31/07


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects $55,500 $22,200 $33,300 9/25/06 12/31/07


RHT Energy Solutions RE Consultant Services $42,500 $32,900 $9,600 12/1/06 12/31/07


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs $42,000 $7,350 $34,650 3/14/06 3/31/08


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) $38,391 $0 $38,391 7/1/07 6/30/08


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind 


System


$36,117 $0 $36,117 4/28/05 4/28/25


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study $36,000 $0 $36,000 12/27/06 12/14/07


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School $35,000 $0 $35,000 12/10/04 12/10/29


Columbia Energy Partners, LLC Interconnection Study Grant $35,000 $10,000 $25,000 9/20/06 9/30/07


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services $34,200 $6,175 $28,025 4/27/07 4/30/08


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project $32,500 $0 $32,500 5/25/07 5/25/27


David Barenberg dba Barenberg 


& Associates


Professional Services - RE $30,000 $3,300 $26,700 5/10/07 4/30/08


PWP, Inc. Wind RFP Process Eval $30,000 $30,243 $-243 11/17/06 8/31/07


City of Astoria Public Works Dept Astoria Hydro/Wind feasibility $25,000 $0 $25,000 3/8/07 8/31/07


Port of Morrow Port of Morrow biomass feas. $25,000 $0 $25,000 2/8/07 7/31/07


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system $24,125 $0 $24,125 4/11/07 12/31/22


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower 


Feasibility


$23,963 $0 $23,963 10/2/06 10/1/07


Inland Pacific Energy Center LLC IPEC Biomass Feasibility 


Study


$23,000 $0 $23,000 11/7/06 9/15/07







R00407 7/17/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 7/17/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 6/30/07 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study $22,000 $0 $22,000 1/30/07 1/15/08


Water Environment Services, A 


Dept. of Clackamas County


Clackamas Water  biofeasibilty $21,500 $0 $21,500 6/4/07 9/30/07


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study $20,000 $0 $20,000 2/15/07 3/1/08


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant $19,845 $7,355 $12,490 5/9/06 12/31/07


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services $17,400 $14,948 $2,453 10/1/06 10/31/07


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC RETAA $16,953 $0 $16,953 5/24/07 5/31/08


Oregon Department of Agriculture Animal by-product assessment $15,000 $0 $15,000 5/25/07 10/15/07


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services $15,000 $4,984 $10,016 1/25/07 12/31/07


City of Woodburn Woodburn WWTP Feasibility $13,266 $0 $13,266 6/7/07 12/1/07


Warren Griffin Griffen Wind Project $13,150 $803 $12,348 10/1/05 10/1/20


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service $13,000 $10,285 $2,715 12/6/05 12/31/07


Northwest SEED Gervais Biopower USDA App. $12,467 $12,467 $0 12/1/06 12/31/07


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA $11,400 $0 $11,400 3/21/07 12/31/07


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC RE Consultant Services $11,000 $2,000 $9,000 4/5/06 3/31/08


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting $8,000 $0 $8,000 5/31/06 5/31/08


OSEIA-Oregon Solar Energy 


Industries Assoc


OSEIA Funding Grant $6,000 $6,000 $0 5/25/07 1/31/08


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy 


fund MOU


$5,000 $0 $5,000 10/4/06 10/1/07


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant $4,400 $0 $4,400 4/2/07 12/31/07


David W. McClain RETAA $3,125 $0 $3,125 5/11/07 4/30/08


Renewable Energy Total: $16,643,559 $1,766,218 $14,877,341


$136,615,703 $67,904,532 $68,711,171Grand Totals:








JUN MAY JUN Change from Change from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 63,309,684 62,955,094 48,864,544 354,590 14,445,140
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 6,899,218 6,873,606 475,000 25,612 6,424,218
  Receivables 41,808 40,509 42,240 1,299 (433)
  Prepaid Expenses 65,346 70,317 14,023 (4,971) 51,323
  Advances to Vendors 1,036,638 1,347,877 1,013,374 (311,239) 23,264


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 71,352,694 71,287,404 50,409,181 65,290 20,943,512


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 825,164 825,164 782,851 -                        42,313
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                        -                        
  Office Equipment and Furniture 70,721 70,721 65,620 -                        5,100


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,009,227 1,009,227 961,814 -                       47,413
  Less Depreciation (906,454) (896,781) (676,936) (9,672) (229,518)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 102,774 112,446 284,879 (9,672) (182,105)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 36,412 36,412 36,412 -                        -                        
  Deferred Compensation Asset 31,916 30,620 16,328 1,296 15,587


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 68,327 67,031 52,740 1,296 15,587


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 71,523,795 71,466,881 50,746,800 56,913 20,776,995


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,293,573 4,000,418 1,950,703 (706,845) 1,342,870
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 270,672 273,987 235,949 (3,315) 34,723
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue 5,000 5,000 5,000 -                        -                        


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,569,245 4,279,405 2,191,652 (710,160) 1,377,593


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 179,874 181,282 171,548 (1,407) 8,326
   Deferred Compensation Payable 31,916 30,620 16,328 1,296 15,587
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 13,176 13,176 750 -                        12,426


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 224,966 225,077 188,627 (111) 36,340


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,794,211 4,504,482 2,380,279 (710,271) 1,413,932


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/Unrestricted Net Assets 18,652,846 17,885,661 11,822,608 767,185 6,830,238
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 6,899,218 6,873,606 475,000 25,612 6,424,218
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE 12,500,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 -                        -                        
  Board Designated Net Assets - P'Corp -                        -                        4,500,000 -                        (4,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,450,833 29,476,446 18,842,227 (25,612) 10,608,606
  Temp. Restricted Net Assets-Beg. of Year 226,686 226,686 226,686 -                        -                        


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 67,729,584 66,962,399 48,366,521 767,185 19,363,062


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 71,523,795 71,466,881 50,746,800 56,913 20,776,995


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon
BALANCE SHEET


June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$     4,713,766$     3,733,210$     3,257,960$     2,244,730$     767,185$        18,652,846$    


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338            23,099            23,100            7,501             7,170             9,673             93,881$           
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)            (1,408)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (8,444)$           


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)            (11,344)          8,535             (5,843)            9,599             (3,922)            (5,308)$           
Other Receivables 16,967            5,067             (4,871)            (5,500)            972                2,623             15,258$           
Advances to Vendors 309,115          301,027          (541,037)         224,790          (638,949)         311,239          (33,815)$         
Other Assets 7,512             5,142             5,914             7,234             (30,582)          3,676             (1,104)$           
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061            (33,920)          294,536          214,451          1,420,371       (345,796)         1,593,703$      
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)      (444,990)         (228,674)         55,972            11,765            (265,790)         (4,307,478)$     
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)          16,781            (13,143)          (9,489)            20,644            (28,483)          (28,912)$         
A/P - Operations (75,882)          31,845            (54)                 18,070            57,697            (66,776)          (35,100)$         
Payroll and related accruals 6,620             27,020            (10,839)          15,311            (6,262)            (3,315)            28,535$           
Other long-term liabilities -                 (2,646)            -                 -                 16,944            1,296             15,594$           


Cash rec'd from / (used in)


         Operating Activies 813,004          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          15,979,656      


Investing Activites:


Acquisition of Capital Assets (35,874)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (35,874)$         


Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (35,874)           


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120     55,042,250     59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     54,265,120      


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          15,943,782      


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$   59,671,689$   62,936,958$   66,716,008$   69,828,700$   70,208,902$   70,208,902$    


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-F-02


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711     7,119,632       6,525,491       5,727,906       5,502,427       4,467,534       4,054,704       4,367,090       4,277,082       4,078,625       4,555,811       5,485,837        


  Investment Income 224,763        198,968         261,255         259,515         283,915         272,704         275,000         250,000         250,000         250,000         200,000         100,000           


Total cash in 6,266,474     7,318,600       6,786,746       5,987,421       5,786,342       4,740,238       4,329,704       4,617,090       4,527,082       4,328,625       4,755,811       5,585,837        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 811,814        835,290         1,446,011       648,784         511,496         1,351,162       942,332         936,689         2,069,113       1,039,807       1,039,807       1,958,135        


    Incentives 4,008,889     1,270,029       1,511,745       976,287         1,382,467       2,198,130       2,912,724       2,917,966       3,222,453       3,290,569       4,062,453       13,496,991      


    Salaries and related expense 318,210        331,121         336,260         337,468         354,640         339,038         367,397         367,397         367,397         367,397         367,397         540,908           


    Professional services 146,199        198,709         152,383         201,102         308,139         332,535         304,052         523,041         522,381         524,281         508,156         508,556           


    General operating expenses 204,232        54,012           75,078           44,730           116,908         139,171         91,074           156,046         162,193         181,684         157,869         149,547           


Total cash out 5,489,344     2,689,161       3,521,477       2,208,371       2,673,650       4,360,036       4,617,579       4,901,139       6,343,537       5,403,738       6,135,682       16,654,137      


Net cash flow for the month 777,130        4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202         (287,875)        (284,049)        (1,816,455)     (1,075,113)     (1,379,871)     (11,068,300)     


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120   55,042,250     59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     70,208,902     69,921,027     69,636,977     67,820,522     66,745,408     65,365,537      


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250   59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     70,208,902     69,921,027     69,636,977     67,820,522     66,745,408     65,365,537     54,297,236      


Forecast 2007-F-05Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-F-02


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,236,032      7,346,291       6,705,691       5,884,180       5,121,749       4,622,308       4,197,094       4,518,851       4,426,143       4,221,733       4,713,234       5,671,161       


178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         


6,414,219      7,524,478       6,883,878       6,062,367       5,299,936       4,800,495       4,375,281       4,697,038       4,604,330       4,399,920       4,891,421       5,849,348       


1,064,373      2,192,240       2,959,117       900,635         838,273         1,736,303       850,382         850,382         1,731,311       870,029         870,029         1,915,064       


1,508,401      1,844,511       2,123,970       2,161,005       2,011,150       2,830,164       2,514,212       2,146,509       3,056,435       3,127,868       7,190,117       19,692,823     


383,834         383,834         383,834         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         


2,293,364      505,525         505,525         505,525         510,482         504,382         512,177         512,583         511,923         513,823         489,102         489,502         


487,451         174,764         169,967         170,650         164,394         158,363         160,679         158,769         165,101         185,176         160,982         152,410         


5,737,423      5,100,874       6,142,413       4,116,705       3,903,189       5,608,102       4,416,340       4,047,133       5,843,660       5,075,786       9,089,120       22,628,689     


676,796         2,423,604       741,465         1,945,662       1,396,747       (807,607)        (41,059)          649,905         (1,239,330)     (675,866)        (4,197,699)     (16,779,341)    


54,297,236    54,974,032     57,397,636     58,139,102     60,084,764     61,481,511     60,673,904     60,632,845     61,282,750     60,043,420     59,367,555     55,169,856     


54,974,032    57,397,636     58,139,102     60,084,764     61,481,511     60,673,904     60,632,845     61,282,750     60,043,420     59,367,555     55,169,856     38,390,515     


Forecast 2008-F-02







June YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,335,562 2,216,791 118,770 16,362,594 15,077,391 1,285,203


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,514,873 1,488,746 26,127 10,749,850 10,035,358 714,492


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 559,073 585,322 (26,249) 7,013,759 6,684,934 328,826


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 44,956 39,577 5,379 626,758 615,822 10,936


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 81,741 111,200 (29,459)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,467,534 4,358,236 109,298 34,834,701 32,524,704 2,309,997


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE -                 183,333 (183,333) 550,000 550,000 -                 


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp -                 133,333 (133,333) -                 400,000 (400,000)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit -                316,667 (316,667) 550,000 950,000 (400,000)


Revenue from Investments 276,626 193,753 82,873 1,506,428 1,162,519 343,909
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 4,744,160 4,868,656 (124,496) 36,891,129 34,637,223 2,253,905
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,320,524 1,380,847 60,323 7,195,297 8,037,039 841,742


Incentives 1,932,340 1,801,685 (130,655) 7,040,068 7,770,397 730,329


Salaries and Related Expenses 335,723 367,397 31,674 2,045,272 2,218,783 173,511


Professional Services 304,052 505,642 201,591 1,310,154 3,095,362 1,785,208


Supplies 1,262 3,354 2,092 12,953 28,625 15,671


Telephone 3,792 6,346 2,554 20,171 38,075 17,904


Postage and Shipping Expenses (414) 3,196 3,610 3,557 32,325 28,768


Occupancy Expenses 31,707 31,348 (358) 190,373 188,090 (2,283)


Noncapitalized Equipment and Depreciation 12,449 18,796 6,347 139,004 164,144 25,139


Call Center 11,587 18,397 6,811 86,020 116,733 30,713


Printing and Publications (949) 14,558 15,507 46,490 93,550 47,060


Travel 9,230 18,683 9,454 44,340 106,101 61,760


Conference, Training and Meeting Expenses 9,862 19,179 9,317 52,454 112,322 59,868


Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                 1,500 1,500 338 9,000 8,662


Insurance 4,640 5,000 360 26,757 30,000 3,243


Miscellaneous Expenses 81 2,124 2,043 1,131 11,577 10,446


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,092 5,331 4,239 23,902 31,285 7,383
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 3,976,975 4,203,384 226,409 18,238,283 22,083,408 3,845,126
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 767,185 665,272 101,913 18,652,846 12,553,815 6,099,031
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







The Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 13,224,358 1,011,007 14,235,365 -                          -                          -                          14,235,365
Payroll and Related Expenses 457,954 323,809 781,763 502,318 196,238 698,556 1,480,319
Outsourced Services 603,728 171,529 775,257 135,562 145,331 280,893 1,056,150
Planning and Evaluation 333,517 40,133 373,650 6,919 -                          6,919 380,569
Customer Service Management 161,927 16,112 178,039 -                          -                          -                          178,039


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------


Total Program Expenses 14,781,484 1,562,590 16,344,074 644,799 341,569 986,368 17,330,442


Program Support Costs


Supplies 2,276 1,851 4,127 2,566 1,917 4,483 8,610
Postage and Shipping Expenses (114) 569 455 1,821 324 2,145 2,600
Telephone 1,952 1,339 3,291 1,299 368 1,667 4,958
Printing and Publications 20,326 2,602 22,928 2,449 17,864 20,313 43,241
Occupancy Expenses 44,006 30,898 74,904 40,262 18,995 59,257 134,161
Insurance 6,185 4,343 10,528 5,659 2,670 8,329 18,857
Equipment 1,860 1,306 3,166 1,701 831 2,532 5,698
Travel 17,469 7,454 24,923 12,993 771 13,764 38,687
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 8,342 5,947 14,289 29,595 2,377 31,972 46,261
Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                          250 250 88 -                          88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 4,087 2,870 6,957 3,739 1,764 5,503 12,460
Dues, Licenses and Fees 17,146 644 17,790 3,404 2,356 5,760 23,550
Miscellaneous Expenses 217 126 343 302 86 388 731
IT Services 381,029 62,164 443,193 93,499 30,998 124,497 567,690


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------


Total Program Support Costs 504,781 122,361 627,142 199,377 81,321 280,698 907,840


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 15,286,266 1,684,950 16,971,216 844,177 422,890 1,267,067 18,238,283
=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.4%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002







The Energy Trust of Oregon
YEAR TO DATE BY PROGRAM / SERVICE TERRITORY


For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $12,668,973 $8,257,783 $7,013,759 $626,758 $81,741 $28,649,013 $3,693,621 $2,492,067 $6,185,688 $34,834,701
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 550,000 550,000
Revenue from Investments 1,506,428 1,506,428


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 13,218,973 8,257,783 7,013,759 626,758 81,741 29,199,013 3,693,621 2,492,067 6,185,688 1,506,428 36,891,129
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 530,640 397,062 351,302 29,674 11,281 1,319,959 204,623 119,184 323,807 1,643,766
  Program Delivery 2,672,871 2,020,780 823,006 78,113 37,289 5,632,059 9,714 44,670 54,384 5,686,443
  Incentives 2,320,009 2,060,608 1,598,452 92,241 12,134 6,083,444 541,089 415,535 956,624 7,040,068
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 202,124 170,391 114,920 7,203 2,079 496,717 34,528 26,891 61,419 558,136
  Program Marketing/Outreach 263,402 196,446 501,680 19,804 8,458 989,791 29,302 21,603 50,905 1,040,696
  Program Legal Services 2,482 1,927 2,704 143 41 7,296 12,130 2,069 14,199 21,495
  Program Quality Assurance 18,999 15,089 17,828 1,365 509 53,790 -                  -                  -                  53,790
  Outsourced  Services 11,396 5,552 19,291 261 -                  36,499 51,252 33,887 85,139 121,638
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 52,493 37,487 68,960 2,562 426 161,928 7,099 9,013 16,112 178,040
  IT Services 149,241 113,983 107,786 7,573 2,447 381,030 38,890 23,274 62,164 443,194
  Other Program Expenses 50,816 39,239 31,380 1,897 421 123,753 36,226 23,971 60,197 183,950


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 6,274,474 5,058,563 3,637,309 240,835 75,086 15,286,266 964,854 720,096 1,684,950 16,971,216
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 312,103 251,621 180,926 11,980 3,735 760,365 47,994 35,819 83,812 844,177
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 157,983 98,691 83,823 7,491 977 348,964 44,143 29,783 73,926 422,890


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  Total Administrative Costs 470,086 350,312 264,749 19,470 4,712 1,109,328 92,137 65,602 157,739 1,267,067
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  TOTAL PROG. & ADMIN EXPENSES 6,744,560 5,408,875 3,902,058 260,305 79,798 16,395,594 1,056,991 785,698 1,842,689 18,238,283
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 6,474,413 2,848,908 3,111,701 366,453 1,943 12,803,419 2,636,630 1,706,369 4,342,999 1,506,428 18,652,846
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ========== =============


Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ========== =============


 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 19,599,960 (4,436,722) 9,982,252 459,745 119,782 25,725,018 28,154,256 12,595,371 40,749,627 1,254,936 67,729,584


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. UtilitiesNatural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 1,308,799 944,720 2,253,519 2,035,600 52,391 2,087,991 4,341,510 4,047,166 (294,344)         
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Produc 1,504,387 1,014,279 2,518,666 1,081,129 172,793 79,798 1,333,720 3,852,386 4,013,432 161,046           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 311,287 233,593 544,880 -                       544,880 565,009 20,129            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Residential 3,124,473 2,192,592 5,317,065 3,116,729 225,184 79,798 3,421,711 8,738,776 8,625,607 (113,169)


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 742,054 546,466 1,288,520 576,015 17,570 593,585 1,882,105 2,984,089 1,101,984        
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 907,911 393,439 1,301,350 209,309 17,554 226,863 1,528,213 2,096,735 568,522           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 485,826 364,569 850,395 -                       850,395 941,650 91,255            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Commercial 2,135,791 1,304,474 3,440,265 785,324 35,124 820,448 4,260,713 6,022,474 1,761,761


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficien 1,179,581 1,683,144 2,862,725 -                       2,862,725 3,721,649 858,924           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 304,716 228,660 533,376 -                       533,376 583,388 50,012            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Industrial 1,484,297 1,911,804 3,396,101 -                      3,396,101 4,305,037 908,936


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 6,744,560 5,408,875 12,153,435 3,902,058 260,305 79,798 4,242,161 16,395,595 18,953,118 2,557,528
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


Renewables
Utility Scale Projects 78,510 14,617 93,127 -                       93,127 209,473 116,346           
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 462,891 585,401 1,048,292 -                       1,048,292 1,566,631 518,339           
Wind 51,633 138,475 190,108 -                       190,108 481,929 291,821           
Open Solicitation 308,197 20,216 328,413 -                       328,413 406,876 78,463            
Biopower 155,760 26,988 182,748 -                       182,748 465,381 282,633           


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 1,056,991 785,698 1,842,689 -                      1,842,689 3,130,290 1,287,602      
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Cost Grand Total 7,801,552 6,194,567 13,996,124 3,902,053 260,308 79,798 4,242,161 18,238,283 22,083,408 3,845,126


The Energy Trust of Oregon
Program Expenses by Service Territory
For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007







MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD
OVER/ OVER/ OVER/ OVER/


ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER)


Outsourced Services $68,715 $122,909 ($54,194) $120,179 $228,818 ($108,638) $74,555 $80,125 ($5,570) $145,331 $146,425 ($1,094)


Legal Services 4,781 26,460 (21,679) 15,383 52,920 (37,537) 960 (960) 1,920 (1,920)


Salaries and Related Expenses 255,837 247,919 7,918 502,318 510,237 (7,920) 102,251 86,794 15,457 196,238 173,588 22,649


Supplies 326 2,762 (2,436) 506 5,525 (5,019) 150 (150) 946 300 646


Telephone 357 338 20 518 675 (157) 1,500 (1,500) 3,000 (3,000)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 790 788 2 1,135 1,575 (440) 13,150 (13,150)


Noncapitalized Equipment 28 300 (272) 28 600 (572)


Printing and Publications 20 150 (130) 122 300 (178) 5,457 8,375 (2,918) 16,767 27,950 (11,183)


Travel 9,273 13,525 (4,252) 12,991 27,050 (14,059) 498 1,625 (1,127) 770 3,250 (2,480)


Conference, Training & Mtngs 21,410 31,140 (9,730) 29,589 61,280 (31,691) 1,200 2,875 (1,675) 2,374 5,750 (3,376)


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 15 4,500 (4,485) 88 9,000 (8,912)


Miscellaneous Expenses 301 300 1 302 600 (298) 81 81 86 86


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,487 3,171 (684) 3,151 5,903 (2,751) 945 1,191 (246) 2,237 2,382 (146)


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 24,075 29,793 (5,719) 57,476 59,587 (2,111) 11,962 12,048 (86) 27,116 24,097 3,019


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 47,116 64,434 (17,319) 93,499 145,314 (51,815) 15,620 21,362 (5,742) 30,998 48,176 (17,178)


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,781 4,944 (1,163) 6,919 10,023 (3,104)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 439,284 553,133 (113,848) 844,177 1,118,807 (274,630) 212,598 217,306 (4,708) 422,890 450,589 (27,699)
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


January February March April May June


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


January February March April May June


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-


$500


$1,000


$1,500


$2,000


$2,500


January February March April May June


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Actual
Budget


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


$9,000


January February March April May June


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Actual


Budget








R00407 5/16/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 5/16/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 4/30/07 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total: $4,534,640 $1,817,717 $2,716,923


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total: $678,040 $192,752 $485,288


Energy Efficiency Programs


Aspen Systems Corporation Production Efficiency PMC $31,165,860 $20,191,980 $10,973,881 7/1/05 12/31/07


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC $25,864,337 $11,463,688 $14,400,649 6/1/05 12/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation $19,090,000 $7,548,519 $11,541,481 1/1/05 12/31/10


Aspen Systems Corporation Building Efficiency PMC $16,133,900 $10,841,641 $5,292,258 7/1/05 12/31/07


Science Applications 


International Corporation


NBE - PMC $8,813,668 $3,819,364 $4,994,304 1/1/06 12/31/07


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


New Homes and Products - 


PMC


$7,659,263 $1,852,872 $5,806,391 1/1/07 12/31/08


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit $584,000 $463,661 $120,339 4/27/04 4/26/08


Multiple Cntractors Solar Water Heating $517,659 $395,537 $122,122


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


BTO 2007 $261,586 $25,226 $236,360 1/1/07 12/31/07


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation $190,000 $135,808 $54,192 1/26/06 9/30/07


HST&V, LLC PE Impact Evaluation $180,000 $163,913 $16,087 12/1/05 6/30/07


ADM Associates, Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation $150,000 $68,876 $81,124 8/1/06 7/31/07


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer $137,500 $59,117 $78,383 8/15/03 8/15/10


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services $90,000 $26,222 $63,778 1/1/06 12/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Sgl Fam Load 


Research MOU


$87,500 $76,139 $11,361 7/21/05 7/31/07


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


$74,000 $45,600 $28,400 6/20/06 9/30/07


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services $70,000 $52,229 $17,771 2/21/06 6/30/07


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation $68,500 $17,631 $50,869 11/15/06 7/31/07


Dethman & Associates BTU Program Evaluation $50,000 $47,540 $2,460 12/1/05 7/31/07


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Regional HVAC Forum 


Research


$41,000 $41,000 $0 10/16/06 10/15/07


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum 


Sponsor.


$35,000 $35,000 $0 2/28/07 2/27/08


Thornton Energy, Inc. dba 


Thornton Energy Consulting


Casey Project Energy Star 


LEED


$25,000 $0 $25,000 4/1/07 12/31/07


EQUIPOISE CONSULTING, INC. Irrigation Process Evaluation $18,000 $15,773 $2,227 10/1/06 5/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


$17,000 $0 $17,000 4/19/07 6/30/08


Lane Community College Scholarship agreement $14,400 $0 $14,400 1/1/07 12/31/07


Conservation Services Group New Construct HVAC Pilot $11,610 $6,961 $4,650 1/1/07 4/30/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Regional Server Study $7,500 $7,500 $0 1/31/07 6/30/07


KEMA-Xenergy QA/QC Professional Services $6,000 $0 $6,000 5/1/06 4/30/07


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship $5,000 $0 $5,000 3/27/07 3/26/08


Energy Efficiency Total: $111,368,283 $57,401,796 $53,966,488


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services $1,435,000 $538,809 $896,191 5/1/04 4/30/08


Quantum Consulting, Inc. Evaluation Services $350,000 $314,876 $35,124 8/1/04 6/30/07


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services $62,000 $20,617 $41,383 1/1/06 12/31/07


Research Into Action, Inc. PMC Model Evaluation $60,000 $30,458 $29,542 12/18/06 6/30/07


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services $52,440 $7,811 $44,629 1/1/06 12/31/07


RLW Analytics, Inc. Evaluation services $51,000 $48,859 $2,141 9/1/05 6/30/07


Platts E-Source Membership $33,040 $21,340 $11,700 5/1/05 4/30/08







R00407 5/16/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 5/16/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 4/30/07 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services $23,610 $6,567 $17,043 4/1/06 3/31/08


ECONorthwest Economic Impact Analysis $18,000 $13,383 $4,617 3/1/07 4/20/07


HST&V, LLC Planning Services $17,550 $9,945 $7,606 1/1/06 12/31/07


Dorothy Payton Solar services $15,000 $13,966 $1,034 12/23/05 12/31/07


Joint Programs Total: $2,117,640 $1,026,630 $1,091,010


Renewable Energy Program


Multiple Cntractors Solar Electric $4,837,372 $4,317,858 $519,514


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East $2,250,000 $0 $2,250,000 9/20/06 12/31/07


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills West $2,250,000 $0 $2,250,000 9/20/06 12/31/07


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding Agreement $1,685,088 $0 $1,685,088 7/21/06 7/21/26


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project $475,000 $0 $475,000 2/17/04 2/17/25


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


$362,000 $0 $362,000 2/24/06 3/13/28


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring $341,266 $286,389 $54,877 2/21/03 2/21/08


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program $235,906 $212,031 $23,875 10/1/02 9/30/07


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


$186,910 $186,910 $0 9/1/05 9/1/25


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services $87,700 $69,977 $17,723 3/1/05 4/30/07


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV $79,815 $24,371 $55,444 12/1/05 12/1/26


Evergreen Energy Corporation RE consultant services $78,200 $61,033 $17,167 4/1/06 12/31/07


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects $55,500 $22,200 $33,300 9/25/06 12/31/07


RHT Energy Solutions RE Consultant Services $42,500 $32,900 $9,600 12/1/06 12/31/07


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs $42,000 $1,950 $40,050 3/14/06 3/31/08


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA year 4 $37,273 $37,273 $0 7/1/06 6/30/07


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind 


System


$36,117 $0 $36,117 4/28/05 4/28/25


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study $36,000 $0 $36,000 12/27/06 12/14/07


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School $35,000 $0 $35,000 12/10/04 12/10/29


Columbia Energy Partners, LLC Interconnection Study Grant $35,000 $10,000 $25,000 9/20/06 9/30/07


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services $34,200 $0 $34,200 4/27/07 4/30/08


PWP, Inc. Wind RFP Process Eval $30,000 $27,610 $2,390 11/17/06 4/30/07


City of Astoria Public Works Dept Astoria Hydro/Wind feasibility $25,000 $0 $25,000 3/8/07 8/31/07


Port of Morrow Port of Morrow biomass feas. $25,000 $0 $25,000 2/8/07 6/30/07


Clean Water Services Tigard Siloxane Feasibility $25,000 $0 $25,000 1/19/07 4/30/07


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system $24,125 $0 $24,125 4/11/07 12/31/22


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower 


Feasibility


$23,963 $0 $23,963 10/2/06 10/1/07


Inland Pacific Energy Center LLC IPEC Biomass Feasibility 


Study


$23,000 $0 $23,000 11/7/06 5/15/07


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study $22,000 $0 $22,000 1/30/07 1/15/08


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study $20,000 $0 $20,000 2/15/07 3/1/08


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant $19,845 $4,845 $15,000 5/9/06 12/31/07


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services $17,400 $11,348 $6,053 10/1/06 10/31/07


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services $15,000 $2,691 $12,309 1/25/07 12/31/07


Warren Griffin Griffen Wind Project $13,150 $615 $12,535 10/1/05 10/1/20


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service $13,000 $8,851 $4,149 12/6/05 12/31/07


Northwest SEED Gervais Biopower USDA App. $12,467 $0 $12,467 12/1/06 12/31/07


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC RE Consultant Services $11,000 $2,000 $9,000 4/5/06 3/31/08


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting $8,000 $0 $8,000 5/31/06 5/31/08


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA $6,000 $0 $6,000 3/21/07 12/31/07


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy 


fund MOU


$5,000 $0 $5,000 10/4/06 10/1/07







R00407 5/16/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 5/16/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 4/30/07 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant $4,400 $0 $4,400 4/2/07 12/31/07


Renewable Energy Total: $13,566,197 $5,320,853 $8,245,345


$132,264,801 $65,759,748 $66,505,053Grand Totals:








  
 
Finance Report 
May 31, 2007 
 
Review May 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 
Nothing unusual; continuing to build cash balances over year 
 
Income Statements 
 
Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $2.2 million (7.8% variance) 
o Emails sent to the three primary utilities to seek explanations of variances 


§ PGE sent revised forecast for July through December: 
• Higher than previous forecast by about $680K 
• Reflects adjustments for future residential exchange impact and 


inclusion of Port Westward 
§ PacifiCorp sent revision as well 


• Generally higher than previous forecast $300K 
• Based on most current information 


§ NW Natural did not reforecast 
• Based on prior year’s actual customer count and volumes through 


appropriate rate schedules 
• Next year will try normalized volumes; what would be expected if the 


weather were normal in every month; should reduce degree of variation 
• CRC Revenue under budget by $83 thousand 


o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 
remainder of year, unless overturned 
§ Will only get $550,000 from PGE versus $1,100,000 budgeted 
§ Will get nothing from PCorp versus $800,000 budgeted 
§ Total CRC variance expected $1,350,000 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $261 thousand  
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 
o Offset partially by Interest rates slightly lower than budgeted 


 
Expenses 


• Expenses overall below budget by $3.6 million (20.2% variance from budget) 
o By line item 
§ Program management, delivery, marketing $781 thousand (22% of expense variance) 


• Fairly evenly spread across programs; likely due to timing 
§ Incentives $861 thousand (24% of expense variance) 


• Commercial sector (76% of incentive variance) 
o New buildings—staff shortage impeding project completions 
o Existing buildings—temporary delay in project completions 


• Industrial sector (48% of incentive variance) 
o Reflects shift of a major project from April to June 


• Overspent in residential sector (-78% of incentive variance) 
o Spring lighting and washer campaigns going better than expected 







Finance Report  May 31, 2007 


 2 


o Retrofit projects also much better than expected 
• Renewable energy (54% of incentive variance) 


o Primarily solar 
§ Professional services $1.6 million (44% of expense variance) 


• Evaluations—delays in schedules 
• Renewables inspection and project analyses 
• Delayed contracting of IT consultants and architecture study 
• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 


based on study results and system evaluations 
o By division 
§ Energy efficiency 
§ 2.6 million under spent from budget (17%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $3.1M 
• Good news-gas efficiency over spent $475K 


§ Renewable energy   
• $979 thousand under spent from budget (38%)—solar, wind and biopower 


programs 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 5.2%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year in May was 5.3% 








MAY APR MAY Change from Change from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 62,955,094            59,883,506            48,622,362            3,071,588             14,332,732            
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 6,873,606             6,832,502             475,000                41,104                  6,398,606             
  Receivables 40,509                  51,080                  39,181                  (10,571)                 1,329                    
  Prepaid Expenses 70,317                  41,033                  18,610                  29,284                  51,707                  
  Advances to Vendors 1,347,877             708,928                1,321,182             638,950                26,695                  


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 71,287,404 67,517,049 50,476,335 3,770,355 20,811,069


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 825,164                825,164                768,341                -                       56,823                  
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343                113,343                113,343                -                       -                       
  Office Equipment and Furniture 70,721                  70,721                  65,620                  -                       5,100                    


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,009,227           1,009,227           947,304              -                      61,923                
  Less Depreciation (896,781)               (889,611)               (653,252)               (7,170)                  (243,530)               


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 112,446 119,616 294,052 (7,170) (181,606)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 36,412                  36,412                  36,412                  -                       -                       
  Deferred Compensation Asset 30,620                  29,323                  15,378                  1,296                    15,242                  


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 67,031 65,735 51,789 1,296 15,242


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 71,466,881 67,702,400 50,822,177 3,764,481 20,644,704


======================================================================


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 4,000,418 2,489,941 3,100,334 1,510,477 900,084
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 273,987 264,102 250,356 9,885 23,631
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue 5,000 5,000 5,000 -                       -                       


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 4,279,405 2,759,043 3,355,690 1,520,362 923,715


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 181,282 182,689 161,812 (1,407) 19,469
   Deferred Compensation Payable 30,620 29,323 15,378 1,296 15,242
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 13,176 13,676 750 (500) 12,426


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 225,077 225,689 177,940 (611) 47,137


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 4,504,482 2,984,731 3,533,630 1,519,751 970,852


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 17,885,661 15,640,931 10,744,633 2,244,730             7,141,028             
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 6,873,606 6,832,502 475,000 41,104                  6,398,606             
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE 12,500,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 -                       -                       
  Board Designated Net Assets - P'Corp -                       -                       4,500,000 -                       (4,500,000)            
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,476,446 29,517,550 18,842,227 (41,104)                 10,634,218            
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets-Beg of Year 226,686 226,686 226,686 -                       -                       


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 66,962,399 64,717,669 47,288,547 2,244,730 19,673,852


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 71,466,881 67,702,400 50,822,177 3,764,481 20,644,704


======================================================================
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon
BALANCE SHEET


May 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







 January February March April May Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$     4,713,766$     3,733,210$     3,257,960$     2,244,730$     17,885,661$     


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338            23,099            23,100            7,501             7,170             84,208$           
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)            (1,408)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (7,036)$           


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)            (11,344)           8,535             (5,843)            9,599             (1,386)$           
Other Receivables 16,967            5,067             (4,871)            (5,500)            972                12,635$           
Advances to Vendors 309,115          301,027          (541,037)         224,790          (638,949)         (345,054)$        
Other Assets 7,512             5,142             5,914             7,234             (30,582)           (4,780)$           
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061            (33,920)           294,536          214,451          470,182          989,310$         
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)      (444,990)         (228,674)         55,972            961,954          (3,091,499)$     
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)           16,781            (13,143)           (9,489)            20,644            (429)$              
A/P - Operations (75,882)           31,845            (54)                 18,070            57,697            31,676$           
Payroll and related accruals 6,620             27,020            (10,839)           15,311            (6,262)            31,850$           
Other long-term liabilities -                 (2,646)            -                 -                 16,944            14,298$           


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 813,004          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       15,599,454      


Investing Activites:


Acquisition of Capital Assets (35,874)           -                 -                 -                 -                 (35,874)$          
Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)           -                 -                 -                 -                 (35,874)           


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120      55,042,250      59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      54,265,120      


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       15,563,580      


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$    59,671,689$    62,936,958$    66,716,008$    69,828,700$    69,828,700$     


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on B-05.1 & P-04


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711      7,119,632        6,525,491        5,727,906        5,502,427        4,358,236        4,360,555        4,317,178        4,308,723        4,198,490        4,201,621        5,026,747         


  Investment Income 224,763         198,968          261,255          259,515          283,915          193,753          193,753          193,753          193,753          193,753          193,753          193,753            


Total cash in 6,266,474      7,318,600        6,786,746        5,987,421        5,786,342        4,551,989        4,554,308        4,510,931        4,502,476        4,392,243        4,395,374        5,220,500         


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 811,814         835,290          1,446,011        648,784          1,461,685        1,003,816        1,003,816        1,930,402        1,039,807        1,039,807        1,958,135        1,064,373         


    Incentives 4,008,889      1,270,029        1,511,745        976,287          432,278          1,801,685        2,580,199        2,724,590        3,174,884        3,772,398        4,320,320        14,019,304        


    Salaries and related expense 318,210         331,121          336,260          337,468          354,640          367,397          367,397          367,397          367,397          367,397          367,397          367,397            


    Professional services 146,199         198,709          152,383          201,102          308,139          498,042          505,642          523,041          522,381          524,281          508,156          508,556            


    General operating expenses 204,232         54,012            75,078            44,730            116,908          154,671          156,919          156,046          162,193          181,684          157,869          149,547            


Total cash out 5,489,344      2,689,161        3,521,477        2,208,371        2,673,650        3,825,611        4,613,973        5,701,476        5,266,662        5,885,567        7,311,877        16,109,177        


Net cash flow for the month 777,130         4,629,439        3,265,269        3,779,050        3,112,692        726,378          (59,665)           (1,190,545)      (764,186)         (1,493,324)      (2,916,503)      (10,888,677)      


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120    55,042,250      59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      69,828,700      70,555,078      70,495,412      69,304,867      68,540,680      67,047,356      64,130,852        


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250    59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      69,828,700      70,555,078      70,495,412      69,304,867      68,540,680      67,047,356      64,130,852      53,242,175        


Actual Budget B-05.1







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on B-05.1 & P-04


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,385,968       6,570,863        5,745,165        5,984,016        5,067,322        4,686,414        4,592,090        4,680,036        4,649,320        4,335,590        4,599,821        5,460,928        


176,901          173,003          169,865          169,983          166,838          161,088          156,085          149,030          143,464          136,770          123,558          111,662          


6,562,869       6,743,866        5,915,030        6,153,999        5,234,160        4,847,502        4,748,175        4,829,066        4,792,784        4,472,360        4,723,379        5,572,590        


1,457,458       2,959,117        900,635          838,273          1,736,303        850,382          850,382          1,731,311        870,029          870,029          1,915,064        1,053,782        


5,055,842       4,474,399        4,239,711        4,116,998        4,163,348        4,116,998        4,190,867        4,237,217        3,465,867        5,278,886        5,644,236        6,945,539        


383,834          383,834          383,834          378,890          378,890          378,890          378,890          378,890          378,890          378,890          378,890          378,890          


508,156          505,525          505,525          505,525          510,482          504,382          512,177          512,583          511,923          513,823          489,102          489,502          


166,605          174,764          169,967          170,650          164,394          158,363          160,679          158,769          165,101          185,176          160,982          152,410          


7,571,895       8,497,639        6,199,672        6,010,336        6,953,417        6,009,015        6,092,995        7,018,770        5,391,810        7,226,804        8,588,274        9,020,123        


(1,009,026)      (1,753,773)      (284,642)         143,663          (1,719,257)      (1,161,513)      (1,344,820)      (2,189,704)      (599,026)         (2,754,444)      (3,864,895)      (3,447,533)      


53,242,175     52,233,149      50,479,376      50,194,734      50,338,397      48,619,140      47,457,628      46,112,808      43,923,104      43,324,078      40,569,634      36,704,739      


52,233,149     50,479,376      50,194,734      50,338,397      48,619,140      47,457,628      46,112,808      43,923,104      43,324,078      40,569,634      36,704,739      33,257,206      


Projection P-04







May YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,473,034 2,343,744 129,290 14,027,032 12,860,599 1,166,432


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,577,820 1,510,629 67,191 9,234,977 8,546,612 688,365


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 818,922 889,689 (70,767) 6,454,686 6,099,612 355,075


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 69,581 73,588 (4,007) 581,802 576,245 5,557


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 68,670 83,400 (14,730)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,952,427 4,845,450 106,977 30,367,167 28,166,468 2,200,699


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE 550,000 183,333 366,667 550,000 366,667 183,333


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp 0 133,333 (133,333) 0 266,667 (266,667)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 316,667 233,333 550,000 633,333 (83,333)


Revenue from Investments 274,317 193,753 80,563 1,229,801 968,766 261,036
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 5,776,744 5,355,870 420,874 32,146,969 29,768,568 2,378,401
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,310,834 1,380,847 70,012 5,874,774 6,656,193 781,419


Incentives 1,394,232 1,644,626 250,393 5,107,728 5,968,712 860,984


Salaries and Related Expenses 348,378 367,397 19,019 1,709,549 1,851,386 141,837


Professional Services 328,783 498,042 169,260 1,006,103 2,589,720 1,583,618


Supplies 2,231 3,354 1,123 11,691 25,271 13,580


Telephone 3,817 6,346 2,529 16,379 31,729 15,350


Postage and Shipping Expenses 933 3,196 2,263 3,971 29,129 25,158


Occupancy Expenses 31,547 31,348 (199) 158,666 156,742 (1,925)


Noncapitalized Equipment and Depreciation 13,120 18,937 5,817 126,556 145,348 18,792


Call Center 39,014 17,839 (21,175) 74,433 98,336 23,903


Printing and Publications 26,144 14,558 (11,585) 47,439 78,992 31,553


Travel 8,995 18,683 9,689 35,111 87,417 52,307


Conference, Training and Meeting Expenses 16,029 18,179 2,150 42,592 93,143 50,551


Interest Expense and Bank Fees (83) 1,500 1,583 338 7,500 7,162


Insurance 4,640 5,000 360 22,117 25,000 2,883


Miscellaneous Expenses 593 2,124 1,531 1,050 9,453 8,403


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,808 4,641 1,833 22,810 25,954 3,144
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 3,532,013 4,036,617 504,603 14,261,307 17,880,024 3,618,717
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 2,244,730 1,319,253 925,477 17,885,661 11,888,543 5,997,118
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Five Months Ending May 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 10,065,524 916,978 10,982,502 -                           10,982,502


Payroll and Related Expenses 384,187 268,312 652,499 419,832 164,727 584,559 1,237,058


Outsourced Services 419,010 139,894 558,904 110,564 117,855 228,419 787,323


Planning and Evaluation 282,734 34,022 316,756 5,866 5,866 322,622


Customer Service Management 140,779 13,668 154,447 -                           154,447
---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- -------------------------------- ----------------------------


Total Program Expenses 11,292,233 1,372,874 12,665,107 536,262 282,582 818,844 13,483,951


Program Support Costs


Supplies 2,080 1,451 3,531 2,206 1,841 4,047 7,578


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,071 447 1,518 1,467 249 1,716 3,234


Telephone 1,193 845 2,038 973 302 1,275 3,313


Printing and Publications 27,172 2,507 29,679 2,326 12,353 14,679 44,358


Occupancy Expenses 36,698 25,726 62,424 33,520 15,868 49,388 111,812


Insurance 5,115 3,586 8,701 4,672 2,212 6,884 15,585


Equipment 1,725 1,209 2,934 1,576 774 2,350 5,284


Travel 15,910 5,526 21,436 7,941 709 8,650 30,086


Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 7,858 5,153 13,011 21,504 2,374 23,878 36,889


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 250 250 88 88 338


Depreciation & Amortization 3,528 2,473 6,001 3,222 1,525 4,747 10,748


Dues, Licenses and Fees 16,935 611 17,546 2,708 2,262 4,970 22,516


Miscellaneous Expenses 217 126 343 221 86 307 650


IT Services 325,502 53,105 378,607 79,873 26,481 106,354 484,961
---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- -------------------------------- ----------------------------


Total Program Support Costs 445,005 103,016 548,021 162,298 67,038 229,336 777,357


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- -------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 11,737,239 1,475,890 13,213,129 698,559 349,619 1,048,178 14,261,307


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================== ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.2%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Five Months Ending May 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







The Energy Trust of Oregon
YEAR TO DATE BY PROGRAM / SERVICE TERRITORY


For the Five Months Ending May 31, 2007
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $10,862,709 $7,093,528 $6,454,686 $581,802 $68,670 $25,061,395 $3,164,323 $2,141,449 $5,305,772 $30,367,167
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 $550,000 $550,000
Revenue from Investments 1,229,801 $1,229,801


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 11,412,709 7,093,528 6,454,686 581,802 68,670 25,611,395 3,164,323 2,141,449 5,305,772 1,229,801 32,146,969


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 424,385         326,932           292,598             24,745      9,554       1,078,215       159,630         102,763         262,393         1,340,608
  Program Delivery 2,181,737       1,659,238        667,950             62,210      29,849     4,600,984       5,685             41,629           47,314           4,648,298
  Incentives 1,435,364       1,432,380        1,290,064          69,967      10,290     4,238,065       494,175         375,490         869,665         5,107,730
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 164,448         151,040           103,507             6,071        1,752       426,818         26,333           26,343           52,676           479,494
  Program Marketing/Outreach 199,890         159,529           349,899             14,714      6,720       730,751         22,683           17,027           39,710           770,461
  Program Legal Services 1,960             1,540              2,000                124           41            5,664             11,397           1,394             12,791           18,455
  Program Quality Assurance 15,065           12,201            13,044               1,112        440          41,862           -                -                -                41,862
  Outsourced  Services 3,833             3,503              13,194               121           -          20,651           39,526           29,212           68,738           89,389
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 45,782           33,821            58,545               2,231        399          140,779         5,939             7,729             13,668           154,447
  IT Services 119,598         100,846           96,172               6,662        2,225       325,503         32,071           21,034           53,105           378,608
  Other Program Expenses 49,597           40,929            35,017               1,974        429          127,947         32,730           23,100           55,830           183,777


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 4,641,659 3,921,960 2,921,990 189,931 61,698 11,737,239 830,170 645,720 1,475,890 13,213,129


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 245,399 207,348 154,481 10,041 3,262 620,531 43,890 34,138 78,028 698,559
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 129,058 80,215 72,991 6,579 777 289,620 35,783 24,216 59,999 349,619


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 374,457 287,563 227,472 16,620 4,039 910,151 79,673 58,354 138,027 1,048,178


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXP 5,016,116 4,209,523 3,149,462 206,551 65,737 12,647,390 909,843 704,074 1,613,917 14,261,307


-------------------- --------------------- ----------------------- --------------- --------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 6,396,593 2,884,005 3,305,224 375,251 2,933 12,964,005 2,254,480 1,437,375 3,691,855 1,229,801 17,885,661


========== =========== ============ ======== ======== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========= =============
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,549 (8,445,629) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,602 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,738
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 (4,000,000)


========== =========== ============ ======== ======== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========= =============
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 19,522,142 (4,401,624) 10,175,775 468,543 120,772 25,885,607 27,772,106 11,726,377 39,498,483 1,578,309 66,962,399


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 1,071,202       802,233          1,873,435       1,550,877       40,211            1,591,088       3,464,523       3,328,567 (135,956)     
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 1,131,471       766,351          1,897,822       883,898          141,412          65,737            1,091,047       2,988,869       3,267,486 278,617       
Market Transformation (NEEA) 262,822          196,920          459,742          -                 459,742          472,297 12,555        


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Residential 2,465,495     1,765,504     4,230,999     2,434,775     181,623        65,737          2,682,135     6,913,134     7,068,350 155,216


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 584,244          387,691          971,935          519,840          14,889            534,729          1,506,664       2,368,364 861,700       
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 351,242          348,677          699,919          194,849          10,039            204,888          904,807          1,665,623 760,816       
Market Transformation (NEEA) 402,270          301,404          703,674          -                 703,674          786,535 82,861        


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Commercial 1,337,756     1,037,772     2,375,528     714,689        24,928          -                739,617        3,115,145     4,820,522 1,705,377


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 963,785          1,219,622       2,183,407       -                 2,183,407       2,912,735 729,328       
Market Transformation (NEEA) 249,080          186,625          435,705          -                 435,705          485,741 50,036        


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Industrial 1,212,865     1,406,247     2,619,112     -                -                -                -                2,619,112     3,398,476 779,364


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 5,016,116 4,209,523 9,225,639 3,149,464 206,551 65,737 3,421,752 12,647,391 15,287,348 2,639,957


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------


Renewables
Utility Scale Projects 66,961            9,244              76,205            -                 76,205            174,887 98,682        
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 399,693          517,469          917,162          -                 917,162          1,307,669 390,507       
Wind 30,512            132,324          162,836          -                 162,836          396,072 233,236       
Open Solicitation 289,369          17,278            306,647          -                 306,647          341,662 35,015        
Biopower 123,308          27,759            151,067          -                 151,067          372,387 221,320       


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------
  Total Renewables Costs 909,843        704,074        1,613,917     -                -                -                -                1,613,917     2,592,677  978,760     


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- -----------------


  Cost Grand Total 5,925,959 4,913,597 10,839,556 3,149,464 206,551 65,737 3,421,752 14,261,307 17,880,024 3,618,717


The Energy Trust of Oregon
PROGRAM BUDGET EXPENSES BY SERVICE TERRITORY


For the Five Months Ending May 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended May 31, 2007
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


YTD YTD
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER OVER/ QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER OVER/


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER)


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $45,413 $122,909 ($77,496) $96,877 $183,515 ($86,638) $47,079 $80,125 ($33,046) $117,855 $119,717 ($1,862)


Legal Services 3,085 26,460 (23,375) 13,687 44,100 (30,413) 960 (960) 1,600 (1,600)


Salaries and Related Expenses 165,639 247,919 (82,279) 412,120 427,598 (15,478) 67,089 86,794 (19,705) 161,076 144,657 16,419


Supplies 134 2,762 (2,628) 314 4,604 (4,290) 150 (150) 946 250 696


Telephone 174 338 (163) 335 563 (228) 1,500 (1,500) 2,500 (2,500)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 595 788 (193) 940 1,313 (372) 13,150 (13,150)


Noncapitalized Equipment 28 300 (272) 28 500 (472)


Printing and Publications 20 150 (130) 122 250 (128) 8,375 (8,375) 11,309 25,158 (13,849)


Travel 4,224 13,525 (9,301) 7,941 22,542 (14,600) 438 1,625 (1,187) 709 2,708 (1,999)


Conference, Training & Mtngs 13,324 31,140 (17,816) 21,504 50,233 (28,730) 1,200 2,875 (1,675) 2,374 4,792 (2,417)


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 15 4,500 (4,485) 88 7,500 (7,412)


Miscellaneous Expenses 220 300 (80) 221 500 (279) 81 81 86 86


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,834 3,171 (1,337) 2,498 4,802 (2,304) 871 1,191 (320) 2,163 1,985 178


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 22,771 29,793 (7,022) 56,172 49,656 6,517 11,439 12,048 (610) 26,592 20,081 6,512


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 33,490 64,434 (30,944) 79,873 123,880 (44,007) 11,103 21,362 (10,259) 26,481 41,070 (14,590)


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 2,727 4,944 (2,216) 5,866 8,376 (2,510)
----------------- -------------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------------- ----------------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 293,666 553,133 (259,466) 698,559 929,430 (230,871) 139,327 217,306 (77,978) 349,619 378,168 (28,549)
========= ============== ============= ========= ========== ========== ========= ============== ============= ========= ========== ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-002







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-
$5,000


$10,000
$15,000
$20,000
$25,000
$30,000
$35,000


January February March April May


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


January February March April May


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-


$200


$400


$600


$800


$1,000


$1,200


$1,400


$1,600


$1,800


January February March April May


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Actual
Budget


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


January February March April May


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Actual


Budget








Energy Trust of Oregon
Conservation Rate Credit


Summary


period covered: October 1, 2006 through March 31, 2007
submitted: May 25, 2007
recorded: May 31, 2007


PGE:


Program Measure type Savings (CRC) Savings (ETO) Adj Credit due Fully loaded cost


Existing Buildings Lighting 1,018,728           1,018,728                      127,964.46         85,056.65               
New Buildings Lighting 426,963             426,963                        55,291.52           31,125.12               
Production Efficiency Lighting 1,714,961           1,714,961                      213,937.23         132,511.80             
Existing Homes Insulation 206,992             68,913                          65,896.61           37,970.24               
Home performance Insulation 2,340                 1,166                            744.94               495.00                   
Multi-family Insulation 261,562             663,957                        86,165.24           42,425.12               


TOTAL 3,631,546         3,894,688                    550,000.00       329,583.93           








R00407 6/26/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 6/26/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 5/31/07 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total: $4,585,357 $1,926,212 $2,659,145


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total: $715,740 $304,178 $411,562


Energy Efficiency Programs


Aspen Systems Corporation Production Efficiency PMC $31,165,860 $20,595,270 $10,570,590 7/1/05 12/31/07


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC $27,235,737 $12,008,988 $15,226,749 6/1/05 12/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation $19,090,000 $7,859,759 $11,230,241 1/1/05 12/31/10


Aspen Systems Corporation Building Efficiency PMC $16,133,900 $11,158,748 $4,975,152 7/1/05 12/31/07


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


New Homes and Products - 


PMC


$8,325,265 $2,422,787 $5,902,478 1/1/07 12/31/08


Science Applications 


International Corporation


NBE - PMC $7,460,911 $4,064,299 $3,396,612 1/1/06 12/31/07


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit $584,000 $466,161 $117,839 4/27/04 4/26/08


Multiple Cntractors Solar Water Heating $539,102 $419,112 $119,990


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


BTO 2007 $261,586 $33,699 $227,887 1/1/07 12/31/07


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. $210,000 $0 $210,000 5/25/07 2/28/08


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation $190,000 $135,808 $54,192 1/26/06 9/30/07


HST&V, LLC PE Impact Evaluation $180,000 $167,933 $12,067 12/1/05 6/30/07


ADM Associates, Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation $150,000 $68,876 $81,124 8/1/06 7/31/07


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer $137,500 $59,117 $78,383 8/15/03 8/15/10


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services $90,000 $31,525 $58,475 1/1/06 12/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Sgl Fam Load 


Research MOU


$87,500 $76,139 $11,361 7/21/05 7/31/07


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


$74,000 $55,600 $18,400 6/20/06 9/30/07


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services $70,000 $53,653 $16,348 2/21/06 6/30/07


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation $68,500 $17,631 $50,869 11/15/06 7/31/07


Dethman & Associates BTU Program Evaluation $50,000 $48,580 $1,420 12/1/05 7/31/07


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Regional HVAC Forum 


Research


$41,000 $41,000 $0 10/16/06 10/15/07


Cascade Natural Gas Corporation Cascade WA Study $40,000 $124 $39,876 4/30/07 7/31/07


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum 


Sponsor.


$35,000 $35,000 $0 2/28/07 2/27/08


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services $26,500 $0 $26,500 4/17/07 3/31/08


Thornton Energy, Inc. dba 


Thornton Energy Consulting


Casey Project Energy Star 


LEED


$25,000 $0 $25,000 4/1/07 12/31/07


EQUIPOISE CONSULTING, INC. Irrigation Process Evaluation $18,000 $16,444 $1,556 10/1/06 5/31/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


$17,000 $0 $17,000 4/19/07 6/30/08


HST&V, LLC Monitor SP Newsprint 


Megaprjct


$15,000 $2,154 $12,846 4/1/07 10/31/07


Lane Community College Scholarship agreement $14,400 $0 $14,400 1/1/07 12/31/07


Conservation Services Group New Construct HVAC Pilot $11,610 $9,861 $1,750 1/1/07 6/29/07


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Regional Server Study $7,500 $7,500 $0 1/31/07 6/30/07


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship $5,000 $0 $5,000 3/27/07 3/26/08


Energy Efficiency Total: $112,359,871 $59,855,765 $52,504,106


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services $1,435,000 $577,823 $857,177 5/1/04 4/30/08


Quantum Consulting, Inc. Evaluation Services $350,000 $314,876 $35,124 8/1/04 6/30/07


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services $62,000 $21,717 $40,283 1/1/06 12/31/07







R00407 6/26/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 6/26/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 5/31/07 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Research Into Action, Inc. PMC Model Evaluation $60,000 $30,458 $29,542 12/18/06 6/30/07


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services $52,440 $9,281 $43,159 1/1/06 12/31/07


RLW Analytics, Inc. Evaluation services $51,000 $48,859 $2,141 9/1/05 6/30/07


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services $38,500 $0 $38,500 4/19/07 12/31/07


Platts E-Source Membership $33,040 $33,040 $0 5/1/05 4/30/08


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services $23,610 $6,567 $17,043 4/1/06 3/31/08


HST&V, LLC Planning Services $17,550 $9,945 $7,606 1/1/06 12/31/07


Brien Sipe Professional Services $15,000 $1,140 $13,860 5/1/07 12/31/07


Dorothy Payton Solar services $15,000 $13,966 $1,034 12/23/05 12/31/07


Joint Programs Total: $2,153,140 $1,067,671 $1,085,469


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 $6,000,000 $0 $6,000,000 6/18/07 6/30/28


Multiple Cntractors Solar Electric $5,091,585 $4,470,237 $621,348


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East $2,250,000 $0 $2,250,000 9/20/06 12/31/07


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills West $2,250,000 $0 $2,250,000 9/20/06 12/31/07


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding Agreement $1,685,088 $0 $1,685,088 7/21/06 7/21/26


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project $475,000 $0 $475,000 2/17/04 2/17/25


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


$362,000 $0 $362,000 2/24/06 3/13/28


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring $341,266 $310,509 $30,757 2/21/03 2/21/08


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program $235,906 $223,606 $12,300 10/1/02 9/30/07


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


$186,910 $186,910 $0 9/1/05 9/1/25


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services $87,700 $69,977 $17,723 3/1/05 12/31/07


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV $79,815 $24,371 $55,444 12/1/05 12/1/26


Evergreen Energy Corporation RE consultant services $78,200 $61,033 $17,167 4/1/06 12/31/07


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects $55,500 $22,200 $33,300 9/25/06 12/31/07


RHT Energy Solutions RE Consultant Services $42,500 $32,900 $9,600 12/1/06 12/31/07


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs $42,000 $7,350 $34,650 3/14/06 3/31/08


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) $38,391 $0 $38,391 7/1/07 6/30/08


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind 


System


$36,117 $0 $36,117 4/28/05 4/28/25


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study $36,000 $0 $36,000 12/27/06 12/14/07


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School $35,000 $0 $35,000 12/10/04 12/10/29


Columbia Energy Partners, LLC Interconnection Study Grant $35,000 $10,000 $25,000 9/20/06 9/30/07


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services $34,200 $6,175 $28,025 4/27/07 4/30/08


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project $32,500 $0 $32,500 5/25/07 5/25/27


David Barenberg dba Barenberg 


& Associates


Professional Services - RE $30,000 $0 $30,000 5/10/07 4/30/08


PWP, Inc. Wind RFP Process Eval $30,000 $27,610 $2,390 11/17/06 8/31/07


City of Astoria Public Works Dept Astoria Hydro/Wind feasibility $25,000 $0 $25,000 3/8/07 8/31/07


Port of Morrow Port of Morrow biomass feas. $25,000 $0 $25,000 2/8/07 7/31/07


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system $24,125 $0 $24,125 4/11/07 12/31/22


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower 


Feasibility


$23,963 $0 $23,963 10/2/06 10/1/07


Inland Pacific Energy Center LLC IPEC Biomass Feasibility 


Study


$23,000 $0 $23,000 11/7/06 9/15/07


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study $22,000 $0 $22,000 1/30/07 1/15/08


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study $20,000 $0 $20,000 2/15/07 3/1/08


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant $19,845 $7,355 $12,490 5/9/06 12/31/07


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services $17,400 $12,388 $5,013 10/1/06 10/31/07







R00407 6/26/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 6/26/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 5/31/07 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services $15,000 $2,691 $12,309 1/25/07 12/31/07


Warren Griffin Griffen Wind Project $13,150 $803 $12,348 10/1/05 10/1/20


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service $13,000 $10,285 $2,715 12/6/05 12/31/07


Northwest SEED Gervais Biopower USDA App. $12,467 $0 $12,467 12/1/06 12/31/07


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA $11,400 $0 $11,400 3/21/07 12/31/07


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC RE Consultant Services $11,000 $2,000 $9,000 4/5/06 3/31/08


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting $8,000 $0 $8,000 5/31/06 5/31/08


OSEIA-Oregon Solar Energy 


Industries Assoc


OSEIA Funding Grant $6,000 $0 $6,000 5/25/07 1/31/08


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy 


fund MOU


$5,000 $0 $5,000 10/4/06 10/1/07


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant $4,400 $0 $4,400 4/2/07 12/31/07


David W. McClain RETAA $3,125 $0 $3,125 5/11/07 4/30/08


Renewable Energy Total: $19,873,553 $5,488,400 $14,385,154


$139,687,662 $68,642,226 $71,045,435Grand Totals:








 
 
Finance Report 
June 30, 2007 
 
Review June 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 
Nothing unusual; Energy Trust continues to build cash balances over year with significant expenditures 
occurring late in 2007.  Expect to finish 2007 with a little over $50 million in cash and escrows. 
 
Income Statements 
 
Overall 
 


Variances are generally improving this month over the previous months, with expenditures 
tracking more closely to budget. The residential sector (existing homes) is overspending its gas 
budget which is a positive program outcome. Revised revenue forecasts from the electric 
utilities have been incorporated into the forecasting (but not the budget) for the remainder of 
the year, but they are not expected to influence future variances significantly. Specific variances 
are described below. 


 
Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $2.3 million (7.1% variance) 
o Emails sent to the three primary utilities to seek explanations of variances 


§ PGE sent revised forecast for July through December: 
• Reflects adjustments for future residential exchange impact and 


inclusion of Port Westward; still unclear as to full impact of change in 
residential exchange calculations 


§ PacifiCorp sent revision as well 
• Generally higher than previous forecast $300K; Energy Trust portion 


approximately $220K. 
• Based on most current information 


§ NW Natural did not reforecast 
• Based on prior year’s actual customer count and volumes through 


appropriate rate schedules 
• Next year will try normalized volumes; what would be expected if the 


weather were normal in every month; should reduce degree of variation 
• CRC Revenue under budget by $400 thousand 


o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 
remainder of year, unless overturned 
§ Will only get $550,000 from PGE versus $1,100,000 budgeted 
§ Will get nothing from PacifiCorp versus $800,000 budgeted 
§ Total year CRC variance expected to be $1,350,000 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $344 thousand (30% variance) 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 
o Offset partially by actual interest rates coming in slightly lower than budgeted 


 
 
 







Finance Report     June 30, 2007 


 2 


Expenses 
• Expenses overall below budget by $3.8 million (17.4% variance from budget) 


o By line item 
§ Program management, delivery, marketing $842 thousand (22% of expense 


variance) 
• Delivery primarily in commercial sector, then residential, then industrial 
• PMC marketing variance primarily in residential sector 


§ Incentives $730 thousand (19% of expense variance) Declining variance from 
prior month 


• Commercial sector (80% of incentive variance) 
o New buildings—staff shortage impeding project completions 
o Existing buildings—temporary delay in project completions 


• Industrial sector (63.5% of incentive variance) 
o Reflects shift of a major project from April to July 


• Overspent in residential sector (-133.5% of incentive variance) 
o Spring lighting and washer campaigns going better than expected 
o Retrofit projects also much better than expected 


• Renewable energy (90% of incentive variance) 
o Primarily solar 


§ Professional services $1.8 million (46% of expense variance) 
• Evaluations—delays in scheduling of some large evaluations  


o EB, NB and PE—work expected to begin in August 
o EH—work just began in June 


• Renewables inspection and project analyses 
• Delayed contracting of IT consultants resulting from delay in letting of 


contract for enterprise architecture study and its results 
• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 


based on study results and system evaluations 
o By division 
§ Energy efficiency 
§ 2.5 million under spent from budget (13.5%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $3.1M 
• Good news-gas efficiency over spent $600K 


§ Renewable energy   
§ $1.3 million under spent from budget (41%)—solar, wind and biopower 


programs 
 


• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 
o 5.4%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year in May was 5.5% 








JUN MAY JUN Change from Change from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 63,309,684 62,955,094 48,864,544 354,590 14,445,140
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 6,899,218 6,873,606 475,000 25,612 6,424,218
  Receivables 41,808 40,509 42,240 1,299 (433)
  Prepaid Expenses 65,346 70,317 14,023 (4,971) 51,323
  Advances to Vendors 1,036,638 1,347,877 1,013,374 (311,239) 23,264


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 71,352,694 71,287,404 50,409,181 65,290 20,943,512


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 825,164 825,164 782,851 -                        42,313
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                        -                        
  Office Equipment and Furniture 70,721 70,721 65,620 -                        5,100


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,009,227 1,009,227 961,814 -                       47,413
  Less Depreciation (906,454) (896,781) (676,936) (9,672) (229,518)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 102,774 112,446 284,879 (9,672) (182,105)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 36,412 36,412 36,412 -                        -                        
  Deferred Compensation Asset 31,916 30,620 16,328 1,296 15,587


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 68,327 67,031 52,740 1,296 15,587


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 71,523,795 71,466,881 50,746,800 56,913 20,776,995


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,293,573 4,000,418 1,950,703 (706,845) 1,342,870
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 270,672 273,987 235,949 (3,315) 34,723
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue 5,000 5,000 5,000 -                        -                        


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,569,245 4,279,405 2,191,652 (710,160) 1,377,593


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 179,874 181,282 171,548 (1,407) 8,326
   Deferred Compensation Payable 31,916 30,620 16,328 1,296 15,587
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 13,176 13,176 750 -                        12,426


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 224,966 225,077 188,627 (111) 36,340


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,794,211 4,504,482 2,380,279 (710,271) 1,413,932


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/Unrestricted Net Assets 18,652,846 17,885,661 11,822,608 767,185 6,830,238
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 6,899,218 6,873,606 475,000 25,612 6,424,218
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE 12,500,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 -                        -                        
  Board Designated Net Assets - P'Corp -                        -                        4,500,000 -                        (4,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,450,833 29,476,446 18,842,227 (25,612) 10,608,606
  Temp. Restricted Net Assets-Beg. of Year 226,686 226,686 226,686 -                        -                        


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 67,729,584 66,962,399 48,366,521 767,185 19,363,062


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 71,523,795 71,466,881 50,746,800 56,913 20,776,995


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon
BALANCE SHEET


June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$     4,713,766$     3,733,210$     3,257,960$     2,244,730$     767,185$        18,652,846$    


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338            23,099            23,100            7,501             7,170             9,673             93,881$           
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)            (1,408)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (8,444)$           


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)            (11,344)          8,535             (5,843)            9,599             (3,922)            (5,308)$           
Other Receivables 16,967            5,067             (4,871)            (5,500)            972                2,623             15,258$           
Advances to Vendors 309,115          301,027          (541,037)         224,790          (638,949)         311,239          (33,815)$         
Other Assets 7,512             5,142             5,914             7,234             (30,582)          3,676             (1,104)$           
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061            (33,920)          294,536          214,451          1,420,371       (345,796)         1,593,703$      
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)      (444,990)         (228,674)         55,972            11,765            (265,790)         (4,307,478)$     
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)          16,781            (13,143)          (9,489)            20,644            (28,483)          (28,912)$         
A/P - Operations (75,882)          31,845            (54)                 18,070            57,697            (66,776)          (35,100)$         
Payroll and related accruals 6,620             27,020            (10,839)          15,311            (6,262)            (3,315)            28,535$           
Other long-term liabilities -                 (2,646)            -                 -                 16,944            1,296             15,594$           


Cash rec'd from / (used in)


         Operating Activies 813,004          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          15,979,656      


Investing Activites:


Acquisition of Capital Assets (35,874)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (35,874)$         


Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)          -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (35,874)           


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120     55,042,250     59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     54,265,120      


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          15,943,782      


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$   59,671,689$   62,936,958$   66,716,008$   69,828,700$   70,208,902$   70,208,902$    


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-F-02


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711     7,119,632       6,525,491       5,727,906       5,502,427       4,467,534       4,054,704       4,367,090       4,277,082       4,078,625       4,555,811       5,485,837        


  Investment Income 224,763        198,968         261,255         259,515         283,915         272,704         275,000         250,000         250,000         250,000         200,000         100,000           


Total cash in 6,266,474     7,318,600       6,786,746       5,987,421       5,786,342       4,740,238       4,329,704       4,617,090       4,527,082       4,328,625       4,755,811       5,585,837        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 811,814        835,290         1,446,011       648,784         511,496         1,351,162       942,332         936,689         2,069,113       1,039,807       1,039,807       1,958,135        


    Incentives 4,008,889     1,270,029       1,511,745       976,287         1,382,467       2,198,130       2,912,724       2,917,966       3,222,453       3,290,569       4,062,453       13,496,991      


    Salaries and related expense 318,210        331,121         336,260         337,468         354,640         339,038         367,397         367,397         367,397         367,397         367,397         540,908           


    Professional services 146,199        198,709         152,383         201,102         308,139         332,535         304,052         523,041         522,381         524,281         508,156         508,556           


    General operating expenses 204,232        54,012           75,078           44,730           116,908         139,171         91,074           156,046         162,193         181,684         157,869         149,547           


Total cash out 5,489,344     2,689,161       3,521,477       2,208,371       2,673,650       4,360,036       4,617,579       4,901,139       6,343,537       5,403,738       6,135,682       16,654,137      


Net cash flow for the month 777,130        4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202         (287,875)        (284,049)        (1,816,455)     (1,075,113)     (1,379,871)     (11,068,300)     


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120   55,042,250     59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     70,208,902     69,921,027     69,636,977     67,820,522     66,745,408     65,365,537      


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250   59,671,689     62,936,958     66,716,008     69,828,700     70,208,902     69,921,027     69,636,977     67,820,522     66,745,408     65,365,537     54,297,236      


Forecast 2007-F-05Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-05 & 2008-F-02


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,236,032      7,346,291       6,705,691       5,884,180       5,121,749       4,622,308       4,197,094       4,518,851       4,426,143       4,221,733       4,713,234       5,671,161       


178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         178,187         


6,414,219      7,524,478       6,883,878       6,062,367       5,299,936       4,800,495       4,375,281       4,697,038       4,604,330       4,399,920       4,891,421       5,849,348       


1,064,373      2,192,240       2,959,117       900,635         838,273         1,736,303       850,382         850,382         1,731,311       870,029         870,029         1,915,064       


1,508,401      1,844,511       2,123,970       2,161,005       2,011,150       2,830,164       2,514,212       2,146,509       3,056,435       3,127,868       7,190,117       19,692,823     


383,834         383,834         383,834         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         378,890         


2,293,364      505,525         505,525         505,525         510,482         504,382         512,177         512,583         511,923         513,823         489,102         489,502         


487,451         174,764         169,967         170,650         164,394         158,363         160,679         158,769         165,101         185,176         160,982         152,410         


5,737,423      5,100,874       6,142,413       4,116,705       3,903,189       5,608,102       4,416,340       4,047,133       5,843,660       5,075,786       9,089,120       22,628,689     


676,796         2,423,604       741,465         1,945,662       1,396,747       (807,607)        (41,059)          649,905         (1,239,330)     (675,866)        (4,197,699)     (16,779,341)    


54,297,236    54,974,032     57,397,636     58,139,102     60,084,764     61,481,511     60,673,904     60,632,845     61,282,750     60,043,420     59,367,555     55,169,856     


54,974,032    57,397,636     58,139,102     60,084,764     61,481,511     60,673,904     60,632,845     61,282,750     60,043,420     59,367,555     55,169,856     38,390,515     


Forecast 2008-F-02







June YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,335,562 2,216,791 118,770 16,362,594 15,077,391 1,285,203


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,514,873 1,488,746 26,127 10,749,850 10,035,358 714,492


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 559,073 585,322 (26,249) 7,013,759 6,684,934 328,826


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 44,956 39,577 5,379 626,758 615,822 10,936


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 81,741 111,200 (29,459)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,467,534 4,358,236 109,298 34,834,701 32,524,704 2,309,997


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE -                 183,333 (183,333) 550,000 550,000 -                 


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp -                 133,333 (133,333) -                 400,000 (400,000)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit -                316,667 (316,667) 550,000 950,000 (400,000)


Revenue from Investments 276,626 193,753 82,873 1,506,428 1,162,519 343,909
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 4,744,160 4,868,656 (124,496) 36,891,129 34,637,223 2,253,905
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,320,524 1,380,847 60,323 7,195,297 8,037,039 841,742


Incentives 1,932,340 1,801,685 (130,655) 7,040,068 7,770,397 730,329


Salaries and Related Expenses 335,723 367,397 31,674 2,045,272 2,218,783 173,511


Professional Services 304,052 505,642 201,591 1,310,154 3,095,362 1,785,208


Supplies 1,262 3,354 2,092 12,953 28,625 15,671


Telephone 3,792 6,346 2,554 20,171 38,075 17,904


Postage and Shipping Expenses (414) 3,196 3,610 3,557 32,325 28,768


Occupancy Expenses 31,707 31,348 (358) 190,373 188,090 (2,283)


Noncapitalized Equipment and Depreciation 12,449 18,796 6,347 139,004 164,144 25,139


Call Center 11,587 18,397 6,811 86,020 116,733 30,713


Printing and Publications (949) 14,558 15,507 46,490 93,550 47,060


Travel 9,230 18,683 9,454 44,340 106,101 61,760


Conference, Training and Meeting Expenses 9,862 19,179 9,317 52,454 112,322 59,868


Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                 1,500 1,500 338 9,000 8,662


Insurance 4,640 5,000 360 26,757 30,000 3,243


Miscellaneous Expenses 81 2,124 2,043 1,131 11,577 10,446


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,092 5,331 4,239 23,902 31,285 7,383
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 3,976,975 4,203,384 226,409 18,238,283 22,083,408 3,845,126
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 767,185 665,272 101,913 18,652,846 12,553,815 6,099,031
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







The Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 13,224,358 1,011,007 14,235,365 -                          -                          -                          14,235,365
Payroll and Related Expenses 457,954 323,809 781,763 502,318 196,238 698,556 1,480,319
Outsourced Services 603,728 171,529 775,257 135,562 145,331 280,893 1,056,150
Planning and Evaluation 333,517 40,133 373,650 6,919 -                          6,919 380,569
Customer Service Management 161,927 16,112 178,039 -                          -                          -                          178,039


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------


Total Program Expenses 14,781,484 1,562,590 16,344,074 644,799 341,569 986,368 17,330,442


Program Support Costs


Supplies 2,276 1,851 4,127 2,566 1,917 4,483 8,610
Postage and Shipping Expenses (114) 569 455 1,821 324 2,145 2,600
Telephone 1,952 1,339 3,291 1,299 368 1,667 4,958
Printing and Publications 20,326 2,602 22,928 2,449 17,864 20,313 43,241
Occupancy Expenses 44,006 30,898 74,904 40,262 18,995 59,257 134,161
Insurance 6,185 4,343 10,528 5,659 2,670 8,329 18,857
Equipment 1,860 1,306 3,166 1,701 831 2,532 5,698
Travel 17,469 7,454 24,923 12,993 771 13,764 38,687
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 8,342 5,947 14,289 29,595 2,377 31,972 46,261
Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                          250 250 88 -                          88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 4,087 2,870 6,957 3,739 1,764 5,503 12,460
Dues, Licenses and Fees 17,146 644 17,790 3,404 2,356 5,760 23,550
Miscellaneous Expenses 217 126 343 302 86 388 731
IT Services 381,029 62,164 443,193 93,499 30,998 124,497 567,690


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------


Total Program Support Costs 504,781 122,361 627,142 199,377 81,321 280,698 907,840


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 15,286,266 1,684,950 16,971,216 844,177 422,890 1,267,067 18,238,283
=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.4%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002







The Energy Trust of Oregon
YEAR TO DATE BY PROGRAM / SERVICE TERRITORY


For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $12,668,973 $8,257,783 $7,013,759 $626,758 $81,741 $28,649,013 $3,693,621 $2,492,067 $6,185,688 $34,834,701
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 550,000 550,000
Revenue from Investments 1,506,428 1,506,428


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 13,218,973 8,257,783 7,013,759 626,758 81,741 29,199,013 3,693,621 2,492,067 6,185,688 1,506,428 36,891,129
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 530,640 397,062 351,302 29,674 11,281 1,319,959 204,623 119,184 323,807 1,643,766
  Program Delivery 2,672,871 2,020,780 823,006 78,113 37,289 5,632,059 9,714 44,670 54,384 5,686,443
  Incentives 2,320,009 2,060,608 1,598,452 92,241 12,134 6,083,444 541,089 415,535 956,624 7,040,068
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 202,124 170,391 114,920 7,203 2,079 496,717 34,528 26,891 61,419 558,136
  Program Marketing/Outreach 263,402 196,446 501,680 19,804 8,458 989,791 29,302 21,603 50,905 1,040,696
  Program Legal Services 2,482 1,927 2,704 143 41 7,296 12,130 2,069 14,199 21,495
  Program Quality Assurance 18,999 15,089 17,828 1,365 509 53,790 -                  -                  -                  53,790
  Outsourced  Services 11,396 5,552 19,291 261 -                  36,499 51,252 33,887 85,139 121,638
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 52,493 37,487 68,960 2,562 426 161,928 7,099 9,013 16,112 178,040
  IT Services 149,241 113,983 107,786 7,573 2,447 381,030 38,890 23,274 62,164 443,194
  Other Program Expenses 50,816 39,239 31,380 1,897 421 123,753 36,226 23,971 60,197 183,950


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 6,274,474 5,058,563 3,637,309 240,835 75,086 15,286,266 964,854 720,096 1,684,950 16,971,216
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 312,103 251,621 180,926 11,980 3,735 760,365 47,994 35,819 83,812 844,177
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 157,983 98,691 83,823 7,491 977 348,964 44,143 29,783 73,926 422,890


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  Total Administrative Costs 470,086 350,312 264,749 19,470 4,712 1,109,328 92,137 65,602 157,739 1,267,067
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


  TOTAL PROG. & ADMIN EXPENSES 6,744,560 5,408,875 3,902,058 260,305 79,798 16,395,594 1,056,991 785,698 1,842,689 18,238,283
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------- ------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 6,474,413 2,848,908 3,111,701 366,453 1,943 12,803,419 2,636,630 1,706,369 4,342,999 1,506,428 18,652,846
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ========== =============


Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ========== =============


 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 19,599,960 (4,436,722) 9,982,252 459,745 119,782 25,725,018 28,154,256 12,595,371 40,749,627 1,254,936 67,729,584


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. UtilitiesNatural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency
Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 1,308,799 944,720 2,253,519 2,035,600 52,391 2,087,991 4,341,510 4,047,166 (294,344)         
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Produc 1,504,387 1,014,279 2,518,666 1,081,129 172,793 79,798 1,333,720 3,852,386 4,013,432 161,046           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 311,287 233,593 544,880 -                       544,880 565,009 20,129            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Residential 3,124,473 2,192,592 5,317,065 3,116,729 225,184 79,798 3,421,711 8,738,776 8,625,607 (113,169)


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 742,054 546,466 1,288,520 576,015 17,570 593,585 1,882,105 2,984,089 1,101,984        
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 907,911 393,439 1,301,350 209,309 17,554 226,863 1,528,213 2,096,735 568,522           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 485,826 364,569 850,395 -                       850,395 941,650 91,255            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Commercial 2,135,791 1,304,474 3,440,265 785,324 35,124 820,448 4,260,713 6,022,474 1,761,761


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficien 1,179,581 1,683,144 2,862,725 -                       2,862,725 3,721,649 858,924           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 304,716 228,660 533,376 -                       533,376 583,388 50,012            


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Industrial 1,484,297 1,911,804 3,396,101 -                      3,396,101 4,305,037 908,936


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 6,744,560 5,408,875 12,153,435 3,902,058 260,305 79,798 4,242,161 16,395,595 18,953,118 2,557,528
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


Renewables
Utility Scale Projects 78,510 14,617 93,127 -                       93,127 209,473 116,346           
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 462,891 585,401 1,048,292 -                       1,048,292 1,566,631 518,339           
Wind 51,633 138,475 190,108 -                       190,108 481,929 291,821           
Open Solicitation 308,197 20,216 328,413 -                       328,413 406,876 78,463            
Biopower 155,760 26,988 182,748 -                       182,748 465,381 282,633           


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 1,056,991 785,698 1,842,689 -                      1,842,689 3,130,290 1,287,602      
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------------------------ --------------------


  Cost Grand Total 7,801,552 6,194,567 13,996,124 3,902,053 260,308 79,798 4,242,161 18,238,283 22,083,408 3,845,126


The Energy Trust of Oregon
Program Expenses by Service Territory
For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2007







MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD
OVER/ OVER/ OVER/ OVER/


ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER) ACTUAL BUDGET (UNDER)


Outsourced Services $68,715 $122,909 ($54,194) $120,179 $228,818 ($108,638) $74,555 $80,125 ($5,570) $145,331 $146,425 ($1,094)


Legal Services 4,781 26,460 (21,679) 15,383 52,920 (37,537) 960 (960) 1,920 (1,920)


Salaries and Related Expenses 255,837 247,919 7,918 502,318 510,237 (7,920) 102,251 86,794 15,457 196,238 173,588 22,649


Supplies 326 2,762 (2,436) 506 5,525 (5,019) 150 (150) 946 300 646


Telephone 357 338 20 518 675 (157) 1,500 (1,500) 3,000 (3,000)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 790 788 2 1,135 1,575 (440) 13,150 (13,150)


Noncapitalized Equipment 28 300 (272) 28 600 (572)


Printing and Publications 20 150 (130) 122 300 (178) 5,457 8,375 (2,918) 16,767 27,950 (11,183)


Travel 9,273 13,525 (4,252) 12,991 27,050 (14,059) 498 1,625 (1,127) 770 3,250 (2,480)


Conference, Training & Mtngs 21,410 31,140 (9,730) 29,589 61,280 (31,691) 1,200 2,875 (1,675) 2,374 5,750 (3,376)


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 15 4,500 (4,485) 88 9,000 (8,912)


Miscellaneous Expenses 301 300 1 302 600 (298) 81 81 86 86


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,487 3,171 (684) 3,151 5,903 (2,751) 945 1,191 (246) 2,237 2,382 (146)


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 24,075 29,793 (5,719) 57,476 59,587 (2,111) 11,962 12,048 (86) 27,116 24,097 3,019


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 47,116 64,434 (17,319) 93,499 145,314 (51,815) 15,620 21,362 (5,742) 30,998 48,176 (17,178)


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,781 4,944 (1,163) 6,919 10,023 (3,104)
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 439,284 553,133 (113,848) 844,177 1,118,807 (274,630) 212,598 217,306 (4,708) 422,890 450,589 (27,699)
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended June 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$10,000


$20,000


$30,000


$40,000


January February March April May June


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


January February March April May June


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-


$500


$1,000


$1,500


$2,000


$2,500


January February March April May June


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Actual
Budget


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$1,000


$2,000


$3,000


$4,000


$5,000


$6,000


$7,000


$8,000


$9,000


January February March April May June


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Actual


Budget








 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated March 28, 2007 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


4 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
(Proposal to merge this category with Service incentives once method to determine tax 
status incorporated into FastTrack rather than requiring GL coding.) 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
III. Service Incentives 


• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 
to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 
Indirect Costs 


• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 
charges to programs.  


• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


5 


IT Support Services  
• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 
contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 


• Trade ally training pertaining to program delivery (Steve proposing to move to Service Incentives 
pending PUC staff approval, as it’s Market Transformation activity and TA participants as well as 
customers are beneficiaries.) 


 
Program Legal Services 


• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-
specific contract. 


 
Program Management Expense  


• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 
etc. 


• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 
 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


6 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


Ø Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
Ø Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


7 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 
True Up 


• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 
energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 
 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
May 15, 2007, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending from the committee: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds 
 
Attending from Energy Trust staff: Phil Degens, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Elaine Prause, Jan 
Schaeffer, Adam Serchuk, Jill Steiner 
 
1. Cascade Gas study 
 
Margie reviewed Energy Trust contacts with Cascade Natural Gas, the Washington Transportation and 
Utility Commission and OPUC regarding the possibility of Energy Trust serving Cascade customers in 
Washington. She will discuss this subject further for 30 minutes with each commissioner individually 
Monday, as an add-on to discussions on another topic. Energy Trust has agreed to study the efficacy of 
serving Cascade in Washington and has entered into a $30,000 contract with Cascade to do this.  
 
Jason said he talked to John Savage today. He thinks we share the commissioners’ concerns about not 
diluting our efforts in Oregon. Margie says she has capacity concerns of her own. She believes the 
exercise of doing the study will help inform us on the merits and challenges of growth. Depending on 
how these questions are answered, we’ll have more to discuss. Margie will identify other stakeholders 
(such as BOMA) with interests in Washington. She will provide answers to a set of questions from 
OPUC. Jason concluded that, even if the study concludes favorably on our taking on Cascade in 
Washington, we would not go there if the Washington commission did not want us, nor are we likely to 
if OPUC is strongly opposed.  
 
2. Program delivery model evaluation  
 
Phil Degens reviewed a short presentation prepared for delivery to the CAC tomorrow. He reviewed 
background on study methodology and focused on our decision to review the Production Efficiency 
model. Steve explained we propose two options for changing the way we run the Production Efficiency 
model. One option adds two FTEs (technical manager and industrial coordinator) and has Energy Trust 
contract directly with PDCs and ATACs. The other option shifts the role of the PMC to technical 
review/assignment of studies and incentive offer reviews. Under this option, Energy Trust also would 
contract directly with PDCs and ATACs. Staff prefers the first option. Intent is to get feedback from 
CAC and other stakeholders and to share the report findings and CAC input with the ET board at its 
June strategic planning workshop. 
 
3. CAC members 
 
Steve proposes replacing Ken Keating with Karen Meadows of BPA, replacing Susan Steward of BOMA 
with Bruce Dobbs of NW Natural (but representing BOMA), and adding Christine Kautzman of Cascade 
Natural Gas. The committee concurred.   







Policy Committee Notes  May 15, 2007 
 


2 


 
4. Implementing changes in response to legislation 
 
Margie presented an initial staff draft plan created by Fred and Jill. Specific schedules would be 
established with additional staff and OPUC involvement. Jason noted the issue that SB 838 creates 
around large customers, who are exempted from any increased charges for efficiency beyond 1149. 
Jason expressed concern over PGE’s apparent intent to file its IRP for efficiency ahead of filing its IRP for 
renewables. This represents approximately 1.3-1.5% proposing about $15M per year on the energy 
efficiency side.  We are also working with Pacific Power on their IRP. Jason recognizes SB 838 would 
significantly increase Energy Trust’s budget.  
 
Responding to a question from John, Adam said the discussion framed for the board in June starts with 
what success would look like for renewables, and then how to achieve it. Should we invest more in 
development (of, for example, wave power)? Should we buy turbines in bulk to support community 
energy?  
 
Margie distributed an agenda for the strategic planning workshop. Jason noted the importance of 
providing enough time for the board to talk among themselves. He is concerned about breaking the 
agenda into 45 minute chunks and wonders if the board can discipline their discussion to stay within 
these boundaries. Jason and John suggested having a discussion on efficiency and incremental funding, 
followed by a discussion of implications for renewables, with time toward the end of the first day’s 
agenda for the board to sum up.  








 
 
 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
July 17, 2007, 5:00-7:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, Lizzie Giles, Tom Foley, Caddy McKeown (by telephone), John 
Reynolds, Fred Gordon, Steve Lacey, Elaine Prause, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaefer, Jill Steiner, 
Peter West, and John Volkman. 
 
1. Production Efficiency Program delivery model.  
Elaine provided background: The PE program is not broken – it is functioning reasonably well. 
The program delivery model evaluation identified a couple of areas where the program could 
function better, however: complications in communications, program management and potential 
lack of program continuity when program management contracts are rebid.  
 
Staff proposes to eliminate a management layer that contributes to these complications and 
bring those management functions in-house. Otherwise, the program structure be unchanged.  
 
Staff contacted a number of program participant regarding this idea. Most were unaware of 
these management issues and either indifferent to the proposal or supported the principle of 
simplifying management. One firm did not like the idea on the theory that having the ability to 
appeal to two different levels of management could work to its advantage. All firms said that it is 
essential for the program to have appropriate technical expertise.  
 
Most of the program’s expertise would remain with sub-contractors. Staff has received 
expressions of interest from individuals with the required technical management expertise.  
 
The committee thought the staff’s recommendation was responsive to the board’s concerns. 
 
2. Cascade/Washington expansion study.  
Staff has completed phase one of its study of the idea of expanding efficiency programs into 
Washington, and at this point sees no show-stoppers. Phase one does not cover organizational, 
tax and legal ramifications. Phase two of the study, which will be finished by the end of July, will 
include these matters. If Energy Trust managed these programs, it would require two additional 
FTEs, and an additional contract employee in the first year. We assume the initial contract for 
program management would be for a 2-3 year term. 
 
The Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission is generally neutral on the idea of 
Energy Trust administrating Cascade’s Washington programs. They are sensitive to the idea of 
having Washington expertise in energy conservation, and want to be sure this would not just be 
a way for Cascade to get rid of its energy conservation responsibility. The WUTC does feel the 
numeric conservation goals assumed in the study are fair. The Oregon PUC wants to be sure 
expansion would have no impact on Energy Trust’s ability to continue to expand its services in 
Oregon, and is reserving judgment until the phase two study is complete.  
 
Committee members said several factors would influence their reaction to the prospect of 
expansion: whether expansion would offer opportunities for innovation and/or significant impact 







Policy Committee notes  July 17, 2007 


 2


that Energy Trust would not otherwise have; whether expansion would be a platform for 
providing similar services for other utilities in Washington. The committee asked that staff 
schedule a meeting of the Policy and Strategic Planning Committees to review this matter before 
August 8 and after the phase two study is complete and staff has a recommendation. 
 
3. Renewable energy program: 
 a. Green tags and new homes. For some years, Energy Trust has been trying to 
interest builders in installing solar on new homes and we now believe we have succeeded. 
Initially, this would be a relatively small number of homes, perhaps 35. The question is how we 
can apply Energy Trust’s green tag policy, which normally would require Energy Trust to take 
title to all green tags associated with these homes. However, at the time Energy Trust pays 
incentives to the builders, no green tags actually exist (because green tags are created by 
generating renewable energy, not before) and the ultimate owner of the green tags is unknown. 
We have discussed two options with builders: (1) having the builder assign green tags to Energy 
Trust when the incentive is paid (and assuming that is legally effective), which allows us to 
comply with the policy; or (2) exempting from the green tag policy new homes with solar. 
However, the builders’ reactions range from mild distaste to staunch opposition. For the latter 
builders, dealing with green tag complications would be a deal-breaker, they would simply not 
install solar. We have discussed this matter with the OPUC, which generally takes the view that 
Energy Trust needs to acquire green tags for residential projects. While they would like the 
same policy to apply here, they would not object to an exemption from this policy if builders are 
adamant. The committee asked that when the matter goes to the board, staff make the case for 
the value to Energy Trust of waiving the policy for new homes. If that case is strong, the 
committee could endorse a temporary (2-3 year) waiver to see if the effort is paying off. 
 b. Renewable energy goals/performance measures. Peter provided his analysis of 
the generation Energy Trust might expect to develop over the 2009-2016 period. The analysis is 
based on a number of assumptions, including that the federal production tax credit continues. 
The analysis estimates a low case of 4-5 megawatts of generation per year, and a high case of 6-
8.5 megawatts per year. After further work on the analysis, staff would discuss performance 
measures with the OPUC staff. 
 c. “Constructing and operating” language in SB 838. At the June retreat, Alan 
Meyer asked if, in saying that public purpose funds must be used to defray the above-market 
cost of “constructing and operating” renewable energy resources, the Renewable Energy Act 
imposed a new limitation on Energy Trust funding. Staff has reviewed the issue and the OPUC is 
discussing it with the Oregon Attorney General’s office, with no result as yet. 
 
4. Briefings: 


• SB 994: an update on a bill that would take $4.6 million from the public purpose 
fund and use it to retire an OMSI loan. The Governor is still considering the matter. 


• To-do list from June 8-9 meeting: staff’s list of follow-up tasks from the June retreat. 
• Program management contract rebids: there were four notices of intent to respond 


to the Existing Buildings and Home Energy Solutions request-for-proposals, but only 
CSG submitted proposals. A review panel with two outside and three internal 
reviewers awarded high scores to the CSG proposals and we intend to award the 
contracts accordingly. The committee noted that more competition for these 
contracts would be healthy. Steve said that CSG is perceived by competitors to be a 
highly credible firm, which may have discouraged other firms from investing in 
proposals. In addition, we may be seeing the effect of massive funding for energy 
efficiency programs in California. 








 
 
Board Decision 
New Homes Exemption from Green Tag Policy  
August 8, 2007 


Summary 
 


Authorize a one-year exemption to the green tag policy for an estimated 100 solar electric 
installations in the new home construction program. 


Background 
 


• Until recently, builders have been reluctant to install solar as a standard feature on new 
homes, citing concerns about cost, complexity and increased financial risk. 


 
• With heightened consumer interest stemming from marketing ENERGY STAR New 


Homes and Energy Trust solar programs, over a dozen builders have now begun to 
explore solar options, with a few having applied for incentives. 


 
• The Energy Trust incentive is paid to the builder, given that the homes have no owner 


known or identified at the time of design and construction.  
 
• Green tags are associated with and created by renewable energy generation. Unlike the 


existing homes program where incentive payments and green tag agreements is linked 
to the homeowner, no green tags are associated with new construction. 


 
• Energy Trust has approached builders with a proposed agreement whereby the builder 


would cede ownership and potential sale of future green tags to Energy Trust and 
inform the homebuyer of this transaction. Builders saw proposal as a potentially strong 
disincentive for solar installations. In addition, it is unclear whether such an agreement 
would be valid. 


 
• Subsequently, staff proposed the concept of exempting new solar homes from the green 


tag policy. This concept was reviewed with the Oregon Public Utility Commission 
(OPUC) staff, the Policy Committee and the Renewable Advisory Council (RAC).  


 
• Though the OPUC would prefer the green tag policy apply, they are willing to accept a 


one-time exemption if there is no better way to break into this market. The Policy 
Committee concurred with a time-limited exemption, assuming a strong case for 
delivering tangible value to Energy Trust’s renewable program. The RAC acknowledged 
the importance of this market, and did not reach consensus on the proposed 
exemption.  







New Homes Exemption from Green Tag Policy  August 8, 2007 


2 


Analysis 
 


• Homebuilders voiced three major concerns:  
1) If Energy Trust owns all green tags, it would make it more difficult for the 


builder to market homes as “green,” because neither builders or homeowners 
would own the green tags 


2) The process of securing green tags for Energy Trust would add complexity to 
the sales process, requiring education of realtors and realtors having to explain 
green tags to prospective home buyers 


3) Complying with this policy approach was seen as an added administrative 
burden. 


 
• The primary concern of those who would apply the green tag policy is that if Energy 


Trust does not retain the green tags, the utility ratepayer would pay twice: once for the 
initial public purpose charge and a second time when the utility’s green power program 
acquired green tags from the participating homeowner who benefited from the Energy 
Trust incentive. 


 
• Staff believes that exempting a limited number of new homes from the policy for a 


limited time will result in the following benefits:  
 


1) Access to a highly significant solar market, potentially resulting in production 
builders driving down individual solar system costs, standardizing installation 
practices, increasing consumer confidence and facilitating solar financing through 
home mortgages. 


2) A reduction in administrative requirements associated with tracking green tag 
ownership among both homebuilders and homeowners, a task more complex 
than tracking just individual existing residential installations. 


 
• The proposed program exemption is expected to apply to about 100 new homes, 


probably much less -- the entire solar electric program installed 130 systems last year. 
However, assuming a worst- (or best-) case scenario of 100 homes, each with two-
kilowatt solar systems, total lost green tag value would be in the range of $4,000-
$10,000 over the course of a year. 


 
• During the one-year exemption period, staff proposes to explore other solutions with 


homebuilders, such as allowing homebuyers to retain green tags subject to an 
agreement that tags not be re-sold. This approach might address the double-payment 
concern while mitigating marketing concerns raised by homebuilders. 


Recommendation 
Approve a one-year exemption from the Energy Trust green tag policy for an estimated 100 
new homes by adopting resolution number 445. 


 
 
 
 







New Homes Exemption from Green Tag Policy  August 8, 2007 


3 


RESOLUTION #445 


APPROVING AN EXEMPTION FOR NEW SOLAR     
 HOMES FROM THE ENERGY TRUST GREEN TAG POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. Until recently, builders have been reluctant to install solar 
systems as a standard feature on new homes, citing concerns 
about cost, complexity and increased financial risk. 


2. With heightened consumer interest and stronger solar incentive 
programs, a few builders have applied for Energy Trust incentives. 


3. To comply with the Energy Trust green tag policy, staff proposed 
that homebuilders cede ownership and potential sale of future 
green tags to Energy Trust and inform the homebuyer of this 
transaction. Homebuilders saw this proposal as a potential 
disincentive for solar installations and it is unclear whether such 
an agreement would be valid. 


4. Exempting a limited number of new homes from the green tag 
policy for one year will allow Energy Trust to enter into and test 
solar in the highly significant new construction market while 
exploring other longer-term options. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust 
of Oregon, Inc.:  


1. For a period of one year, authorizes Energy Trust incentives to 
homebuilders for approximately 100 new homes constructed with 
eligible solar energy systems, exempting such systems from the 
Energy Trust green tag policy.  


2. During this same year, directs staff to explore other solutions to 
address homebuilder concerns and comply with the Energy Trust 
green tag policy. 


 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 


 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 08 08\Final\Evaluation Committee Report May 11 2007.doc 


 
 


Evaluation Committee Report 
May 11, 2007 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 
The Evaluation Committee met on May 11, 2007, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Alan Meyer, board 
member; Margie Harris, executive director; Fred Gordon, director of planning and evaluation;  
Philipp Degens, evaluation manager; Phillip Kelsven, evaluation analyst;  Steve Lacey, director of 
energy efficiency; Don Dohrmann, ADM Associates;  The meeting began at 10:00 AM with an 
overview of the meeting’s agenda.   
 
Fred Gordon began the meeting by stating that the purpose of today’s meeting is to discuss the 
Net-To-Gross methodology that Energy Trust uses in evaluations of its programs.  The goal of 
the meeting is for the committee to come to a consensus regarding which free-ridership 
methodology to adopt and use in evaluating Energy Trust programs. 
 
Philipp Degens prepared a presentation to guide the committee’s discussion on Net-To-Gross 
methodology.  The presentation included: 
 


• How and why market effects are evaluated 
• Definition of terminology 
• How market effects are used to report savings 
• What other states are doing 
• Two main methods: 1) Survey based  2) Econometric 
• The main issues with each type of method 
• A comparison between the two methods using recent evaluations 


 
Discussion about the topic included: 
 


• Savings cannot be “solely attributable” to Energy Trust or a particular program.  There 
are many other factors that cause energy efficiency to happen. 


• Likelihood of people overstating their intentions to implement energy efficiency without 
Energy Trust incentive.  People say that they would still implement energy efficiency 
because it is the “right thing to do,” and believing that it is good for the program. 


• Free rider issues with megaprojects.  Due diligence is performed during the planning and 
funding phases of the project.  Participants going on record to the fact that Energy Trust 
funding is necessary for project to move forward, ruling them out as free riders. 
Decision making process of these customers need not be revisited during later 
evaluations. 


• The manner in which the answers are weighted is important to the final free-ridership 
estimates.  Energy Trust currently weights each question equally, after an initial financial 
screening question, which rules out free-ridership if the participant does not have the 
financial capability to implement the measure. 


• There is not a significant difference between free-ridership estimates between the 
method currently used, and the California Evaluation Protocol method. 







Evaluation Committee Report    May 11, 2007 


 2 


• Independence of evaluation contractors means that proposed Net-To-Gross methods 
may differ. 


• Energy Trust reserves the right to indicate which Net-To-Gross method it prefers in 
evaluations of its programs. 


• A standard Net-To-Gross method may not fit certain programs such as a new or pilot 
program.  There are also important differences for Net-To-Gross methodology across 
program sectors. 


• Spillover is difficult to quantify with accuracy.  It is easiest in the residential sector, but 
more difficult in the Commercial and Industrial sector.   


• Energy Trust should spend more effort quantifying participant and non-participant 
spillover.  It is possible that energy savings from spillover may cancel out savings 
deducted due to free riders. 


• Estimates of spillover from regional evaluations conducted by NEEA should be used to 
identify possible spillover. 


• If spillover claimed from outside evaluations is found to be significant, Energy Trust 
should spend more of its own resources attempting to quantify spillover. 


• Spillover should be given equal importance with free-ridership in all Energy Trust 
evaluations. 


• Spillover should be given more importance on a going forward basis, rather than looking 
back to completed evaluations. 


• Energy Trust needs to ask customer satisfaction questions in all evaluations. 
• Satisfaction questions are currently being asked in all evaluations. 


 
Committee Decision: 
 


• Energy Trust will use the current Net-To-Gross methods.  A timing question will be 
added to identify when or if the participant would have implemented the energy 
efficiency measure in the future.   


• Energy Trust will increase efforts to accurately quantify participant and non-participant 
program spillover. 


 
The Evaluation Committee concluded at 1:15 PM. 
  








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 08 08\Final\Evaluation Committee Report june 29  2007.doc 


 
 


Evaluation Committee Report 
June 29, 2007 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 
The Evaluation Committee met on June 29, 2007, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Alan Meyer, board 
member; Margie Harris, executive director; Fred Gordon, director of planning and evaluation;  
Philipp Degens, evaluation manager; Brien Sipe, contractor;  Steve Lacey, director of energy 
efficiency; Diane Ferington, sector manager, Alan Cowan, program manager; Phil Willems, PWP 
Inc. The meeting began at 10:00 AM with an overview of the meeting’s agenda: 
 


• Community Wind RFP Process Evaluation 
• 2007 Trade Ally Survey Report 
• HESP Multifamily Building Owner Evaluation  


 
Philipp Degens presented the results of the Community Wind RFP Process Evaluation. The 
major findings are: 


• RFP requirements clear and relevant market actors were aware of RFP 
• Only small number of viable market actors 
• Information required for the RFP was generally seen as appropriate and timelines 


reasonable 
• Major uncertainties associated with turbines, grid interconnection and green tags 
• Major opportunities with current state and federal legislation 


Major recommendations are: 
• With limited audience and large barriers Energy Trust should consider other 


alternatives such as: 
– Using an open solicitation process 
– Facilitating or participating in aggregating turbine purchases 
– Have standard offer for green tags 


• Consider assisting projects in resolving interconnection issues 
• Need to continue to improve how we communicate the “above market costs” message  


and Green Tag policy 
 
Brien Sipe presented the results of the 2007 Trade Ally Survey. The major findings are: 


• Levels of ‘satisfaction’ reported working with programs virtually unchanged from 
previous year 


• Most contractors are committed to working with Energy Trust having been partners for 
the last few years 


• Reservation system doesn’t seem bad once people get to use it 
• Forms are an ongoing issue 
• General program and technical trainings highly valued 
• Website & Trade Ally pages can be improved 


Major recommendations are: 
• Emphasis should be placed on providing information about Oregon Department of 


Energy (ODOE) credits for all programs 
• Ongoing training on general program information and technical aspects 
• Put recent and expected program changes into the insider by program 







Evaluation Committee Report    June 29, 2007 


 2 


• Website improvements should focus on ease of use and access to general program 
information and incentives  


• Potentially automating forms process and linking it automatically to Residential Energy 
Tax Credit (RETC)  and Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) forms 


• Continuing to communicate the reservation process to commercial and industrial 
vendors 


 
Philipp Degens presented the results of the HES Multifamily Building Owner Evaluation that 
reports on a survey of 79 participating multifamily building owners. The major findings are: 


• Low free rider rates (Insulation 19%, Windows 15%, CFLs 2%, Shower heads 4%) 
• Highly satisfied customers (91% satisfied or very satisfied with program experience) 
• Combination of BETC and Energy Trust incentives had most influence on decision to 


install 
Major recommendations are: 


• Important to require shell and window measures together 
• BETC needs to be consistently promoted 
• CFL failure rates need to be looked into 


 
The next Evaluation Committee meeting is scheduled for September 21, 2007, 10:00- 1:00 PM. 
 
The Evaluation Committee concluded at 1:00 PM. 
  








2007 Trade Ally Survey Executive Summary 
Aug. 8, 2007  
Prepared by Brien Sipe and Philipp Degens 
 
This report summarizes the results of the 2007 Energy Trust of Oregon Trade Ally Survey. The 
survey was originally conceived as a feedback tool for the communication department about 
various marketing and training offerings for trade allies. Now in its third year, the survey is still 
focused on feedback but now includes a program/measure specific market research component. 
The rationale for collecting self-reported data from the trade allies about their specific markets is 
two-fold. First, any change in the proportion of various efficient technologies that are being 
installed by trade allies can be analyzed. Second, the trade ally survey can be compared to 
evaluations and program reports to corroborate the results. 
 
The 20071 Trade Ally Survey was sent via email to 609 trade allies2 on March 26, 2007. The 
survey closed April 27, 2007, with 125 completed surveys yielding a response rate of over 20%. 
Survey respondents accounted for one quarter of the total incentives paid in 2006. Additionally, 
respondents accounted for almost one third of incentives affiliated with the 609 trade allies 
contacted for the survey.  
 


Key Findings & Recommendations 
 
General Trade Ally Findings 
Of those responding to the survey, 33 reported themselves as working mainly in the commercial 
sector, 60 in the residential sector, 18 in the solar electric and thermal area, 9 serving industrial 
customers, and 5  ”other” (includes respondents who listed “wind and other renewables” or 
“other”). The survey found that most trade allies have been working with Energy Trust for over 
two years, indicating that many find value in their relationship with our organization. This is further 
evidenced by the finding that a majority of trade allies plan to increase the proportion of their 
projects that receive Energy Trust incentives. Additionally, interest in general program training 
received significant interest. Reported levels of satisfaction with the program were similar to the 
previous year’s survey and indicated high levels of overall satisfaction working with the agency.  
 
Close to one quarter of respondents indicated that they were not familiar with Oregon Department 
of Energy tax credits. As these tax credits can provide additional leverage to help close projects, 
communicating to Trade Allies about the importance of the tax credits should be an ongoing 
priority.  
 
The survey also asked trade allies from the commercial and industrial programs about their 
experience with the reservation system. Responses were very positive about the system’s ability 
to aid in customer decision making and indicated that the system does not typically obstruct the 
sales process. A minority of these vendors did indicate a lack of familiarity with the system, which 
could be due to limited experience with it. 
 
Solar electric and solar water heating trade allies reported a 25% increase in customer inquiries 
over the previous year. These firms typically have the equivalent of two employees working full 
time on solar, 0.5 FTE of which was added in 2006. 


                                                   
1 To clarify confusion with the nomenclature, the ‘2007 report’ covers the 2006 program year survey and will 
be referred to as 2006 from this point on. 
 
2 ‘Trade ally’ is being used to define any contractor who responded to the survey. This doesn’t necessarily 
mean they are registered trade allies. 







2007 Trade Ally Executive Summary  August 8, 2007 


2 


Trade ally characteristics 
• One quarter of trade allies received a majority of their revenues from jobs receiving 


Energy Trust incentives. 
• Nearly three quarters of respondents reported that they have been an Energy Trust trade 


ally for more than two years, an increase over the nearly two thirds who reported this in 
the previous survey. This change indicates that trade allies see value in maintaining their 
relationship with Energy Trust. 


• Nearly all trade allies derive less than a quarter of their revenue from out-of-state work. 
As Energy Trust begins to explore the possibility of expanding its service territory into 
other states, new relationships will have to be formed with local contractors. The majority 
of survey respondents do little or no work outside Oregon. 


 
Trade ally communications, marketing, and training feedback 
Trade allies were asked to rate their interest in various communications-related questions on a 1 
to 5 scale (1 indicated ”no interest” while a 5 indicated “very interested”). The following figures 
represent the percentage of trade allies who responded that they were ”interested” (4) or “very 
interested” (5) in various Energy Trust communications offerings. Those categories in bold 
indicate a significant increase in overall interest reported since the 2005 report. 
 


Marketing: 
• Cooperative advertising support…………………………………….….58% 
• Ad expressing thanks to our trade allies ……………………..…...58% 
• One-on-one marketing consulting provided by Energy Trust…….….42% 
• Marketing workshops……………………………………………….……31% 
• Marketing to boost Energy Trust brand recognition…………….…….46% 


 
Networking Opportunities: 


• Networking within your specialty/trade………….……………………...39% 
• Networking within your program (across trade)…………………….….34% 
• Networking within your region…………………....……........................39% 


 
Rewards: 


• Scholarships to energy conferences………….……………………...50% 
• Publicity through press releases……………...………………………….55% 
• Trade ally of the month……..............................................................44% 
• Case studies of trade allies……………………………..........................41% 


 
Training: 
Trade allies were given an opportunity to prioritize potential training offerings, with the 
percent of respondents indicating interest in the following categories was: 


• General training on Energy Trust programs………………………………51% 
• Technical training on energy efficiency……………………………………32% 
• Technical training on program measures and compliance……...............9% 
• Small business management………………………………………………..6% 
• Sales and marketing………………………….…………………..................2% 


 
⇒ Recommendation 


Provide training for trade allies on Energy Trust programs and measure 
compliance. Given the choice to prioritize, trade allies were primarily interested in 
these two training topics. These two training categories also received high levels 
of interest in 2005. 


 
INSIDER newsletter 
Trade allies generally find the newsletter helpful, with a large majority reporting it was “somewhat” 
helpful, but few suggested any specific improvements to make it ”very” helpful. 







2007 Trade Ally Executive Summary  August 8, 2007 


3 


 
⇒ Recommendation 


In the future, more specific survey questions should be employed to elicit 
feedback about vendor expectations of the newsletter. Do vendors expect the 
newsletter to help with increasing sales? Providing updates about programs?  
Technical information? 


 
Energy Trust website 
A large proportion of respondents indicated that the website was relatively easy to use. 
Despite this, several open-ended statements indicated that improvements should focus on 
ease of use.  


 
• When making website improvements consider giving priority to improving: 


o Access to forms  
o Streamlining/automating the forms process 
o Information on qualifying measures 


 
Efficiency program satisfaction 
High levels of satisfaction were reported across all categories from trade allies. Among 
commercial and industrial trade allies was a very noticeable tendency to indicate that they were 
“very satisfied” with the service they received from Energy Trust and PMC staff. These levels of 
satisfaction are relatively unchanged from the previous year’s survey. 
 
Percent expressing ‘Satisfied’ or ‘Very satisfied’ responses for: 


• Overall…………….…………………..………….…………71% 
• Interactions with staff……………...………………………74% 
• Response times……......................................................65% 
• Requests for information……………………………........69% 
• Requests for help on forms……………………………….72% 


 
Renewable program satisfaction 
Renewable contractors indicated high levels of satisfaction across all categories, with the 
exception of paperwork approval.  
 
Percent expressing ‘Satisfied’ or ‘Very satisfied’ responses for: 


• Overall…………….…………………..………….…………78% 
• Turnaround time for paperwork approval.………………55% 
• Responsiveness of staff to inquiries..............................72% 
• Quality of Energy Trust inspectors...………………........80% 
• Quality of your relationship with inspectors…….……….88% 


 
General demographics & ODOE tax credits 
Nearly three quarters of trade allies indicated that they have been working with Energy Trust for 
more than two years. Half of vendors indicated that they received less than one quarter of their 
revenue from projects involving Energy Trust incentives, while one quarter derived 75% or more. 
15% of respondents said that they derived more than one quarter of their revenue from work 
outside of Oregon. 
 


⇒ Recommendations: 
• The presentation of availability and eligibility requirements for Oregon 


Department of Energy tax credits should be an ongoing priority - Energy Trust 
should seek to provide trade allies with tools to help them promote the ODOE credits. 
Energy Trust and ODOE staff should continue working toward automatically 
populating BETC/RETC forms with information from a customer’s application for an 
Energy Trust incentive. The benefits would be twofold: the simplicity of paperwork for 







2007 Trade Ally Executive Summary  August 8, 2007 


4 


incentives could encourage trade allies to pursue more projects involving Energy 
Trust (currently over half of trade allies derive less than one quarter of their revenue 
from projects involving Energy Trust); the ease of BETC/RETC application would give 
trade allies additional leverage to close projects.  
 


• Ease and simplification of form completion - Tying into the previous 
recommendation, when asked how staff and PMCs could help improve service, a 
significant number of open ended responses pertained to simplification of forms. The 
possibility of forms that are easy to fill out electronically and that auto-populate 
ODOE tax credit forms should be considered. 


 
Commercial Trade Ally Findings & Recommendations 
Commercial respondents primarily installed lighting (20) followed by HVAC (5) installers, with a 
number of other measure categories tied to one respondent (not reported on individually). 


 
Commercial lighting technology installations (weighted by firm size) 
Percent of fixtures installed on a project with incentive: 


• 57% premium T8 
• 42% T5 


 
Percent of fixtures installed on a project without incentive: 


• 30% premium T8 
• 40% T5 


 
The 2008 survey will aim to get an overall idea of what technologies are being installed rather 
than ask “with and without an incentive.” 


 
Impact of the reservation system 


• The majority of commercial trade allies indicated that the reservation system does not 
obstruct their sales process. Open-ended comments indicated that the system 
encourages commitment from customers and puts projects on a definite timeline. 


• Nearly a third of commercial trade allies indicated low levels of familiarity with the 
reservation system. 


 
⇒ Recommendation 


• The fact that most trade allies find the reservation system does not impede 
sales suggests the process is working smoothly. However, Energy Trust 
should continue informing trade allies about the reservation system and 
assist them in consistently communicating its requirements to their 
customers.   


 
Industrial Trade Ally Findings 
All industrial respondents indicated that they installed lighting as their primary measure. Other 
than for lighting, the Production Efficiency program does not use trade allies. 
 
Impact of the reservation system 


• 7 of 9 industrial trade allies indicated that the system does not obstruct their sales process. 
The reservation process is the same for commercial and industrial lighting installations.  


• A few respondents indicated low levels of familiarity with the system. 
 
Industrial lighting technology installations 
Percent of fixtures installed on a project with incentive (weighted by firm size): 


• 14% premium T8 
• 84% T5 
• 1% pulse start metal halide 







2007 Trade Ally Executive Summary  August 8, 2007 


5 


The response rate for installations without an incentive was too low to report. 
 
 
Residential Trade Ally Findings 
The majority of residential respondents installed gas furnaces (29). Other measures represented 
included windows (7), heat pump (6), and insulation and site-built home vendors (5 respondents 
apiece). 
 
Residential gas furnace reported efficiency categories (weighted by firm size): 


• 80-89%   39% 
• 90-94%   48% 
• 95% or better  11% 


 
Respondents reported a drop in the number of electronically commutated motors installed on 
furnaces compared to the previous survey 
 
A significant number of residential vendors indicated that they are not familiar with or do not 
regularly promote ODOE tax credits. The tax credits provide additional leverage for vendors to 
help sell efficient products. Included in the recommendation section is a suggestion to provide 
”auto-populating” application forms for both Energy Trust incentives and ODOE tax credits to 
make the process as simple as possible for customers to apply. 
 


Recommendation 
• Emphasizing the importance of the tax credits to trade allies should be a 


continuing priority.  
 
Solar Electric and Solar Water Heating Findings 
Only one third of those vendors who participated in the 2005 survey also participated this year. 
This shift in the respondents is reflected in a large difference in reported proportion of revenue 
stemming from projects receiving Energy Trust incentives. Thus, with this small sample, it is hard 
to draw any conclusions about behavior changing from responses in 2005 to this year. 
 
Project backlog 


• Compared to previous year, firms report having work lined up further into the future. 
 
Customer inquiries 


• Firms saw an average 25% increase in inquiries about solar compared to the previous 
year. 


 
Employment and hiring 


• Firms have an average equivalent of 1.5 full-time employees dedicated to solar electric and 
water heating 


• Firms hired an average of .5 FTE in 2006 to work specifically on solar. 








 


2007 Trade Ally Service Plan 
07/24/07  Tom Beverly, Customer Services Manager 
 
Background 
Energy Trust’s trade ally network is a vital link with our program participants. As much as one third of 
our new participant referrals come directly from trade allies, and they are often the only point of 
contact with Energy Trust participants. Therefore, educating and serving our trade ally contractors is 
extremely important to our success. 
 
For the last three years Energy Trust’s evaluation department has conducted a trade ally survey to 
obtain feedback about satisfaction levels and opportunities for improvement. Each year the survey has 
become more sophisticated and has obtained better data about our trade allies’ needs. The service plan 
for the remainder of 2007 and early 2008 is based on the most recent survey findings and 
recommendations provided by the Evaluations group. This plan addresses centralized Energy Trust 
support for ongoing program-level trade ally coordination. 
 
Summary 
The overall goal of trade ally coordination is to make our interface with trade allies as simple as possible, 
so they can quickly get the information and help they need. Reducing forms and redundancies will help 
reduce the amount of time and trouble trade allies experience in getting information. Centralizing trade 
ally coordination within Energy Trust will reduce redundancies across programs and reduce confusion 
among trade allies. Internal trade ally coordination will require a part-time administrative staff-member. 
 
Better and more frequent communication with trade allies will allow them to be involved in decision 
making and will result in their buy-in to program updates, or at the very least their understanding of the 
reasoning behind the changes. 
 
Improved perks for trade allies will give them more reasons to become affiliated with Energy Trust, and 
provide our incentives to more customers. 
 
Marketing and Training 
Trade allies responding to the survey indicated a high level of interest in the following areas: 
 


• Cooperative advertising support 
• Ads expressing thanks to our trade allies 
• Marketing to boost Energy Trust brand recognition 
• Scholarships to energy conferences 
• Publicity through press releases 
• Training on Energy Trust programs and compliance 


 
Three of our programs offer extensive cooperative advertising support: ENERGY STAR® New Homes, 
Home Energy Solutions, and Solar. All three provide reviews of advertising materials and funding to help 
pay for marketing efforts. 
 
58% of the trade allies surveyed showed an interest in cooperative advertising support and Energy Trust 
advertising expressing thanks to our trade allies in local papers. We will continue to offer cooperative 
marketing in the New Homes and Existing homes programs, and consider additional funding for the 







2007 Trade Ally Service Plan                           July 24, 2007 
 


 2


2008 budget. We will also discuss cooperative marketing funds with the other programs which do not 
presently offer them, and determine what levels of funding can be provided in 2008. 
 
We will also provide general Energy Trust advertisements in regional newspapers to recognize local 
trade allies and thank them for their efforts. Advertisements will be run in the first quarter of 2008. 
 
The Energy Trust trade ally coordinator will also work with regional trade allies to determine the best 
ways to market Energy Trust programs in southern Oregon. In 2008, this initiative can be included in 
the budget and expanded for other parts of the state. The trade ally coordinator will work closely with 
the rest of the marketing and communications department, and program management contractors, to 
ensure consistency of messaging. 
 
Energy Trust presently offers four 50% scholarships to the Sustainable Building Advisor programs in 
Bend and Gresham. 2007 is the second year we have provided these funds, and response has been 
strong. We will expand this scholarship program for trade allies in 2008. We will research additional 
training opportunities for trade allies in 2007, and include them in the 2008 budget. 
 
Trade allies indicated interest in press releases for additional publicity. Energy Trust provides press 
releases on a regular basis, and will continue to include trade ally quotes and information in them. 
 
Training efforts will focus on Energy Trust programs and measure compliance. The trade ally 
coordinator plans periodic update meetings for trade allies in locations throughout the state. There will 
be 3 or more such meetings before the end of October 2007. We will also hold informational sessions 
on the Oregon Department of Energy’s state energy tax credits. These sessions are frequently held 
together with workshops about our programs so all relevant information is covered in one session. We 
will hold 3 or more of these sessions throughout the state to provide information to as many trade 
allies as possible. Additional program training will be scheduled for 2008. 
 
Energy Trust has also implemented quarterly trade ally roundtable meetings. These meetings provide a 
forum for trade allies to discuss concerns or suggestions with Energy Trust staff and with each other. 
These roundtable sessions will continue in 2008. 
 
Insider Newsletter 
Most trade allies who responded to the survey found Insider to be at least somewhat useful. Insider is 
presently used to provide updates on program information, and articles about events in the energy 
efficiency and renewable energy field. To improve Insider for our trade allies, we will provide additional 
links to other websites and newsletters beyond those of Energy Trust, to provide even more useful 
information. We also plan to highlight specific success stories and trade allies in future issues. 
 
To gain more feedback about Insider, we will implement another brief survey with a link from the 
September/October issue. The survey will include more specific questions about how we can make 
Insider more useful to our trade allies. We will act on the results during the third quarter of 2007. 
 
Future Insider issues will focus less on general marketing and more on specific measures, technical 
information, compliance, updates, and success stories. Insider will remain a valuable tool for 
communicating with trade allies. 
 
 
 







2007 Trade Ally Service Plan                           July 24, 2007 
 


 3


Website 
Trade allies had few opinions or suggestions about the Energy Trust website. There were a small 
number of requests to improve the site by making it easier to navigate. 
 
The marketing department has plans to implement a website usability study in late 2007, and findings 
from this study will be used to improve ease of navigation on all parts of the site, including the trade ally 
section. 
 
The Energy Trust trade ally coordinator will meet with the web team in late July to redesign the trade 
ally pages and make them easier to navigate. Trade allies specifically requested easier access to forms, 
streamlining or automation of forms, and better information on qualifying measures. Each program page 
will be reviewed for ease of use and ease of locating pertinent information. Changes will be implemented 
by the end of November 2007. The focus of the trade ally pages will be shifted from recruitment to 
information and services, and program management contractors will be included in the discussions. 
 
Communications and Outreach 
General communications with trade allies have improved in the past 6 months. In 2006, residential trade 
allies expressed concerns over the timeliness of program updates. A new procedure was designed to 
ensure more timely communications. The Energy Trust trade ally coordinator monitors upcoming 
program changes, and ensures the PMC coordinators send multiple communications to trade allies as far 
in advance as possible. All correspondence with trade allies is passed through the Energy Trust trade ally 
coordinator for review before being passed on to the rest of the marketing and communications 
department. 
 
Energy Trust communicates updates with trade allies through meetings, e-mails, postcards, letters, and 
through Insider. Program updates are provided by multiple means to ensure trade allies receive the 
information. The trade ally roundtable is another way that program updates can be discussed, and allows 
the trade allies to give their ideas and discuss them as a group. Also, the website is used as a 
communication tool, and counting both trade allies and participants, is the second most visited portion 
of the website, after the Energy Trust homepage. 
 
Trade allies in southern Oregon expressed a need for more efforts in their part of the state to raise 
general awareness of Energy Trust. To satisfy their needs, CSG has hired a market outreach manager to 
improve awareness in the outlying parts of the state, including southern Oregon. The Energy Trust trade 
ally coordinator is researching additional ways to improve awareness in southern Oregon, and also is 
working with the Douglas County Global Warming Coalition to provide more presentations and 
visibility for Energy Trust. The Douglas County Global Warming Coalition is helping coordinate 
between CSG and the Umpqua Community Action Network (UCAN). UCAN has suggested they can 
provide home energy reviews in their territory. Their reviewers are trained to our standards, and would 
only need program-specific training from CSG. 
 
We will also hold meetings for Cascade Natural Gas vendors and trade allies in Pendleton and Baker 
City in an effort to recruit more trade allies in those areas. Cascade Natural Gas is cooperating to 
provide information on potential trade allies from their network, and will participate in the meetings. 
 
Centralized Trade Ally Support 
The Energy Trust trade ally coordinator is researching the possibility of having a single form and process 
to sign contractors as trade allies of Energy Trust. Under this model, trade allies would have an 
agreement directly with Energy Trust instead of with the PMCs. They would still need program-specific 







2007 Trade Ally Service Plan                           July 24, 2007 
 


 4


training and certifications, but they would be trade allies for all programs for which they had the proper 
training. Energy Trust would also develop and administer procedures for trade allies, including de-listing 
based on poor customer service, workmanship concerns, or other issues. 
 
The responsibilities of maintaining trade ally files, verifying insurance and license information, and the 
bulk of trade ally correspondence would be moved in-house. As program management contractors 
change, the trade allies would remain under agreement with Energy Trust, and there would be less 
confusion about which programs trade allies worked with. Reducing forms and confusion is a request 
trade allies have repeatedly made. The job duties would require at least a part-time position to maintain 
information and review new applications. 
 
We are presently reviewing trade ally requirements for each program, and determining the best way to 
merge forms. We are also researching the differences between what we provide under the current 
model and what the PMC trade ally coordinators provide. Once we have that list of responsibilities, we 
can determine what activities can be done internally, and what should be left at the PMC level. Any 
proposed staff addition would be addressed in the 2008 budget process.







2007 Trade Ally Service Plan                                                                                     July 24, 2007 
 


 5


 
2007 Recommendations 2007 Service Plan 2006 Service Plan 


Provide Training on Energy Trust programs 
and measure compliance 


• Provided 4 program training sessions for 
residential trade allies and Cascade 
Natural Gas dealers 


• Scheduled 2 additional sessions for 
Cascade Dealers and trade allies in 
Pendleton and Baker City August 15-16 


• Will schedule 3-4 workshops on 
incentives and tax credits throughout the 
state before end of October 2007 


• Held 3 marketing workshops in Portland, 
Bend and Grants Pass 


• Held 3 incentive and tax credit 
workshops in Portland, Bend and Grants 
Pass 


• Held 2 program overview sessions for 
Cascade Natural Gas dealers in Bend and 
Baker City 


Improve access to forms on website, 
streamline or automate forms, provide more 
information on qualifying measures 


• Marketing will conduct a usability study 
of the website, which can be used to 
improve the trade ally pages 


• Will redesign trade ally pages to improve 
navigation and move forms to better 
locations 


• CSG is continuing to improve forms and 
they are piloting electronic forms with a 
small group of trade allies 


• CSG is identifying trade allies with forms 
problems and individually training them 


• We will discuss the request for more 
information on qualifying measures at the 
roundtable meetings in July 


• Collectively, the trade ally pages receive 
the second highest number of visits after 
our home page 


• Two incentive applications replaced 
multiple forms for residential incentives 
(HES had the most complex forms) 


• A new lighting calculation tool was 
implemented for commercial lighting 
trade allies 







2007 Trade Ally Service Plan                                                                                     July 24, 2007 
 


 6


 
Establish new trade ally relationships – trade 
ally outreach 


• Held meeting for Cascade Natural Gas 
vendors in Bend 


• Scheduled two additional meetings for 
Cascade Natural Gas vendors in 
Pendleton and Baker City for August 


• Conducting outreach in southern 
Oregon in coordination with newly hired 
market outreach manager from CSG 


• No specific recruiting/outreach efforts 
were outlined for 2006 


Ease and simplification of form completion • CSG has a pilot for electronic forms with 
selected trade allies 


• As above, explore adapting the lighting 
tool for other programs 


• As above, explore auto-populate options 
from incentive forms to tax credit forms 


• CSG eliminated several forms and 
combined them 


• BE introduced lighting tool to simplify 
calculations and forms for lighting trade 
allies 


 








 
 
 


 


Briefing Paper 
Energy Trust Presence Statewide 
July 27, 2007  
 
At the June 2007 board strategic planning workshop, a spontaneous discussion arose about 
whether Energy Trust is overly Portland-centric.  
 
Staff pulled together some materials to examine this question. On the next several pages you 
will find: 
 


1. Incentive spending per capita 
2. Trade allies by region 
3. ENERGY STAR products and manufactured home retailers by community 
4. Advertising placements 2007 
5. News release distribution 2006-2007 
6. News clippings by community 2004-2007 


 
Taken together, the information shows Energy Trust reaches every part of our service territory 
with incentives, service, advertising and communications. We do not appear disproportionally to 
favor Portland. 
 
 
 
 








Vale


Moro


Bend


Burns


Madras


Keizer Fossil


Eugene


Condon


Albany


Paisley


Newport


Medford


La Pine


Heppner


Astoria


Ashland


Vernonia


Roseburg


Lakeview


John
Day


FlorenceFlorence


Estacada


Coos Bay


Boardman


Tillamook


Sutherlin


Pendleton


La Grande


Hermiston


Corvallis


Oregon City


Brookings


Hillsboro


Arlington


Sweet Home


St. Helens


Prineville


Hood River


Enterprise


Baker City


McMinnville


Grants Pass


Warm Springs


Lincoln City Dallas


Cannon Beach


KlamathFalls


Junction City


Jordan Valley


Cottage Grove


Cave Junction


Milton-
Freewater


The Dalles


Salem


Portland


Port Orford


Ontario


Banks


Redmond


Canyonville


Scio


Canby


Coquille


Gold Beach


Canyon City


Lake


Harney


Malheur


Lane


Grant


Klamath


Douglas


Linn


Baker


Crook


Umatilla
Wallowa


Wasco
Union


Jackson


Coos


Curry


Deschutes


Morrow


Wheeler


Jefferson


Gilliam


Marion


Clackamas


Polk


Josephine


Lincoln


Tillamook


Clatsop


Yamhill


Benton


Sherman


Columbia


Washington
Hood
RiverMultnomah


26


26


26


11


395


395


395


20


20


20


126


97


97


140


78


95


95


197


2220


18


26


20


30


138


58


42


199


84 84


84


5


5


5


5


140


101


101


101


97


VALLEY
REGION


PORTLAND AREA
REGION


CENTRAL-EASTERN
REGION


NORTHWEST-COAST
REGION


SOUTHERN
REGION


NORTHWEST-COAST
REGION


NOT IN
REGION


NOT IN
REGION


$67.77


$0.19


$84.42


$29.97


$39.26


$51.59


$0.19


$39.26


Total Incentive Spending per Capita (Eligible) by Region20 0 20 4010 Miles


real urban geographics, july 2007


1-866-ENTRUST
energytrust.org


City


Major Roads
County Boundary


Legend


County Seat


Region


July 2007
Data Source: Energy
Trust of Oregon, 2004
Eligible Customers 


< $14.00 per capita
$14 - $32 per capita
$32 - $46 per capita
$46 - $64 per capita
$64 - $80 per capita
> $80 per capita








Portland


Salem


Corvallis


Medford


BendEugene


84 84


84


5


5


5


Region 7


Region 8


Region 9


Region 11


Region 10


Region 6


Region 5


Region 4


Region 3


Region
2


Region 1


Not in Service Territory


35


143


244


111


212


273


471


171


154


202


306


20 0 20 4010 Miles


real urban geographics, april 2006


1-866-ENTRUST
energytrust.org


NW Natural


City
Major Roads


Water
County Boundary


Pacific Power
Portland General Electric


Oregon Service Territories
Legend


Cascade Natural Gas


Total Trade Allies by Region


Avista
Trade Allies per Region


< 36
36 - 111
112 - 171
172 - 244
245 - 306
307 - 471


Note: Trade allies serving multiple regions are counted in each region they serve.








ENERGY STAR® Products and Manufactured Home Retailers by Community 2007
Portland OR 21 Sherwood OR 3 Corvallis OR 1


Salem OR 15 Aloha OR 2 Depoe Bay OR 1


Eugene OR 12 Baker City OR 2 Forest Grove OR 1


Medford OR 12 Clackamas OR 2 Gladstone OR 1


Bend OR 11 Coburg OR 2 Independence OR 1


Roseburg OR 9 Coos Bay OR 2 Island City OR 1


The Dalles OR 9 Cottage Grove OR 2 Junction City OR 1


Albany OR 8 Gresham OR 2 La Pine OR 1


Vancouver WA 8 Hood River OR 2 Lakeview OR 1


Klamath Falls OR 7 La Grande OR 2 Lebanon OR 1


Beaverton OR 6 Lincoln City OR 2 Madras OR 1


Tigard OR 6 Milton-Freewater OR 2 Millersburg OR 1


Woodburn OR 6 Newport OR 2 Myrtle Point OR 1


Hermiston OR 5 North Bend OR 2 Newberg OR 1


Hillsboro OR 5 Oregon City OR 2 Oak Grove OR 1


Grants Pass OR 4 Pendleton OR 2 Sandy OR 1


McMinnville OR 4 Phoenix OR 2 Scappoose OR 1


Springfield OR 4 Rainier OR 2 Sheridan OR 1


Astoria OR 3 Sutherlin OR 2 St. Helens OR 1


Florence OR 3 Warrenton OR 2 Sublimity OR 1


Keizer OR 3 White City OR 2 Sweet Home OR 1


Milwaukie OR 3 Bandon OR 1 Tillamook OR 1


Ontario OR 3 Boring OR 1 Troutdale OR 1


Prineville OR 3 Camas WA 1 Tualatin OR 1


Redmond OR 3 Central Point OR 1 Wilsonville OR 1


Wood Village OR 1








Advertisement Placements 2007 
Publication # of ads per year Statewide Local
3E Strategies newsletter 2 Central Oregon
AIA newsletter 3 Yes
AIA Profile 1 Yes
AOI Business Viewpoint 6 Yes
BOMA Directory 1 Portland Metro
Capital Press 2 Yes
Central Oregon Tour of Homes 1 Central Oregon
Chinook Book 1 Eugene/Portland
Daily Journal of Commerce 2 Portland Metro
Daily Journal of Commerce Magazine 9 Portland Metro
Green and Solar  Buildings Oregon 6 Yes
Green Living 6 Yes
Green Smart 1 Yes
Herald Post 1 Klamath Falls
Homes and Land 1 Yes
Lodging News newsletter 3 Yes
Mail Tribune 1 Medford
New Home Guide 1 Yes
Oregon Business 7 Yes
Oregon Home Magazine 8 Yes
Oregon Public Broadcasting Ongoing Yes
Oregon Remodelers Association 2 Yes
Oregonian 1 Yes
ORA Main Ingredient 4 Yes
Portland Business Journal 8 Portland Metro
Portland Monthly Magazine 11 Portland Metro
Portland Observer 6 Portland
Portland Tribune 12 Portland Metro
ReDirect Guide 1 Yes
Remodel Portland Magazine 1 Portland
Residential Greenbuilding Smart Market Report 1 Yes
Salem Tour of Homes 1 Salem
Skanner 1 Portland
Solwest Fair Program Guide 1 John Day
Sustainable Industries Journal 9 Yes
Willamette Week 1 Portland Metro








 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
News Release Distribution 2006-2007 
 
Number of releases Where 


25 Statewide 
7 Portland metro 
5 Bend/Central Oregon 
3 Medford/Southern Oregon 
2 Coos Bay/North Bend 
2 Hillsboro 
2 Oregon City 
2 Salem 
1 Albany 
1 Astoria/Seaside 
1 Dallas/Independence 
1 Cave Junction 
1 Eugene 
1 Forest Grove 
1 Grants Pass 
1 Gresham 
1 Joseph 
1 Klamath Falls 
1 LaGrande 
1 Lincoln City 
1 Molalla 
1 Newberg 
1 Roseburg 
1 Silverton/Mt Angel 
1 Troutdale 


 








News Clippings by Community 2004-2007 


Portland 271 Gresham 6 Condon 2


Statewide 97 Newberg 6 Eagle Point 2


Bend 47 Tigard 6 Florence 2


Salem 43 Canby 5 Lebanon 2


Roseburg 22 Lakeview 5 McKenzie 2


Grants Pass 21 Madras 4 Seaside 2


Lake Oswego 20 Milton-Freewater 4 Sheridan 2


Medford 15 Molalla 4 Silverton 2


Pendleton 15 The Dalles 4 Sweet Home 2


Albany 13 Woodburn 4 Vernonia 2


Klamath Falls 13 La Grande 3 Ashland 1


Corvallis 12 McMinnville 3 Creswell 1


Prineville 12 Redmond 3 Jefferson 1


Beaverton 11 Scappoose 3 John Day 1


Hillsboro 11 Troutdale 3 Lincoln City 1


Hood River 10 Tualatin 3 Merrill 1


Astoria 8 Baker City 2 Myrtle Creek 1


Eugene 8 Bandon 2 Scio 1


West Linn 8 Brookings 2 Selma 1


Coos Bay 7 Cannon Beach 2 Stayton 1


Milwaukie 7 Clackamas 2 Warm Springs 1


Cave Junction 6 Clatskine 2 Wasco 1








 
 
 


Summary of Findings 
Cascade Washington Feasibility Study 
August 1, 2007 
 
Synopsis 
At this point in time, staff advises that Energy Trust focus on Oregon opportunities stemming 
from new legislation and not expand to deliver programs for Cascade Natural Gas customers in 
Washington state. The planning feasibility study, now completed, indicates a strong stakeholder 
preference for Cascade to strengthen its commitment to energy efficiency and to develop 
capacity to delivery programs in Washington. It does not support Energy Trust expansion to 
Washington at this time. 
 
The feasibility study provides valuable and detailed analyses of the market opportunities and 
characteristics, code requirements, infrastructure, and other factors related to program design 
and delivery in Cascade’s Washington service territory. Energy Trust has offered to provide 
Cascade with interim consulting assistance as they explore and pursue other options for future 
program implementation.  
 
Were timing and stakeholder support not identified as concerns, staff believes Energy Trust 
program delivery for Cascade in Washington could be very successful. Energy Trust remains open 
to providing broader assistance at another, later time when fewer conflicts with our own 
expansion and capacity are present.  
 
Additional information contributing to this staff conclusion and describing the types of assistance 
the Energy Trust could provide in support of Cascade are discussed, below. 
 
Energy Trust Resource Availability 


• It is paramount to the Energy Trust that existing programs are delivered successfully 
within its current service area 


• Core to successful delivery is maintenance of and continuous quality improvement of 
program delivery  


• The Oregon legislature recently passed the Renewable Energy Act (SB838) that will result 
in wide expansion of residential and commercial programs; a 50% increase in activity in 
the residential sector and doubling of commercial program activity is anticipated beginning 
as soon as January 2008 


• The Act also significantly revises the role of the Energy Trust in the renewables market, 
requiring internal changes in program emphasis and roles 


• Preparation for launch of expanded programs requires the attention of key program 
management and functional staff 


• Energy Trust has also identified necessary improvements and changes for infrastructure 
systems in accounting and IT over the next 12-18 months 


• Experience has shown that major infrastructure upgrades require significant planning and 
management to ensure success  


 







Cascade Washington Feasibility Study            August 1, 2007 
 


2 


Stakeholder Input 
• Only modest stakeholder support has been expressed for Energy Trust delivery of 


program in Washington in either Washington or Oregon, and there have been statements 
describing some significant stakeholder concerns. 


• In Oregon, concerns revolve around the diversion of resources at a time of significant 
growth  


• In Washington, concerns focus on (1) the effect of outsourcing on the development of 
program delivery capability within Cascade’s organization and in the State of Washington 
and the (2) allegiance of the Energy Trust to its Oregon constituents 


• While many of these concerns could be addressed given our program model that relies 
heavily on local market actors, the Energy Trust feels it is not currently positioned with 
the support necessary for smooth successful full-scale program delivery 


 
Consulting Support 
The report developed by the Energy Trust provides Cascade with many of the elements of a 
framework for contracting for efficiency programs, including a resource analysis and elements of 
program targeting and design. Should Cascade desire, the Energy Trust can provide consulting 
support to Cascade to assist with the launch of programs in Washington. 


• At Cascade’s request, the Energy Trust could provide limited ongoing support for 
development of Cascade’s Washington programs, including: 


o Work with Cascade to outline recommended program support activities and 
internal staffing requirements 


o Provide assistance in developing requests for proposals for program management 
contractors (PMCs) and internal program support 


o Identify qualified potential service providers 
o Assist in developing proposal evaluation criteria 
o Provide advice based on our experience in establishing contractual  arrangements 


with PMCs that provide appropriate incentives to support achievement of 
Cascade program goals  


o Assist in the development of specifications for systems to track program 
participation, spending and impacts 


o Share information on processes for planning and budgeting to ensure adequate 
program resources 


o Provide input on core functionality of systems to track program spending and 
impacts 


o Develop draft templates for regulatory reporting 
o Provide ongoing assistance regarding PMC management and program 


performance and enhancement, e.g. incentive levels and marketing strategies 
• This approach minimizes major stakeholders concerns for both Cascade and the Energy 


Trust, while providing Cascade access to the significant expertise built by the ET since its 
inception  








  
Briefing Paper 
Proposed Enhancement to the Production 
Efficiency Program Delivery Structure 
August 8, 2007 


Summary 


To simplify and strengthen the Production Efficiency program delivery structure for 2008 by 
contracting directly with Program Delivery Contractors and Allied Technical Assistance 
Contractors, improving management and communications, and fostering direct relationships 
between contractors, customers and Energy Trust. 


Background  
• Energy Trust currently contracts with a Program Management Contractor (PMC) who 


in turn contracts with Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) and Allied Technical 
Assistance Contractors (ATACs) to serve program participants.  


• PDCs serve as the primary program participant contacts, with ATACs providing 
engineering support.  


• The program attracts many specialized, custom projects identified in engineering 
analyses. 


• The program depends heavily on strong and effective relationships between contractors, 
participants, program field staff, vendors, and Energy Trust.  


• With the exception of 2006, the program has fallen short of meeting its annual savings 
goals. 


• The 2006 resource assessment identified 140 aMW of achievable potential in the 
industrial sector for the period 2006-2012. Staff projects that 118 aMW remains to be 
acquired during this time period, approximately 23.5 aMW per year.  


• With most of the "low-hanging fruit" picked, future projects are expected to require 
more targeted outreach, marketing and sales.   


• To successfully close future projects, staff also anticipates that more "hand-holding" will 
be both helpful and necessary. 


• Lockheed Martin, the current Production Efficiency program management contractor, 
has participated in numerous discussions of program delivery options, offering 
constructive input and pledging its full cooperation in support of the program, its 
customers and any future transition requirements.  


Analysis 
 
Staff views the current structure of the Production Efficiency program delivery model as having 
served a very positive role up to this time. The technical skills and expertise of the PMC are 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


2 


noteworthy. In addition, the PMC model enabled fast service in marketplace and early 
measurable results at a time when the Energy Trust was first starting up. Now the program is 
mature. Both field experience and evaluation results have identified opportunities to strengthen 
the current approach to better serve customers on a going forward basis.  


As discussed at the June strategic planning worksession, staff identified a number of topics 
related to the production efficiency program, including its current structure, communications 
and relationships with program participants. Following the staff presentation and board 
discussion of these topics, the board requested that staff conduct additional analysis of the 
current program structure to further improve and strengthen it.  


In response to the board's request, staff identified and analyzed 3 areas believed to influence the 
program's future effectiveness and success: 1) management; 2) communications; and 3) customer 
relationships. Staff was motivated to address these issues now, in anticipation of the expiration 
of the current PMC contract at the end of the current calendar year. Below is an analysis of 
each topic: 
 


1. More efficient management - The existing program structure has Energy Trust 
managing a program management contractor who in turn manages program delivery 
contractors (PDCs) and allied technical assistance contractors (ATACs). Energy Trust 
communicates its needs and priorities to the PMC who is expected to share such 
information in the course of its management and direction of 4 PDCs and 13 different 
ATACs. This multi-tiered approach to program management has added time and 
resulted in inefficiencies, miscommunications and confusion. There have also been delays 
in a variety of areas, including program status and projected activity, data for design 
considerations and implementation of program changes. The lack of Energy Trust direct 
access to and management of PDCs and ITACs has created challenges. There have been 
difficulties in offering, reinforcing and ensuring support for Energy Trust priorities such 
as new pilot programs or initiatives for operations and maintenance and for renewable 
energy opportunities. 


 
2. More effective communications – Energy Trust believes the current structure has 


resulted in periodic misunderstandings, misperceptions, inefficiencies, and other 
challenges to effective and timely communications between various parties. Energy Trust 
is viewed as bureaucratic with many layers of communication. This perception may be 
keeping some potential participants from availing themselves of program opportunities. 
Miscommunications regarding funding levels during 2005-2006 resulted in lingering 
misconceptions about the program. Participants recently contacted stated they were 
unaware of funding being stabilized, indicating that such information has not been 
successfully communicated. Emails sent from the PMC to the PDCs may not always be 
copied to Energy Trust, resulting in duplicate communications or slightly different 
messaging. This has produced program confusion. Though meetings between the PMC 
and the PDCs are expected, they have not been regularly held. In addition, the PMC has 
exercised its judgment about policy decisions without always seeking prior Energy Trust 
input. This, too, has resulted in misunderstandings that have impacted customers.  


 
3. Long-term customer relationships – Unlike most other efficiency programs, the 


success of this program is heavily dependent upon relationships between all players 
including participants, program field staff, vendors, and Energy Trust. When the program 
was initiated in 2003, significant low hanging fruit was available for picking in the 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


3 


industrial sector. Combined with the high “kicker” incentive, our first offers were 
designed to get attention and attract participants. Looking forward, relationships with 
participants will become more important, with more “hand-holding” anticipated to 
acquire the next tier of projects. Now the challenge is to “sell” projects with lower 
incentives while touting project benefits. An increased number of custom projects is 
expected, which often benefit from and depend upon cultivating sustained relationships.  


 
 Participants expressed an interest in having more direct contact with Energy Trust. 


Evaluations have reinforced this direct feedback, noting customer support for increased 
direct contact with Energy Trust. A simplified structure would connect Energy Trust 
staff and decision-makers with participants. This long-term investment is seen as 
preferable to having such relationships housed with a PMC, whose contract period is a 
maximum of 2-3 years.  


In addition to requesting the above refined analysis, the board identified two primary questions 
at the June board strategic planning work session for staff to address: 


1. How might this program change be received by participants? 


2. Recognizing the critical importance of technical skills, what is the likelihood that Energy 
Trust could attract and retain an appropriate and effective manager?  


Staff surveyed more than 20 Production Efficiency program participants by telephone to seek 
information from them about the current program model and to test reactions to any proposed 
changes in the program structure. To summarize, the majority of participants reached were 
unaware of the current program structure, had little or no contact with the PMC and supported 
the idea of eliminating a layer of program management. The following topics were raised during 
participant telephone discussions with staff: 


• The PMC model can quickly process a large volume of standard, similar projects and can 
also be ramped up or down in response to demand 


• The 2-3 year life of PMC contracts limits the ability to develop and maintain longer-term 
relationships with participants 


• Participants desire more direct contact with Energy Trust staff and prefer to speak to 
their counterpart decision-makers  


 
Staff concurs that being able to attract and retain a program manager with the technical skills 
necessary to support the PE program being managed in-house is paramount to the success of 
this transition and to the program’s ongoing success. Since the June board worksession, staff has 
identified and held informal meetings with two qualified candidates who possess the requisite 
experience to serve industrial customers. Staff has confidence that Energy Trust could offer a 
competitive salary and benefits to appropriately fill this important position.  


Staffing and Budget Impacts 


The proposed modification would add two FTEs, a Technical Program Manager and an Industrial 
Coordinator, to Energy Trust staff. In addition, Energy Trust legal and contract staff would 
experience some increased workload to negotiate contracts with PDCs and ATACs. However, 
this need may be met by converting a current 30-hour per week legal contract position to a full-
time FTE. The estimated annual budget impact would likely be either neutral or a slight cost 
savings advantage. 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


4 


Summary 


The proposed changes to the PE program delivery model are designed to achieve significant 
management, communications and relationship improvements anticipated for the future success 
of the program. A single layer of management currently performed by the PMC would be 
eliminated, simplifying the current contracting structure. Funds currently spent for the PMC 
contract role will be shifted to internal staff and operations, resulting in no significant cost 
increases and perhaps some modest savings. 


The new model is expected to provide numerous benefits to PDCs, ATACs, program 
participants and Energy Trust staff. These include clearer and more direct lines of management 
and communication. Energy Trust would also develop more direct and long-term relationships 
with PDCs, ATACs and participants. Ultimately, Energy Trust will have direct responsibility and 
accountability for the program’s accomplishments. 


Recommendation 


Staff seeks board endorsement to simplify the delivery structure for the Production Efficiency 
program by transitioning to in-house program management effective January 2008. 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


5 


Appendix 1 – ADDITIONAL DETAILED ANALYSIS 


Issue 
 
Energy Trust believes that the current delivery model for the Production Efficiency program 
could be strengthened. Looking forward, it is expected to become more difficult to continue to 
acquire savings using the existing model. Staff wants more direct management, communication 
and relationships with both contractors and participants. This is believed to be necessary if the 
program is to continue to attract participants and their corresponding specialized, custom 
projects. The program will be better able to achieve these improvements if the contracting 
structure is modified and a single layer of PMC management is removed. This is expected to 
result in more direct management and accountability from Energy Trust and improved 
communication and relationships with contractors and customers. 
 
This proposed structure change applies only to the Production Efficiency program, a low volume 
program emphasizing custom projects resulting from engineering analyses conducted by 
contractors. In 2006, 167 custom projects were processed reflecting the majority of program 
incentives and savings. In addition, a total of 57 prescriptive motor projects were processed, 
accounting for less than 2% of the total program incentives and savings for motors were 
processed.  
 
Unlike most other efficiency programs, the success of this program is heavily dependent upon 
establishment and maintenance of relationships between all players including participants, 
program field staff, vendors, and Energy Trust. Staff expects the need for strong relationships to 
grow in importance in the future. Significant “low hanging fruit” has been picked in the first years 
of the industrial sector program, especially with the early high “kicker” incentive offerings 
designed to attract early participation. Now the challenge is to “sell” projects with lower 
incentives, touting project benefits, rather than fulfilling more routine requests. Communications 
and relationships are more important in this environment where the sales cycle is more 
complex. This is expected to grow in importance with more specialized decision-making 
involved in project analysis and offerings.  


Existing Program Structure 


The existing structure has three key elements impacting the long term prospects and success of 
the program. These areas can be addressed now, in anticipation of the expiration of the current 
PMC contract at the end of this year, and in consideration of future program and participant 
needs.  


1. More efficient management – The current number of contracting layers provides 
ETO direct management responsibility for the PMC and only indirect and periodic 
access to 4 PDCs  and13 ATACs. Information about Energy Trust program priorities 
and changes are filtered through the PMCs to PDC’s and ATACs. This has added layers 
of management and accountability, time delays, and at times, miscommunication. The 
current structure results in: 
§ Energy Trust being reactive to information and issues that warrant staff attention 
§ Delayed responses in fulfilling requests for market data for program design 


considerations 
§ Delayed program adjustments 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


6 


§ Complex and limited integration and coordination of new initiatives such as the 
O&M pilot 


§ Limited collaboration and integration of renewable energy programs  
§ Irregular meetings held with PDCs 
§ Delays in PMC invoicing  
§ Delays in PMC payments to PDCs 


2.  More effective communications - The existing structure creates time delays, 
inefficiencies, and other challenges to smooth communications between parties. This has 
resulted in:  
§ Misunderstandings about available program funds 
§ Missed opportunities to make the marketplace and customers aware of stable 


program funding  
§ Perceptions that the program has many layers and required steps, which may deter 


some participants  
§ Inherent delays that compromise customer service 
§ Complex reporting structures 
§ Reliance upon PMC relationships and communication vs. direct Energy Trust 


relationships and communication with customers 
§ Confusion regarding email communications sent by PMC to PDCs without 


consistently copying Energy Trust, resulting in duplicate information and slightly 
different messages 


§ PMC policy interpretations and decisions made without ETO input can result in lost 
opportunities or misunderstandings  


 
3.  Long-term customer relationships - There are two primary aspects of long-term 


customer relationships Energy Trust would like to address and strengthen: 1) 
Participants have expressed a desire for more direct contact with Energy Trust, 
eliminating program management layers and providing access to decision-makers and 2) 
Energy Trust anticipates deriving benefit from having ongoing direct feedback from the 
experiences of PDCs, ATACs and participants. Information from these sources will be 
used improve program design. The current structure poses limitations because: 
§ Multiple layers of contracts separate large PDCs, ATACs and customers from 


Energy Trust 
§ Relationships with participants are expected to become more important if more 


custom projects are to be attracted 
§ Such custom projects need and benefit from investments in sustained relationships, 


extending beyond the 2-3 maximum tenure of PMC contracts 
§ Market information is presently difficult to glean and cumbersome to incorporate 


into program decisions; this was true for an analysis of market conditions impacting 
the rate of municipal participants, which resulted in a delay in making related 
incentive changes 


 
Benefits to Stakeholders 


The 3 primary program stakeholders identified below are expected to derive direct benefits 
from the proposed structure improvements: 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


7 


1. Participants  
• Energy Trust will be more informed about and responsive to needed changes in 


program design to better meet participant needs, enabling incentive adjustments, 
training, project management and streamlining options being considered to be made 
in a more timely manner 


• Participants will have a direct line of contact to Energy Trust if they desire 
• Current PDC relationships will remain, preserving direct customer service 
• Shorter decision-making timeline for specialized projects requiring interpretation of 


policy 
• More direct reinforcement of and response to renewable energy opportunities and 


questions 


2. Energy Trust 
• More emphasize on investing in long-term relationships with participants 
• Direct line of communication with and feedback from PDCs and ATACs regarding 


the marketplace  
• Joint establishment of and accountability for PDC goals  
• Direct ability to address concerns and opportunities in a timely manner 
• Direct program communications and coordination with PDCs for a consistent 


message to participants 
• Better access to project files and FastTrack entry data 
• Inclusion of renewable program education and possible pre-screening role for the 


PDCs 


3. Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) 
• Direct relationships and two-way communications with Energy Trust 
• Greater input into program design 
• Joint establishment of and accountability for goals  
• Encouragement for innovation and creativity regarding projects and corresponding 


savings 
 
Risks of Change 
 
One risk of changing the program delivery model is the loss of program momentum. This risk 
can be hedged substantially by making no other changes to the program structure for 2008. 
Under this proposal, PDCs and ATACs contracts would be changed to Energy Trust. However, 
their roles would remain the same. Consistency for these stakeholders will help them focus on 
maintaining bringing in new projects throughout the transition period. The program is just now 
starting to build up after being dramatically reduced in 2006 due to miscommunications 
regarding funding levels. Currently, less than 30% of the 2008 budget is committed, which is low 
when the goal for the year is 75%.  


 
Additional Options Considered 


Two additional options for addressing the three key program issues were considered but the 
recommended design is still the preferred option because it addresses all key issues. 


1. Maintaining the existing structure but expanding the scope of work could address 
communications and relationships by detailing Energy Trust expectations to have a 
direct pulse on the market and regular focus groups with participants. A more detailed 







Proposed Enhancement to Production Efficiency Program Delivery August 8, 2007  


8 


scope of work would increase the amount of Energy Trust staff time in oversight of the 
contract, monitoring the PMCs progress and taking away the PMCs freedom to run the 
program as they see fit. This solution would not address the issue of program control 
which is defined by lines of contracting.  


2. Continuing with a PMC but modifying their role such that they are a contracted 
program technical advisor, reviewing and assigning studies and coordinating incentives 
with PDCs is another option. Under this scenario, Energy Trust would contract with 
PDCs, ATACs, and a PMC. This solution would add another element of coordination 
and communication effort by having the technical manager out of house and the benefit 
of doing so would only be because we were not able to secure that technical resource 
in-house in a full time capacity. 


Comparison to Energy Trust goals  
• Program has not met savings goals other than in 2006. 
• Program experienced serious communication issues between all parties in 2005-2006 


creating budgeting issues throughout Energy Trust, not meeting our goals of serving 
ratepayer needs most effectively. 


• Have yet to realize significant Small Industrial track activity although this market sector 
has been included in the previous RFP, PMC proposal, and SOWs for several years. 


• Although not broken, this program can benefit from modifications and more direct 
attention and control from Energy Trust. 


Industrial Sector Potential 


Achievable potential for industrial sector 2006-2012 is 140 aMW. In 2006 we achieved 8.93 
aMW and we are forecasting 13.5 aMW for 2007 leaving 118 aMW 2008-2012 yet to be 
acquired. That equates to 23.5 aMW per year remaining to acquire, showing a continuing need 
for an industrial program at Energy Trust. Although the PMC models does allow for a quick 
ramp up and down associated with program staffing needs, we don’t see a short term need to 
cut back in industrial. 


Contract Extension 
• Extension of the PMC contract is not a favorable option for the program 
• Distraction from moving forward 
• Would require working on extended contract and scope of work while pursuing other 


options 
o This translates down to PDCs and ATACs. 


• Increases administrative cost burden by doubling the annual contracting load for the 
program with no long term benefit 


• Difficult to move ahead with long looming transition 
• Would have to construct six-month goals for PMC 
• Out of synch with other programs 
• Perceived as a simple task to just extend but requires a great deal of work as with a 


regular contract amendment 








 
 
Board Decision 
Proposed Funding for EPCC Solar Project  
August 8, 2007 


Summary 
 
Staff seeks authority to enter into a contract with EPCC Solar LLC to pay up to 100% of the 
above-market cost, not to exceed $166,500, of a 90 kW solar project. 
 


Background 
 


• The proposed project involves a 90 kW (nameplate capacity) solar array to be placed on 
the City of Portland’s East Portland Community Center. Ground was broken for the 
EPCC structure in July, 2007; the solar project is expected to be installed in the summer 
of 2008. 


 
• The solar system ensures the project will attain at least a gold LEED rating. This will be 


the first time in Oregon that a solar system is a key factor in securing a LEED rating. It 
may be enough to provide a platinum rating under LEED, but this will not be known for 
certain until the final calculations are reviewed by the Green Building Council. 


 
• EPCC Solar LLC consists of an outside investor and the non-profit Bonneville 


Environmental Foundation (BEF).   
 


• The project will be financed as follows: 
 


o PGE will make $100,000 grant to the project.  
 
o An LLC composed of Bonneville Environmental Foundation (BEF) and a major 


investor will own the project and sell the project’s power to the City of 
Portland. The investor will use the project’s tax benefits in the project’s early years, 
and then majority ownership will “flip” to BEF, at which point the LLC may or may 
not continue to exist. At that point, the city may purchase the solar system.  


 
o Energy Trust will pay 100% of the above-market costs of the project, $166,440. This 


sum includes $9,000 to be paid to BEF, if it buys out the major investor and the City 
does not purchase the system from BEF. The funds for BEF are needed to ensure 
full costs are covered if BEF’s ownership lasts longer than expected.  


 
• Energy Trust and PGE will jointly take title to all the tags for the project and retire them 


on behalf of PGE ratepayers. 
 
 







Proposed Funding for EPCC Solar Project (R443)        August 8, 2007 


 


Page 2 of 3 


• Major terms of the proposed agreement:  
 


o Energy Trust’s payment will be made upon commissioning of the system after an 
inspection shows the project meets Energy Trust’s solar program installation 
standards and is ready for commercial operation.  


 
o The LLC will manage the project to meet construction and operation milestones.  
 
o If after the start of commercial operation, the project fails to generate at least half 


of its 92,434 kWh generation capability in any 12-month period, the LLC will repay 
Energy Trust a pro-rated portion of the Energy Trust subsidy.  


  
Discussion 
 


• The project would help encourage solar in Oregon by demonstrating:   
o that PV systems can be a key part in securing LEED ratings in the Portland area;  
o a new financing model that municipalities and non-profits can use to finance PV;  
o continuing partnership with PGE on projects in its service area; and, 
o that solar PV projects in Oregon can attract investors.  


 
 Recommendation 
 


• Approve funding for the project by adopting resolution number 443: 
 







Proposed Funding for EPCC Solar Project (R443)        August 8, 2007 


 


Page 3 of 3 


RESOLUTION #443 


APPROVING FUNDING FOR THE EPCC SOLAR PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. EPCC Solar LLC proposes 90 kW (nameplate capacity) solar 
photovoltaic array to be placed on the East Portland Community 
Center. The LLC consists of an outside investor and the Bonneville 
Environmental Foundation. 


2. The LLC seeks an Energy Trust incentive to pay 100% of the above-
market costs of the solar project, $166,440. 


3. The project will encourage solar in Oregon by demonstrating that 
solar photovoltaic projects can play a key role in achieving LEED 
ratings in the Portland area, and demonstrating a financing model 
that other municipalities and non-profits can use to finance such 
projects.   


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc., authorizes the Executive Director to negotiate and execute a 
contract with EPCC LLC to pay up to $166,440 of the above-market costs of 
the solar project, consistent with the following terms: 


1. Energy Trust’s payment will be made after the system is 
commissioned and an inspection shows the project meets Energy 
Trust’s solar program installation standards and is ready for 
commercial operation.  


2. EPCC LLC will manage the project to meet agreed construction and 
operation milestones.  


3. If after the start of commercial operation, the project fails to 
generate at least half of its 92,434 kWh generation in any 12-month 
period, the LLC will repay a pro-rated portion of the Energy Trust 
incentive. 


 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 
 
Board Decision 
Proposed Funding for Swalley Irrigation District 
Hydropower project  
August 8, 2007 


Summary 
 
Staff seeks authority to enter into a contract with Swalley Irrigation District to pay up to 
$895,609 of the above-market costs of a 750-kilowatt (kW) hydropower project. 


Background 
 
• Swalley Irrigation District proposes to pipe 5.1 miles of what is now an open irrigation canal 


that diverts water from the Deschutes River in Bend. The pipe would conserve water, a 
significant portion of which the District would restore to the Deschutes. The project is 
expected to be completed in mid-2008. 


 
• Energy Trust would pay the above-market costs of installing a generator at the end of the 5.1-


mile pipe. The generator’s nameplate capacity would be 750 kW, will operate during the 6.5 
month irrigation season and is expected to generate 2,752 megawatt-hours (MWh) per year.  


 
• The total project cost is $10,436,585. Because of the project’s watershed benefits, Swalley has 


secured commitments for $4,228,865 in grants from the Oregon Watershed Enhancement 
Board, the Deschutes River Basin Conservancy, the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation, 
and several other agencies and organizations.  


 
• Staff analysis concluded that an incentive of $895,609 was necessary to cover the full above-


market costs and bring the project on-line. The analysis used the newly submitted market 
prices from Pacific Power for standard, qualifying facilities.  


 
• The incentive has a levelized cost of $0.0216/kWh, which is lower than the cost forecasted in 


the 2007-2008 budgets for the Open Solicitation Program. 
 
• Staff proposes to pay the incentive based on production over a fifteen year period. The 


payments would match the 15-year term and debt service requirements of an anticipated loan 
from the State Energy Loan Program (SELP). Energy Trust would own all green tags. 


 
• Energy Trust funding would be contingent on approval of their pending application for a loan 


through Oregon’s State Energy Loan Program (SELP) and securing a BETC pass-through. 
 
• Major terms of the proposed agreement:  
 
 • Payment will begin upon commissioning of the project after an inspection shows   
   standards for commercial operation have been met.  
 







Proposed Funding for Swalley Irrigation District (R444)                 August 8, 2007 


 


Page 2 of 3 


 • Swalley will manage the project to meet agreed construction and operation milestones.  
 
 • Payments will be spread over 15 years and based on actual generation.  If the project    
   fails to meet minimum production levels and cannot solve the problem, Energy trust will 
   be able to reduce its incentive.  
  
Discussion 
 
• The piping portion of the project will provide a variety of benefits to the Deschutes River 


watershed by increasing flows and cooling the river.  
 
• The project will help develop our relationship with irrigation districts and open the door to 


other hydropower projects.  
 
• The project will demonstrate that the fish impacts of irrigation can be reduced while 


increasing hydropower generation. 
 
• The project is an example of a multi-partner/multi-benefit project in a water-challenged part 


of the state and sets the stage for other cooperative endeavors.  
  
 Recommendation 
 
Approve funding for the project by adopting resolution number 444:







Proposed Funding for Swalley Irrigation District (R444)                 August 8, 2007 


 


Page 3 of 3 


RESOLUTION #444 


APPROVING FUNDING FOR THE SWALLEY IRRIGATION DISTRICT 
HYDROPOWER PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Swalley Irrigation District proposes to pipe 5.1 miles of what is now 
an open irrigation canal that diverts water from the Deschutes River 
in Bend. The pipe would conserve water, a significant portion of which 
the District would restore to the Deschutes. 


2. Swalley seeks an Energy Trust incentive to pay the above-market 
costs of installing a 750 kW generator (nameplate capacity) at the 
end of the 5.1-mile pipe. If paid over 15 years, the above-market costs 
of the project’s electric generation would be $895,609. 


3. Energy Trust funding would be contingent on approval of a State 
Energy Loan and Swalley securing a pass-through partner under the 
state’s Business Energy Tax Credit program. 


4. The project will demonstrate the benefits of cooperation among 
diverse parties in a water-challenged part of the State.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the 
Executive Director to negotiate and execute a contract with the Swalley 
Irrigation District to pay up to $895,609 of the above-market costs of the 
electric generation aspect of this project, consistent with the following 
terms: 


1. Payment will begin upon commissioning of the project after an 
inspection shows standards are met for commercial operation.  


2. Swalley will manage the project to meet agreed construction and 
operation milestones.  


3. Funds will be paid on actual production over a 15 year period. 


4. Energy Trust will receive all the green tags generated by the project. 
 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 
 








 
 
Board Briefing 
Revised Renewable Energy Strategic Goals and 
Minimum Performance Measures 
August 8, 2007 


Summary 
 
At the request of the board, staff drafted revised goals for the Energy Trust’s renewable energy 
efforts, reflecting the new focus on projects of 20 megawatts (MW) and less as specified in the 
Oregon Renewable Energy Act. Staff analyses suggest reducing the current OPUC performance 
measures  from the minimum 12 average megawatts (aMW) of renewable energy production 
per year to a new range. The proposed starting point would be 3.2 aMW in 2009, growing to 
4.2 aMW by 2016. Staff seeks feedback from the board on the approach and results. 
 
Background 
 
The passage of SB 838, Oregon's Renewable Energy Act, created a renewable portfolio standard 
for Oregon electric utilities. Along with specifying the amount of new renewable resources that 
must be in utility portfolios, it extended the life of the public purpose charge and refocused the 
renewable energy portion of the charge on smaller projects of 20 MW or less. Referred to in 
the legislation as ‘community energy projects,’ the definition of what constitutes renewable 
energy for Energy Trust purposes was not changed. 
 
Energy Trust current strategic plan goals and minimum OPUC performance measures for 
renewable energy include investment in large utility-scale projects. While such projects require 
significant incentives, they also deliver large amounts of energy for less incentives on a per kWh 
basis.  
 
Including projects that are operating, under construction and under contract, Energy Trust will 
have helped bring 91.1 aMW of large-scale generation and 19.7 aMW of community energy 
generation (20 MW and less) on line by the end of 2008. This averages to 15.2 aMW of large-
scale generation per year and 3.28 aMW of smaller-scale generation per year, above the 
minimum 12 aMW anticipated each year.  
 
Proposed Revised OPUC Performance Measures 
 
Since 2003, annual funding for large-scale generation has averaged 40% - 45% of the overall 
budgets for renewable energy generation. Assuming that all other program considerations 
remain equal, increasing the small-scale renewable budget by 40% might suggest that the new 
minimum performance measure should be 40% higher than the historical average, or 4.6 aMW 
per year. This would presume that all future projects cost on average what they have 
historically. 







Revised Renewable Energy Goals           August 8, 2007 


 2 


 
There are reasons why historical costs are not expected to continue in the future. First, prices 
have significantly increased for all energy technologies in the last two years. While the increase 
has leveled off, equipment and construction costs are still expected to rise for the relatively 
lower cost community wind projects. Second, Energy Trust has developed the least expensive 
projects, those that were easy and quick to bring on line. This deliberate strategy created 
volume, attracted a market and rationed limited funds among numerous, competing 
opportunities.  
 
It is assumed that to achieve greater volume in the future, we will need to penetrate markets 
more deeply, investing more than was initially required to achieve continued results. Over the 
longer term, we can also expect some costs to come down due to technology improvements, 
economies of scale and experience. These gains should allow increasing levels of achievement 
over time.  
 
Approach 
 
The suggested staff approach to forecasting new minimum performance measures involved the 
following steps:   


1. Establish base costs to acquire renewable energy by program and by utility.  
a. Derive from actual projects completed in 2007 and known contract costs for 


2007-2008.  
b. Revise to incorporate any changes to or new state and federal tax benefits. 


2. Forecast future revenues by utility.  
3. Establish program shares of the budget for each program by each utility by year.  
4. Forecast trends in acquisition costs by program considering: 


a. Technology cost trends 
• Energy Information Administration, trade groups, industry experts 


b. Electricity price forecasts 
• Utility IRP, Qualified Facility filings 


c. Tax benefit changes  
d. Energy Policies 


• Renewable Portfolio Standards  
• CO2 regulations and requirements 
 


Results 
 
Staff performed the analysis through 2016 to correspond with the first real RPS milestone and 
to reflect the increasing uncertainty around technology forecasts. Staff found the range of 
realistic achievement was from 3.2 – 5.2 aMW in 2009, growing to 4.2 - 7.7 aMW a year by 
2016. This range primarily reflects the differences in expectations for technology gains and other 
project-related cost savings. The first chart (below) graphs the possible annual achievement by 
year from 2009-2016. 
 
Not counting the accomplishments through 2008, the Energy Trust can expect to get from 29.4 
to 49.8 aMW of additional community energy with funding through 2016. The second chart 
shows the cumulative achievement from the annual acquisitions in the first chart. 
 







Revised Renewable Energy Goals           August 8, 2007 


 3 


The Oregon Renewable Energy Act sets out a "soft" goal of deriving 8% of the state’s energy 
from community energy projects by 2025. Staff estimates this roughly translates to 270 aMW in 
2015 and 450 aMW in 2025 for PGE and Pacific Power. Our analysis indicates that Energy Trust 
has enough completed installations, pending projects and future funding, to meet 18%-26% of 
the community energy goal identified in the Oregon Renewable Energy Act. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
There are varying levels of uncertainty surrounding this projected range of results. Aside from 
the significant assumptions about gains in technology and costs, other assumptions that have 
large impacts on these results include tax codes, energy policy, public purpose revenues, 
program mix and market prices for power. 
 
The single largest effect on the results will come from changes in state and federal tax program 
and energy policies. For instance, elimination of just the federal tax credits would increase 
Energy Trust costs and reduce potential results by at least 20-35%. An inability to utilize the 
state’s business energy tax credits could reduce achievable potential by at least another 30%. 
There are an infinite number of possible changes and alternative futures for such tax and policy 
changes which could be considered. In this analysis, staff assumed the state and federal tax 
benefits and policies for renewable programs would continue at the current levels. Staff 
proposes to retain this same assumption as goals and performance measures are finalized.  
 
Differences in funding for the mix of individual programs can also change results. Staff estimated 
program shares based on the following: historical distribution, near-term opportunities and a 
balance between high and low cost resources. These assumptions are reflected throughout the 
following analysis: 
 


Program  Pacific Power  PGE  
Biopower   35%  30%   
Wind    25  30 
Solar    20  30 
Open Solicitation  20  10   


 
At the extreme, achievable potential can be increased by 24% in both the high and low cases by 
reducing the open solicitation and solar programs to half of today’s levels and assuming the 
additional biopower and wind can be acquired faster and at the same cost as in the base cases. 
  
Changes in revenue forecasts will impact the results. In this analysis staff assumed a 2% annual 
growth rate in public purpose revenues, resulting in average total renewable energy program 
funding of  $12.0 million per year. Keeping the revenue forecast flat over time would reduce the 
overall budget and lower both the high and the low forecasts by 9%. 
 
Higher than expected prices to developers will lower the above-market costs to Energy Trust 
and allow more projects to be built. Lower market prices will increase above-market costs and 
constrain the number of projects Energy Trust could fund. However, such impact is not linear 
across technologies. The pattern and type of change in prices paid for peak, off-peak and 
seasonal prices will have widely differing effects on biomass, wind, solar and hydro projects.  
 
Pacific Power and PGE are identifying revised power prices for qualifying facilities, those that are 
10 MW and smaller with standard contracts. Our staff analysis includes an average estimate of 







Revised Renewable Energy Goals           August 8, 2007 


 4 


the impact of the new prices. The impact will need to be examined for all technologies 
separately and incorporated into final goals and revised performance measures. 
 


Renewable Advisory Council Review 
 
Members of the Renewable Advisory Council (RAC) thought the approach, assumptions and 
results seemed reasonable.    
 
Next Steps 
 
Based on board input and new utility power prices , staff will finalize this analysis and propose 
goals for board approval as part of the budget process. Staff will also work with the OPUC 
toward adoption of revised minimum performance measures. 







Revised Renewable Energy Goals           August 8, 2007 


 5 


 
 


Chart One 
 


Average MW per year


2.00


3.00


4.00


5.00


6.00


7.00


8.00


9.00


2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016


High
Low


 
 


Chart Two 
 


Cumulative Average MW


0.00


10.00


20.00


30.00


40.00


50.00


60.00


2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016


Years


high low
 








 
 
Board Briefing 
Protocol for Considering Renewable Energy 
Demonstration Projects 
August 8, 2007 


Summary 
 
From time to time, Energy Trust has considered funding projects that demonstrate new 
renewable energy technology to the Oregon market. To build a pipeline of viable projects able 
to meet our long-term goals, it may make sense to continue or ramp up such efforts. This 
document formalizes the criteria we use to ensure that demonstration projects are compatible 
with our mandate and organizational goals. Staff seeks board comment and review. 
 


Background 
 
Energy Trust’s formal policies and program implementation manuals set out the conditions 
under which our renewable energy programs fund projects. Generally, we fund projects that 
deliver renewable power for the benefit of PGE or Pacific Power customers over the long term, 
using commercial technology. An Energy Trust subsidy should allow the project to earn a 
reasonable, risk-adjusted, project-specific rate of return.  
 
Building a pipeline of financially sound projects to meet Energy Trust’s goals in the long term will 
require us in some cases to invest in demonstration projects. These demonstration projects may 
not meet all the conditions above. For instance, they may employ technology that is not yet fully 
commercial. This paper describes two classes of demonstrations that may be eligible for funding, 
and distinguishes demonstrations that are ineligible. 
 
Senate Bill 838 amended provisions that apply to renewable energy to require public purpose 
funds to be used to defray the above-market cost of “constructing and operating” renewable 
energy resources. The principles described below reflect our broader interpretation of this 
amendment. However, the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC) is also reviewing this 
language, which could affect these principles. 
 


Guiding principles for all demonstration projects 
 


• Must lead to projects. Energy Trust will only entertain demonstration projects that 
increase the likelihood that additional projects will be constructed and operated within 
the timescale (by 2025) and geography (the Oregon service territories of Pacific Power 
and PGE) contemplated by the legislature. We will not undertake basic science, research 
or development.  


 







Protocol for Considering Renewable Energy Demonstration Projects      August 8, 2007 
 


2 


• Must have dissemination plan. Demonstration proposals must include a plan of what 
is going to be demonstrated to whom, and how. That is, there must be clear idea of 
how the knowledge gained will be used to build projects that help create a market for 
future projects.  


• Incentives based on standard analysis. We will calculate incentives based on Energy 
Trust’s approved above-market cost methodology. 


• Must deliver benefits to Energy Trust stakeholders. Demonstration projects must be 
located in Oregon. They must deliver a) electric power to PGE or Pacific Power, b) 
green tags that benefit PGE or Pacific Power ratepayers, or c) both power and tags. 
Alternatively, there must be a clear likelihood that a successful demonstration will 
facilitate the construction of projects that deliver power to PGE or Pacific Power. 


 
Demonstrations of pre-commercial technology or approaches 
 
Energy Trust’s renewable energy programs typically limit project funding to commercial 
projects. We define “commercial” in terms of operating history for the technology or approach 
in question; easy availability of components from stable business entities; the use of standard 
performance warranties; access to service, maintenance and replacement parts; and the 
provision by vendors of complete documentation. 
 
We will consider funding projects using pre-commercial technology or approaches, including the 
use of pre-commercial components in an otherwise commercial project, under these conditions: 
 


• Realistic conditions:  We will fund demonstrations of pre-commercial technology in 
user facilities under normal operating conditions (i.e., beta tests). We will not fund 
demonstrations in laboratory or other controlled conditions (i.e., “alpha” tests).  


• Reasonable duration:  The demonstration must be designed to deliver power for at 
least 5 years. We will prioritize projects designed to deliver power over a longer term, 
ideally 15 – 20 years. 


• Stable operator:  The project must be owned by a stable business entity, using 
technology offered by a stable business entity.  


• Market significance:  We will prioritize demonstrations of technology that could 
uniquely fill a clear market niche (e.g., systems of a size not otherwise available in the 
market, or able to use an underutilized fuel), or compete with existing systems so as to 
improve quality and drive down prices. 


 
In most cases, these projects will pose higher risk than projects using commercial technology. 
Reflecting these risks, project owners may require a higher-than-usual rate of return. While 
Energy Trust may accommodate the need for higher returns, we will require program 
participants (or their project partners) that stand to gain financially from the development of a 
new technology to share some of that risk. We also acknowledge that demonstrations of pre-
commercial technology pose higher risks for Energy Trust, due to technology failures. 
 







Protocol for Considering Renewable Energy Demonstration Projects      August 8, 2007 
 


3 


Demonstration of commercial technology or approaches not in 
common use in Oregon 
 
In some cases, we will fund demonstrations of commercial technology not widely available in 
Oregon or not commonly used by specific market segment. These demonstrations will differ 
from standard projects chiefly in their higher costs associated with publicity, tours and related 
activities to inform the market. The overall evaluation criteria along with the specific criteria for 
pre-commercial technologies for duration, operator and market significance would be used to 
evaluate the value of the additional cost for demonstrations of commercial technology. 
 
Renewable Advisory Council Review 
 
Members of the Renewable Advisory Council (RAC) thought these criteria were appropriate 
and sufficiently flexible for the present. They suggested these be reviewed in one year, or when 
enough experience has been gained applying them. The suggestion that we be open to new 
technology in components of systems was incorporated into this revision. One member 
suggested we be active in seeking demonstration projects. Staff will consider this as part of the 
budget proposals in the Fall for 2008 – 2009.    
 
Next Steps 
 
With board input, staff will finalize these criteria and apply them in evaluating demonstration 
projects across all renewable energy programs. Budgets for demonstration projects will be 
considered through the standard budget approval process for the Energy Trust. 
 








 
 


 
 
 
Staff Report 
August 8, 2007 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period April 23, 2007 
through July 20, 2007. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described here. 


General 


• Conservation Services Group (CSG) was unanimously selected as the finalist for the 
Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes competitive RFP. The selection committee 
included three Energy Trust staff and representatives from the Eugene Water and 
Electric Board and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. CSG received a high 
aggregate score form the panel. Staff is now working with CSG to develop contract 
terms for board consideration at the October meeting. 


• Moss Adams completed the draft Enterprise Architecture Study addressing the status 
and recommendations for current and future Energy Trust IT and financial systems. 


• Tom Foley and Margie Harris presented the Q1 report to the OPUC. 
• At Caddy McKeown’s invitation, Margie addressed the South Coast Economic 


Development Council in Coos Bay, highlighting Energy Trust local projects and 
opportunities. 


• Margie addressed a large group of attendees at the National Association of Utility 
Regulatory Commissions (NARUC) meeting in New York City, speaking on a panel 
about decoupling and addressing our third-party delivery model. 


• With the Oregon Environmental Council, Energy Trust co-sponsored a well-attended 
event focused on sustainable practices for winery operations. Margie’s comments 
focused on wineries who have participated in Energy Trust efficiency and solar 
programs. 


• As a follow up to the Board Strategic Planning worksession in June, staff prepared 
materials to describe Energy Trust presence by geographic region throughout the state. 
This information appears under Tab 5 in the board meeting packet. 


Program Planning and Evaluation 


General 


The Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 
• The Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance’s board (which includes Energy Trust’s 


representative) approved in principle a redesign of the board to reduce its size from 28 
to 14 members and to create a more efficient organization. Three quarters of the new 
board will be representatives from organizations that fund the Alliance. Smaller funders 
and state energy offices will alternate having a representative serve a two-year term. As 
the second largest funder, Energy Trust will retain a permanent board seat. The future 
board will rely on expert advisory groups to complete work previously done by board 
committees. Energy Trust likely will participate in many of these groups.  


• Cost effectiveness analyses were done for new multifamily building efficiency measures 
with more detailed analyses to be completed. 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 2 of 10 


• Energy Trust is assessing the best way to address efficient furnaces when they are 
installed as backup units for heat pumps, a small part of a market we are trying to 
transform. 


Efficiency Programs 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• In conjunction with ODOE, the first verifier training was conducted in May and was 


well-received by more than 20 attendees.  
• 388 efficient new homes have been built to date this year, along with 150 new home 


efficiency enhancements and 87 efficient new manufactured homes. 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• A booth was staffed at the May KINK Sustainability Fair at OMSI with information 


provided on the “Change a Light, Change the World” campaign, ENERGY STAR New 
Homes, with interactive CFL displays. 


• The BPA Change a Light Big-Box CFL specialty promotion concluded with tremendous 
success. 


• Rebates for 8,842 efficient clothes washers were provided and the cost of 168,695 
efficient compact fluorescent light bulbs reduced to date this year. 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• Trained energy advisors to promote solar measures during home energy reviews. 
• Installed solar water heating systems in 23 homes with electric hot water and 25 homes 


with gas hot water. 
• Attracted over 30 plumbing contractors and solar professionals to solar water heating 


trade ally training. 


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• Projects in the pipeline are being added at a rate faster than ever before, resulting from 


outreach to potential participants in communities and firms throughout the state 
involving one-on-one meetings, seminars, on-line “webinars” and expanded marketing 
collateral.  


 
Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 


• Issued competitive RFP in July with finalist expected to be selected for presentation at 
the October 3 board meeting.  


• Finalized hotel/motel lodging marketing materials, new fact sheet and web page. 
• Worked closely with the Oregon Lodging Association to promote the new lodging 


program. 
• Installed solar water heating systems at seven commercial sites. 


 
Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 


• Finalized estimated savings of 74,618 kWh for 2006 for the Blue Heron 2005 project 
through a revised savings methodology agreed upon by all parties. Savings are currently 
70% of original estimates due to market condition changes and challenges impacting the 
company’s ability to secure reasonably priced waste paper needed for the de-inking 
process. Foreign markets are overbidding the market and shipping most US waste paper 
to China, where the paper manufacturing industry is thriving. 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 3 of 10 


• Completed and secured commitments for 15 projects through the new small industrial 
initiative, totaling 663,508 kWh savings and $100,891 incentive payments.  


• Launched an operations and maintenance focused pilot project including a facility review 
and 1 year of engineering assistance for implementation of identified no/low cost 
measures. 


NW Energy Efficiency Alliance 


Residential sector 
• Worked with the EPA, ODOE and Ecotope to develop a new ENERGY STAR 


specification in anticipation of Oregon code changes being approved.  
• Provided $5,000 in matching funds for the EPA’s cooperative print advertising campaign 


in southern Oregon. 
• Issued an RFP for the Fall Change A Light promotion, negotiated product selection, 


established and validated the sales percentages for retail locations, and coordinated with 
other Oregon utilities to ensure collaboration.  


 
Commercial sector 


• Sponsored a contest with the Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA) to 
recognize the most energy efficient Portland office buildings using the Energy Star 
Portfolio Manager benchmarking platform. Supported the BOMA Energy Efficiency 
Program (BEEP), an industry-led education program focusing on low and no-cost 
improvements in energy efficiency.  


• Assisted Legacy Health System in facility scoping and benchmarking for its Strategic 
Resource Management Plan to support energy efficiency opportunities on a multi-year 
basis across the system.  


• Provided education and technical assistance to architects and design engineers on a 
number of projects, including Portland State University’s recreation building, Portland’s 
Da Vinci Middle School, Shriner's Hospital for Children, Good Samaritan West Tower 
addition (Corvallis), Providence Hood River Hospital, Canby High School, and Happy 
Valley Elementary and Middle School.  


• Assisted Lamb's Thriftway in developing a comprehensive approach to control 
energy costs through planning, tracking and benchmarking, maintenance, upgrades, and 
employee awareness training.  


 
Industrial sector 


• Supported EnVinta One-2-Five assessments, in concert with PGE and Pacific Power, for 
Norpac Foods Plants in Stayton and Salem, Sabroso’s Woodburn plant and Georgia 
Pacific Camas.  This industrial focused program leads businesses through the process of 
incorporating energy efficiency in their business practices by getting buy-in from senior 
management as well as plant floor staff. 


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Multnomah County approved a resolution to pursue a megawatt of solar, financed using 


a third-party financing arrangement, over the coming three years. 
• Developed an incentive specifically for solar projects hosted by non-taxable entities, 


using the “flip” model for ownership for promotion later this summer.  







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 4 of 10 


• Obtained Renewable Advisory Council support for two open solicitation projects: East 
Portland Community Center 90 kW solar project and the Swalley Irrigation District 750 
kW hydropower project. 


• Co-sponsored and helped plan the Northwest Environmental Business Council’s 
“Making Renewable Power Projects Happen” event April 24; more than 300 people 
attended. 


• Presented at a Bend workshop sponsored by the Hydropower Working Group May 16; 
more than 100 people attended. 


• Met with Clean Water Services, Multnomah County, TriMet, and the City of Portland’s 
Water Bureau to discuss potential projects and participation.  


• Made presentations to the Molalla Rotary Club and the Kiwanis Club of Cedar Hills.  


Utility Scale 
• Energy Trust and PGE executed the final funding agreement to provide $6 million 


energy Trust support for the 125.4 MW first phase of the Biglow Canyon Wind Farm. 
Project completion may be as early as December, 2007 


• Energy Trust and Pacific Power signed the amended funding agreement for the revised 
94 MW GoodNoe Hills East Wind Project. The project is still expected to be 
completed by the end of this year.  


Wind 
• Presented the proposed approach to support small wind turbines for on-site use by PGE 


and Pacific Power customers to the Renewable Advisory Council for comment. RAC 
supported staff’s approach and the final design and offering will be ready late in August. 


• As part of an effort to take a more active role in helping local developers hurdle 
equipment supply issues for community wind projects, staff met with several turbine 
suppliers and financers to help secure a reliable supply of large turbines for Oregon 
projects. 


• Finished the evaluation of web-based wind mapping and evaluation tools in an effort to 
shift the anemometer loan program away from smaller towers and speed the process of 
project evaluation. Web data compared favorably to our own measured data for similar 
sites and has proven to be an accurate and effective source in other states. Staff will 
contract with the finalist to provide the mapping and evaluation for us and project 
sponsors.        


• Completed USDA Section 9006 grant and loan applications for the China Hollow 
project. 


• Installed a 50m anemometer for PEAMS community wind project. 
  


Biopower 
• Began feasibility study for City of Woodburn Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
• Completed feasibility study for Clean Water Services; USDA Section 9006 application 


for Gervais Biopower; scoping study for Scenic Fruit; scoping study for Heard Farms. 
• Initiated conversations with 3 wood products firms about biomass cogeneration 


projects and potential feasibility studies.  
• Signed Declaration of Cooperation for Oregon Solutions Animal Byproducts project, 


and committed to co-fund market assessment. 
• Reached in-principle agreement with Oregon Dairy Farmers Association to provide 


project facilitation services for dairy digester projects. 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 5 of 10 


Solar 
• Hosted over 35 electricians and solar professionals at an Energy Trust solar electric 


trade ally training. 
• Announced collaboration between ENERGY STAR New Home and Solar programs to 


promote the inclusion of PV in new residential construction. 
• Sponsored Solar Oregon’s Basics of Going Solar workshops, which attracted full-house 


audiences totaling 350 attendees. 
• Communications and marketing assistant Spencer Plumb will backfill Dave McClelland’s 


solar program assistant position while Dave is on family leave through September. 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 
 
Call Center/Customer Service  


• Provided program training for PGE Energy Experts. 
• Designed new Business Energy Solutions reference with improved program contact 


information for call center. 
• Added dedicated phone number for Spanish speakers to be used in ENERGY STAR® 


products literature. 
• Provided speaker training for select internal staff and PMCs. 
• Presented program information for Solar Home Tour organizers in Coos Bay, resulting 


in new Tour of Solar Homes in Coos Bay area. 
• Presented program information for East Metro Association of Realtors, resulting in push 


for realtors to complete green certification with Earth Advantage. 
• Began work on customer service follow up survey for callers. 


 
Call Volume through June 2007 


5 0 0


1 0 0 0


1 5 0 0


2 0 0 0


2 5 0 0


3 0 0 0


3 5 0 0


4 0 0 0


C a l l s 2 0 4 3 2 1 3 3 1 9 3 6 1 2 7 2 1 4 7 0 1 3 8 3 1 3 4 0 1 4 6 4 1 4 8 4 1 9 7 9 1 4 3 4 1 4 8 9 2 0 7 7 1 9 3 1 1 7 4 5 3 8 3 9 1 7 1 8 2 2 5 9


J a n  
0 6


F e b  
0 6


M a r  
0 6


A p r  
0 6


M a y  
0 6


J u n  
0 6


J u l  
0 6


A u g  
0 6


S e p  
0 6


O c t  
0 6


N o v  
0 6


D e c  
0 6


J a n  
0 7


F e b  
0 7


M a r  
0 7


A p r  
0 7


M a y  
0 7


J u n  
0 7


 
Website  


• Achieved another quantum leap up in website visits – 73,795 visits in June represents a 
gain of nearly 33% over the previous record, set in March 2007. 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 6 of 10 


•       Launched an online residential program survey to help determine what programs 
customers are interested in and what motivates them to invest in energy efficiency 
measures and/or renewable energy. 


•       Completed work on the online form and coupon for the special Solar Coupon 
promotion. 


•       Posted the new Solar Photo Gallery, sporting new navigational features and quotes from 
profiled participants. 


•       Launched the new Solar Calculator, an interactive tool designed to help consumers and 
businesses determine the costs and feasibility of installing a solar electric system. 


•       Posted a new website map. 
•       Posted new Active Builder pages, providing information and photos on specific builders, 


including their developments and costs. 
 


Website Visits through June 2007 


3 5 0 0 0


3 8 0 0 0


4 1 0 0 0


4 4 0 0 0


4 7 0 0 0


5 0 0 0 0


5 3 0 0 0


5 6 0 0 0


5 9 0 0 0


6 2 0 0 0


6 5 0 0 0


6 8 0 0 0


7 1 0 0 0


7 4 0 0 0


V i s i t s 3 9 8 0 4 4 0 7 0 3 3 9 9 7 9 3 9 4 6 0 4 5 0 8 4 3 9 1 2 6 5 4 9 1 2 4 4 8 1 3 4 9 7 9 4 5 0 9 9 5 4 7 7 6 1 5 6 0 9 8 5 5 0 1 3 5 4 0 5 0 7 3 7 9 5


A p r  
0 6


M a y  
0 6


J u n  
0 6 J u l  0 6


A u g  
0 6


S e p  
0 6


O c t  
0 6


N o v  
0 6


D e c  
0 6


J a n  
0 7


F e b  
0 7


M a r  
0 7


A p r  
0 7


M a y  
0 7


J u n  
0 7


 
Trade Ally Coordination 


• Worked with web team to create shared trade ally training calendar for Energy Trust, 
BPA and ODOE. 


• Held first trade ally roundtable sessions and scheduled two more for the year. 
• Coordinated with Home Energy Solutions staff and provided 3 trade ally informational 


meetings in Portland, Bend and Grants Pass. 
• Scheduled trade ally recruitment sessions for Cascade Natural Gas in Pendleton and 


Baker City for August. 
• Provided support for Home Energy Solutions trade ally coordinator during staff 


transitions. 
• Fielded trade ally survey in cooperation with evaluation team. 
• Developed trade ally service plan in response to survey results. 
• Worked with legal team to review trade ally requirements as step toward unified trade 


ally requirements and application procedure for all programs.  


 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 7 of 10 


Community Energy  
• Following a strong expression of interest in response to the Community Energy RFP, a 


joint Energy Trust and NW Natural team will meet in August with city manager Greg 
Ellis of Independence, Oregon to explore development of a community “Energy 
Independence” promotion. 


 
Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships  


• Participated in 45 energy/conservation-related events during the period.   
• Presented at the Small-scale Hydroelectric Generation in Oregon conference.  
• Sponsored three Basics of Going Solar workshops. 
• Staffed booths at 12 fairs and expos around the state.  
• Completed the New Buildings Road Show: Why Build Green? with stops in 


Albany/Corvallis, Medford, Bend and Portland.  
  
Creative Products  


• Produced and mailed the 2006 annual report to over 800 recipients.  
• Created 45 new and resized advertisements: 16 commercial, 20 residential, 8 renewable 


and 1 general. 
• Produced and released 3 newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly), Insider (for trade 


allies, bimonthly) and Pit Stop (internal, monthly). 
• Created 3 new case studies representing the Existing Buildings and Production Efficiency 


programs. 
• Created 6 new fact sheets representing the New Buildings, Existing Buildings and 


Production Efficiency programs.  
• Created new window clings for commercial and residential programs.  
• Updated and created a new suite of materials for the Multifamily Home Energy Solutions 


program 
 
News Releases and Media Events  


• Distributed 6 press releases: Benson High School ENERGY STAR home program, 
Molalla High School solar array, Warm Springs biomass, Solar in Portland/Solar Now!, 
Parr Lumber commercial lighting upgrade, lodging initiative for Existing Buildings.  


• Assisted Solar Oregon in promoting Oregon Green + Solar Tours.  
• Continued to build a pipeline of stories and press releases for 2007. 
• Continued to garner news coverage about Energy Trust programs in local newspapers 


around the state. 
 


Utility Co-promotions  
• Cascade Natural Gas: April bill insert featuring clothes washer offer; June bill insert 


featuring $50 bonus offer for Existing Homes measure. 
• NW Natural: May bill insert featuring $50 bonus offer for Existing Homes measure. 
• Pacific Power: April Voices newsletter story on energy saving ideas, Energy Connections 


newsletter story on Burgerville/sprayers and Energy Insights newsletter story on Rough & 
Ready Lumber/biomass; May Voices newsletter story on Home Energy Analyzer, 
ENERGY STAR appliances & heating/cooling; May heat pump bill insert.  


• PGE: April Wash, Dry & Win newsletter stories in Update & Online News; May heat 
pump spring campaign with Energy Trust and Lennox including heat pump giveaway 
newsletter stories in Update and Online News, bill insert, direct mail and radio 
advertising; June mention of Energy Trust incentives for energy-saving appliances and 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 8 of 10 


home improvements in Update and Online News; and ongoing online listings on PGE 
website for classes Energy Trust co-sponsors for business customers.  


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and 
Information Technology 


Finance 
• Completed and filed annual Form 5500 for Energy Trust retirement savings plan. 
• Completed and filed annual Form 990 Exempt Organization information return and 


Form 990T to claim telephone excise tax refund. 
• Renewed $4 million line of credit with Bank of the Cascades.  
• Worked with Great Plains contractor to modify vendor screens to accommodate 


collection of required vendor tax identification information. 
• Reviewed and eliminated consideration of Microsoft Forecaster as potential tool for 


budget planning and preparation and integration with Great Plains. 
• Initiated preliminary reviews of two potential accounting systems, Deltek and Blackbaud. 
• Contracted with consultant to analyze and recommend improvements to utility 


allocation process. 
• Completed Q3 forecast. The forecast is included under Tab 2 in the board meeting 


packet. 
• Participated in Enterprise Architecture study interviews. 
• Participated in Cascade Washington evaluation interviews. 
• Updated timesheet templates to record planning study work for Cascade Gas in 


Washington. 
• Designed and implemented documentation and reporting for Conservation Rate Credit 


and applied for PGE. 
• Formed Reporting Task Force to complete process improvements and standardize 


approach used to complete reports; first report selected for improvement is Q2 report 
to OPUC and board. 


• Completed Interdependent Projects schedule and began next phase of project to 
develop documentation and timelines for all underlying processes. 


• Completed Q1 FastTrack audit, with 4 programs receiving 100% scores. 
• Designed and implemented several practices to prevent import errors and conflicts in 


incentive payment processing. 
• Conducted several process evaluations: 


- Observed data entry for the ”receive, review, release” process of FastTrack 
projects at all PMCs; made process recommendations. 


- Reviewed flow of checks from approval stage in FastTrack to mailing to recipient 
and made process recommendations. 


- Researched and documented how an idea becomes an energy efficiency measure.  
• Completed cross training of accounting staff on month-end closing process and 


processing of stale-dated checks.    
• Designed and provided training on business entities and W-9 collection procedures for 


commercial/industrial programs, introducing policy, new forms, and enhanced features in 
support systems. 


• Completed all document retention of project files and initiated document retention 
procedures for programs managed in-house. 


• Attended regional system for tracking of Green Tag activity, WREGIS. 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 9 of 10 


• Processed approximately 500 checks weekly. 
• Participated in auditor selection process and set preliminary schedule for 2007 financial 


statement audit. 
• Began preparations for the 2008-09 budget season. 


Human Resources 
• Completed bi-annual salary survey in partnership with NW Energy Efficiency Alliance; 


survey was conducted by the MBL Group. 
• Completed annual employee survey and presented to staff; compiled a list of 


recommendations.  
• Conducted the following trainings: 


- New Employee Orientation  
- Supervisory Performance Management Training   
- 401K retirement planning and website tools 
- CPR & First Aid  
- Presentation skills 
- Negotiations skills 
- Business Finance Training for Energy Professionals 


• Held anniversary celebration with staff, board and PMCs to acknowledge Energy Trust’s 
first five years. 


• Facilitated annual review and renewal of Energy Trust business insurance policies. 
• Welcomed return of Thuong Ho to the finance team following her maternity leave.  
• Following board approval for a new accounting position, hired Dean Penner as a full-


time employee to provide financial resources in response to increased transactions and 
workload.  


• Hired Jessica Rose as business sector coordinator in the Energy Efficiency group. Jessica 
is an Environmental Studies graduate of the University of Oregon. Her last position was 
project manager for marketing and investor relations at Axial Vector Engine 
Corporation. 


• Hired Santina Brohen as program tracking coordinator in the IT department. Santina 
comes to Energy Trust from PECI, where she held various positions including project 
assistant, senior project assistant and project coordinator.  


• Welcomed Russell Snead as a contractor to replace Nancy Mounir, who accepted a 
permanent position in her field. Russell brings both SQL database administrator 
experience and extensive developer experience.  


Legal and Contracts 
• Activity incorporated under other headings. 


Information Technology 
• Re-designed utility billing database and validated data to provide more effective and 


efficient access for evaluation purposes. Participant account number matching now 
approaches 90%. 


• Upgraded address standardization software to provide more accurate translation of 
locations to counties and regions for reporting. 


• Reviewed all database structures to delete unused tables, utilize best practices for table 
design, and standardize processes to generate data change audit trails. 


• Redesigned measure and payment reversal features in FastTrack to streamline 
operations and reporting. 







Staff Report August 8, 2007 


Page 10 of 10 


• Independent telephone switch and e-mail systems suffered major failures July 18. 
Telephones were back in service within 24 hours. E-mail required a complete reload of 
all mailboxes from a backup.  


• Retired Energy Trust’s first fileserver and as budgeted, purchased a new replacement to 
maintain reliability. 








 


1 


 


 
Board Briefing  
True Up 2007:   Tracking Estimate Corrections  
and True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation 
August 8, 2007 


Introduction 


This report presents the 2007 adjustments to reports of Energy Trust-funded energy savings 
and renewable energy generation for the calendar years 2002-2006. The True Up analysis, which 
occurs annually, reports the best available current energy savings and generation figures for 
Energy Trust-funded programs.  
 
This report summarizes what we know as of January 31, 2007 about 2002-6 savings. We 
are still evaluating 2002 through 2006 savings for some programs, and so we expect to have 
further refinements to 2002-2006 next year.1 


Summary  


The 2007 True-Up resulted in a 1.5% increase in electric savings, to 124 average megawatts, and 
4% decrease in natural gas savings to 4.4 million annual therms. This resulted in modestly 
significant changes to the Building Efficiency, Home Energy Savings, Efficient New Homes and 
Efficient Home Products programs. Changes were less than in prior years for two reasons: first, 
Energy Trust already adjusted performance numbers in a prior true-up; and second, the first 
impact evaluations for some programs (Production Efficiency, Multifamily Home Energy Savings) 
will be completed in 2007, and so are not incorporated in this true-up. 


Background 
 
Working Savings/Generation are the estimates of savings that are practical for data entry by 
program personnel as they are approving individual projects. They are based on estimates of the 
typical savings or generation for prescriptive measures, and are based on site-specific 
engineering calculations for custom measures. Prior years’ true-up adjustments may be 
incorporated into estimates of working savings and generation for prescriptive measures, but 
transmission and distribution line loss savings are not included. In addition, there are no 
adjustments for free riders (customers who would have installed the measures without the 
program) or spillover (customers who are influenced by the program but did not take the 
incentive). These issues are addressed in developing reportable savings.


                                                   
1 Savings for most programs are evaluated and finalized through 2004. However, the Energy Trust is still 
working to evaluate the multifamily retrofit program starting in 2003. This has awaited improved 
procedures to access and link utility bills with individual apartment units, one of the most difficult tasks in 
evaluation. Additionally, NEEA savings are subject to five year retrospective reviews, which are useful in 
looking at programs that attempt to change markets. Such a review is scheduled for 2007 and may look as 
far back as 2002. 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


2 


 
Reportable Savings/Generation are the estimates of savings that will be used for public 
reporting of Energy Trust results. This includes transmission and delivery loss savings, market 
effects (free riders and spillover), true up adjustments (as described below), and any other 
corrections required to the original working values. These values are updated annually based on 
new information described through the “true-up” process. 
 
The True up adjusts Working Savings/Generation estimates in different programs for different 
reasons. These fall into the following categories: 


 
1. Corrections. Occasionally, through the Energy Trust’s routine quality assurance 


processes, transaction errors are discovered in the database, which require corrections. 
Individual transaction errors (e.g. typos that affect savings) are usually corrected 
immediately, and generic transaction errors (e.g. wrong deemed savings value for a 
measure) are easiest to fix once per year during the True Up.  


 
2. New Data. Projections are updated based on improved measure simulations and new 


data on measure performance.  
 


3. Anticipated Evaluation Results. Experience shows that evaluated estimates of savings and 
generation are often lower than reportable estimates. Reportable estimates are often 
based on typical savings for prescriptive measures or “as installed” engineering analysis 
for custom measures. Impact evaluation uses energy use data and/or improved data on 
post-installation operation to improve on reportable estimates.  However, impact 
evaluations cannot be completed until 8 months to 2 years after programs finish a year’s 
activity, because of the need to utilize post-installation energy use data. Based on Board 
direction in the July, 2004 retreat, staff is attempting to anticipate these effects in 
reporting savings for programs where there is not yet an evaluation available. These 
adjustments are based on the results of evaluations for the same program in prior years, 
where available. For programs that have no prior evaluation, results for similar 
programs elsewhere are used.  


 
4. Evaluations. When finalized, evaluations provide the most reliable representation of 


realized savings, and can replace the refined projections based on #2 and #3. Evaluation 
results may change Energy Trust savings estimates for a single year or all prior years. It 
depends on what other evaluations have already been performed for prior years. 


 
5. Un-Served Utility. This is a routine end-of year adjustment which is of modest impact. 


Some measures in Fast Track claim savings but documentation was not yet adequate to 
support the savings or could not be claimed by the Trust. This proved to be a problem 
especially for some savings which are in service utilities where Energy Trust activities 
are not funded. For example, this occurs when a measure saves gas and electricity, and 
the gas utility is an Energy Trust funder (e.g., Northwest Natural) and the electric utility 
is not an Energy Trust funder (e.g., Columbia PUD). The Energy Trust would only claim 
the electric savings in this case if Columbia PUD was not claiming the savings. In some 
cases this was simply a question of clarifying documentation in time for the True-up. The 
Energy Trust may claim these savings if the documentation is shown to be in order.  


 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


3 


Results 
 
Across the years 2002-2006 the 2007 True-Up resulted in a 1.5% increase in electric savings to 
124 Average Megawatts, and 4% decrease in natural gas savings to 4.4 million annual therms. In 
2007, the True-Up incorporated modestly significant changes to the following programs: 
 


1. New Evaluation Results 
a. Building Efficiency Program 
b. Home Energy Savings   


2. New Data 
a. Efficient New Homes 
b. Efficient Home Products 
c. Rounding Transmission and Distribution (T&D) line loss estimates 


3. Corrections 
None resulted in significant changes. 


 
Overall, changes were less than in prior years because the Energy Trust had performed 
evaluations for many programs by the prior true-up, and the first impact evaluations for some 
programs (Production Efficiency, Multifamily Home Energy Savings) will be completed in 2007 so 
did not yet impact this true-up. 
 
To provide an example, for 2006 electric savings for all programs combined, there were net 
changes of 0.52% (decrease) due to corrections and un-served utilities, .25% (increase) due to 
new data, there were no revisions in anticipated evaluation factors, and 0.97% (increase) due to 
evaluations. Additionally, the rounding of the Transmission and Distribution line-loss estimates 
resulted in a .38% increase. 


 
Table 2 summarizes the revisions for the years 2002 -2006 by sector. Tables 3-7 detail the 
revisions to each sector by year.  Appendix B provides revisions by program and year.  
Discussion of changes follows immediately below. 
 
Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Evaluation. The previous evaluation of 
the 2003 program had resulted in a 71% evaluation factor2 (i.e., 71% of working savings were 
claimed as reported savings) for electric efficiency. For 2004-2006 this evaluation factor had also 
been used as the anticipated evaluation factor for electric efficiency pending the completion of 
additional evaluations. In addition, because the gas sample in the 2003 and early 2004 evaluation 
was too small to use, the 71% evaluation factor from the electric program was also used as the 
evaluation factor for gas in 2003 and the anticipated evaluation factor for 2004-2006. In 
summary, prior to this true-up the evaluation factor for electric savings from the 2003 BE 
evaluation was used as the basis of all evaluation factors, gas and electric, for the BE program. 
 
In 2006 the evaluation of electric and gas efficiency was completed for this program for the year 
2004.3  Based on the 2003 and 2004 BE evaluations the 2007 True Up applied new evaluation 
factors to gas and efficiency measures for the years 2004-2006. 2003 had already been evaluated 
so the new evaluation factors did not apply to this year. Because the 2003 BE evaluation also 


                                                   
2 The evaluation factor consists of an engineering factor and market effects factor. The market effects 
factor is made up of free riders and spillover. 
3 These evaluations were based on site visits and site metering. An analysis of monthly consumption 
records is underway which may update these estimates. 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


4 


covered part of 2004, the electric evaluation factor used for 2004 and the anticipated evaluation 
factor used for 2005 and 2006 are a savings weighted average of the results of both BE 
evaluations. Since there was no evaluation factor for gas from the 2003 BE evaluation, the 
evaluation factor for this part of the program came straight from the 2004 BE evaluation.  
 
This resulted in a new evaluation factor for electric savings of 83%. This evaluation factor 
consists of a 95% engineering factor and an 86% market effects factor. The net result of the 
changes to the new evaluation factor was an increase in the electric savings attributed to the 
program during the years 2004-2006 of 17% or about 16 million kWh. For gas efficiency 
measures the evaluation factor was reduced from 71% to 67%. This 67% evaluation factor 
consists of a new engineering factor of 95% and market effects factor of 71% resulting is a net 
loss of 5.6% or about 61,000 therms to the BE program for the years 2004-2006. Table 1: 2007 
BE Evaluation Factors details the components of the evaluation factor. 
 
TABLE 1. 2007 BE EVALUATION FACTORS 
2003 BE Evaluation         
  Engineering Free Riders Spillover Evaluation Factor Total Savings 
kWh 89% 80%  71%          8,749,240  
Therms N/A N/A N/A 71%               20,823  
            
2004 BE Evaluation         
  Engineering Free Riders Spillover Evaluation Factor Total Savings 
kWh 99% 86% 101% 86%         32,025,675  
Therms 95% 71% 100% 67%               58,539  
            
BE Evaluation Factor used for 
2007 True Up         
  Engineering Free Riders Spillover Evaluation Factor   
kWh 97% 85% 101% 83%   
Therms 95% 71% 100% 67%   


 
Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes Evaluation. This evaluation covered the single 
family portion of the Home Energy Solutions Program for 2003 and 2004. This evaluation 
resulted in various changes to the engineering estimates and market effects associated with 
various measures in the program. Appendix A details the effects this evaluation had on the 
engineering and market factor adjustments for each measure. This was the first evaluation 
completed for this program and impacted all years. 
 
Note that the performance was particularly lower than expected for duct insulation; however, 
the evaluation was primarily designed to estimate overall savings, and did not provide a precise 
estimate for this measure due to its modest expected savings and limited sample size. In the 
next impact evaluation of this program we plan a separate analysis to clarify savings from this 
measure. 
 
Efficient New Homes. Existing Builder Option Packages (BOPs), which are packages of 
efficiency measures that qualify for a program incentive, were modified to reflect new 
engineering savings estimates. These were a result of a regional survey that provided enhanced 
information on home characteristics and also on levels of duct leakage in nonparticipating 
homes. The survey provided a more accurate baseline of energy use in homes not in the 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


5 


program which in turn changed the estimate program savings. As the new data were folded into 
savings simulations, other modeling enhancements were also employed. The net effect of these 
changes to the program was a decrease of 7,400 kWh or less then .01% of total program activity 
and a decrease of 12,000 therms or 3.7% of total program activity therms.  
 
Efficient Home Products. The savings estimates for lighting measures in this program were 
revised based on new data from program operations, provided by Conservation Services Group 
(CSG). The information allows us to more accurately portray the reduction in wattage and the 
hours of operation of bulbs installed. This resulted in an additional 710,000 kWh of savings over 
the period 2004-2005. 
 
Negative Therms. When incandescent bulbs are replaced by efficient compact fluorescent 
bulbs in homes, less heat is provided by the more efficient bulbs. This results in a modest 
decrease in energy use for air conditioning (because less heat from the bulbs must be removed), 
and a more significant (relative to savings) increase in use of energy for space heat. The Energy 
Trust had previously recorded this as a deduction from program savings, which was recorded in 
kWh for electrically heated homes and in therms for gas heated homes.  An agreement was 
reached with the PUC that while the increased gas use is a real effect (it has been confirmed 
through metered studies) it is not a result of the Energy Trust’s gas programs, and penalizing the 
gas programs for the impacts of an electric light bulb is inappropriate. As a consequence, the 
savings reports were revised to not include a deduction to gas savings from the CFLs. The 
increased gas use is still counted as an economic cost in the societal cost/benefit test for the 
electric programs. As a result of this decision the 170,000 therms over the period 2003-2006 
are no longer counted against The Trust’s goals. 
 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA). Since 2005, NEEA made several 
enhancements to improve the consistency and reliability of their tracking systems, completed 
several evaluations, and began a long-term monitoring process that periodically reports on 
specific programs. These enhancements have significantly improved both the historical 
assessment of energy savings and the projection of expected savings. NEEA is making greater 
efforts to accurately measure net market effects, including consideration of baseline activity 
(energy savings that would occur in the absence of NEEA programs) and the impacts of utility 
incentive programs. Based on the better data from NEEA, significant changes were made to 
NEEA savings estimates in the 2006 true-up. Many of the changes had counteractive effects.  
 
For 2006, we made changes to our methods to estimate current and future year impacts to align 
better with NEEA’s projection of program impacts. The impacts reported for 2006 reflect this 
improved methodology, but precede NEEA’s final reporting on their annual savings which 
happens after the true-up process is completed. Therefore, reconciliation of NEEA final savings 
will occur in the following year (e.g., final estimates of 2005 savings are included in 2007 Energy 
Trust true-up, 2006 savings will be reconciled in the 2008 true-up).  
 
Rounding of Transmission and Distribution Line Loss Savings Estimates.  
This adjustment enhances the consistency of our reporting efforts. Energy Trust electric savings 
and, where appropriate, renewable generation reports include reductions in utility line and 
transformer losses due to less power delivered to a site.  All programs have been updated to 
reflect adjusted savings due to a rounding of the transformer and line losses. Previously 
residential, commercial, and industrial customers used factors of 1.09769, 1.09529, and 1.5820, 
respectively. Recognizing that the savings estimates of The Trust are not accurate to this 
number of decimal places these factors have been rounded to 1.1 for residential and commercial 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


6 


customers and 1.06 for industrial customers. This is consistent with our general policy of 
estimating and reporting savings only to two digits. This resulted in a gain in reporting kWh 
savings of just over 4,100,000 kWh from 2002 to 2006. 
 
In the following tables, the difference between “old reportable” and “new reportable” is the 
updates provided in the 2007 true-up from prior reportable estimates. In the following tables,   
Annual kWh and Annual Therms indicate that the measure saves or generates one kWh or 
therm for each year of its life. An Average Megawatt means that loads are reduced by an 
average of one Megawatt during each year of the measure’s life. In the summary table, zero 
change does not mean there were no corrections, only that the corrections may not be 
significant enough to show due to rounding. 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
TABLE 3. 2006 SUMMARY         


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


Action Plan 
Conservative 
Goal 


% of 
Goal 


Achieved 
  Electric- Average Megawatts     
Electric Efficiency 25 25 1.3% 16 158% 
  Residential 10 10 -1.2% 6.4 157% 
  Commercial 6.1 6.6 7.3% 3.7 178% 
  Industrial 8.9 8.9 0.2% 6.1 147% 
Renewables 2.0 2.0 0.2% 33 6% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms    
Gas Efficiency 2.3 2.3 -1.7% 2.6 90% 
  Residential 1.0 1.0 0.8% 1.1 92% 
  Commercial 1.3 1.3 -3.7% 1.4 88% 


 
Notes: Renewable action plan goal was for installations and commitments; true up reported 
numbers are installs only. So the comparison to goals is not accurate. We  
are presenting renewables primarily to show the true up adjustment. 


TABLE 2. SUMMARY FOR 2002 - 2006 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


  Electric- Average Megawatts 
Electric Efficiency 122 124 2.1% 
  Residential 44 44 0.0% 
  Commercial 31 33 6.3% 
  Industrial 47 47 0.2% 
Renewables 17 17 0.0% 
  Gas- Million Annual Therms  


Gas Efficiency 4.6 4.4 -4.0% 
  Residential 2.7 2.6 -4.3% 
  Commercial 1.9 1.8 -3.7% 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


7 


 
  
TABLE 4. 2005 SUMMARY         


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


Action Plan 
Conservative 
Goal 


% of 
Goal 


Achieved 
  Electric- Average Megawatts     
Electric Efficiency 39 40 2.2% 32 125% 
  Residential 12 12 -0.3% 5.6 208% 
  Commercial 7.0 7.9 12% 6.0 131% 
  Industrial 20 21 0.2% 20 102% 


Renewables 0.46 0.46 0.2% 27 2% 
  Gas- Million Annual Therms    


Gas Efficiency 1.4 1.3 -6.7% 1.3 100% 
  Residential 0.9 0.9 -7.6% 0.9 95% 
  Commercial 0.5 0.5 -3.7% 0.4 113% 


 
Notes: Renewable action plan goal was for installations and commitments; true up reported 
numbers are installs only.  


 
Best Case Targets in action plan were 37 aMW and 1.8 million therms. 


 
 


TABLE 5. 2004 SUMMARY         


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


Action Plan 
Projection 


% of 
Goal 


Achieved 


 Electric- Average Megawatts     
Electric Efficiency 26 27 2.5% 30 90% 
  Residential 9.6 9.7 0.6% 4 242% 
  Commercial 6.6 7.2 9.0% 6.4 112% 
  Industrial 10 10 0.2% 19 53% 
Renewables 0.1 0.1 0.3% 22 0.40% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms    
Gas Efficiency 0.7 0.7 -7.8% 2.3 29% 
  Residential 0.6 0.6 -7.7% 0.9 65% 
  Commercial 0.1 0.1 -3.5% 1.4 5% 


 
Notes: Renewable action plan goal was for installations and commitments; true up reported 
numbers are installs only.  







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


8 


 
TABLE 6. 2003 SUMMARY         


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


Action Plan 
Projection 


% of 
Goal 


Achieved 
  Electric- Average Megawatts 
Electric Efficiency 16.0 16.1 0.7% 33 49% 
  Residential 6.7 6.7 1.1% 7.5 90% 
  Commercial 5.7 5.8 0.4% 13 44% 
  Industrial 3.6 3.6 0.2% 13 27% 
Renewables 14 14 0.00% 18 79% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms      
Gas Efficiency 0.1 0.2 2.7%  None    
  Residential 0.1 0.1 2.8%  None    
  Commercial 0.002 0.002 0%  None    


 
Notes: Action plan projection was for a two year period running from October 2002 through 
October 2004. Half of the two-year projected savings was taken as the “projection” for this 
comparison. 


 
Notes: Renewable action plan goal was for installations and commitments; true up reported 
numbers are installs only.  
 
 


 
TABLE 7. 2002 SUMMARY       


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


Action Plan 
Projection 


  Electric- Average Megawatts 
Electric Efficiency 15 15 0.3% None 
  Residential  5.7 5.7 0.3% None 
  Commercial  5.9 5.9 0.4% None 
  Industrial 3.4 3.4 0.2% None 
Renewables 0.002 0.002 0.00% None 


 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


9 


Appendix A:  


 
 
 
 
 


Effect of HES Evaluation Electric Measures  


  Working Savings Adjustments  Reportable Savings Adjustments 


  Electric  Electric 


Project  


Old 
Working 
Electric 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Engineering 
Adjustment 


from 
Evaluation 


New 
Working 
Electric 
Savings 
(kWh)  


Market 
Effects 


(free riders 
& spillover) 


Evaluation 
Net Savings 


FINAL 
(kWh) 


Interactive 
Effects 
(kWh) 


Single Family         
Ceiling/Attic 


insulation  1019 84% 858  78% 669  
Duct insulation  663 38% 255  78% 199  
Floor insulation  1733 73% 1,268  78% 989  
Wall insulation  1201 89% 1,075  78% 838  


Windows  687 82% 564  78% 440  
Duct Sealing  1127 68% 766 87% 667  
Air Sealing  1557 68% 1,059  87% 921  


MH Duct and Air 
Sealing  500 152% 760 87% 661  


Heat Pump, 
Replacement  6333 52% 3,300  70% 2,310  
Heat Pump, 


Upgrade  1088 124% 1,350  70% 945  
Water Heater  100 68% 68  87% 59  


Lighting  46 158% 73  105% 77 -31 
Lighting  37 197% 73  105% 77 -31 


HER Faucet 
Aerator  130 68% 88  87% 77  


HER Showerhead  287 68% 195  87% 170  







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation   August 8, 2007   


 


10 


 
 


 


Effect of HES Evaluation on Gas Measures 


    Working Savings Adjustments   Reportable Savings Adjustments 


    Gas   Gas 


Project  


Old 
Working 


Gas 
Savings 


(therms) 


Engineering 
Adjustment 


from 
Evaluation 


New 
Working 


Gas 
Savings 


(therms)  


Market 
Effects 


(free riders 
& spillover) 


Evaluation 
Net 


Savings 
FINAL 


(therms) 


Interactive 
Effects 


(therms) 
Single Family         
Ceiling/Attic 


insulation  69.00 74% 51.00  80% 40.80  


Duct insulation  29.60 42% 12.30  80% 9.84  
Floor insulation  95.00 66% 63.00  80% 50.40  
Wall insulation  79.00 83% 65.40  80% 52.32  


Windows  39.00 113% 44.11  80% 35.29  
SF Duct Sealing  31.00 69% 21.39  72% 15.40  
SF Air Sealing  37.00 69% 25.53  72% 18.38  


MH Duct and Air 
Sealing  81.00 51% 41.00 72% 29.52  


Direct Vent Gas 
Heater  68.90 69% 47.54 72% 34.23  


Gas Furnace  64.40 110% 70.56  100% 70.56  
Water Heater  23.40 69% 16.15 72% 11.63  
High Efficiency 


Gas Boiler 
 64.40 69% 44.44 72% 31.99  


HER Faucet 
Aerator  5.00 69% 3.45 72% 2.48  


HER Showerhead   14.00 69% 9.66 72% 6.96   







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation          August 8, 2007 


11 


Appendix B:  
Table 7: 2007 Program True-Up Summary 


2002 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings  


(kWh) 


Adjusted Annual 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Change 
(kWh) 


Change  
(%) 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings 


(Therm) 


Adjusted 
Annual 
Savings 
(Therm) 


Change 
(Therm) 


Change  
(%) 


Residential         


Mobile Home Duct Sealing Pilot Program 560,000 560,000 1,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Residential  7,900,000 7,900,000 17,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


NEEA - Residential Market Transformation 42,000,000 42,000,000 87,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 50,000,000 50,000,000 100,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Commercial         


Green LED Traffic Signal Program Traffic Lights 1,600,000 1,600,000 7,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


NEEA - C&I Market Transformation 6,600,000 6,700,000 29,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 39,000,000 39,000,000 170,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial New 4,000,000 4,000,000 17,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Restaurant Pilot Program 33,000 33,000 100 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 51,000,000 52,000,000 220,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Industrial         
NEEA - Industrial Process Market 
Transformation 4,300,000 4,300,000 7,300 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Industrial 26,000,000 26,000,000 44,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 30,000,000 30,000,000 51,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Total Efficiency (annual kWh/therms) 131,000,000 132,000,000 380,000 0.3% - - - - 


Total Efficiency (AMW)  15       


         


Renewable         
Open Solicitation 22,000 22,000 - 0% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 22,000 22,000 - 0% - - - 0.0% 


2002 Total 131,000,000 132,000,000 380,000 0.3% - - - 0.0% 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation          August 8, 2007 


12 


2003 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings  


(kWh) 


Adjusted Annual 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Change 
(kWh) 


Change 
(%) 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings 


(Therm) 


Adjusted 
Annual 
Savings 
(Therm) 


Change 
(Therm) 


Change 
(%) 


Residential         


Double Your Savings  1,200,000 1,200,000 2,000 0.2% 14,000 14,000 - 0.0% 


Home Energy Savings 3,500,000 4,100,000 550,000 15.8% 130,000 130,000 4,000 3.0% 


Existing Multifamily 2,600,000 2,600,000 5,400 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Mobile Home Duct Sealing Pilot Program 20,000 20,000 40 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


NEEA - Residential Market Transformation 49,000,000 49,000,000 100,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Residential  2,100,000 2,100,000 4,400 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 58,000,000 59,000,000 670,000 1.1% 140,000 150,000 4,000 2.7% 


Commercial         


Building Efficiency 9,200,000 9,200,000 39,000 0.4% 2,400 2,400 - 0% 


Building Tune-Up and Operations - - - 0.0% - - - 0% 


Green LED Traffic Signal Program Traffic Lights 75,000 75,000 320 0.4% - - - 0% 


LED Traffic Signal Program 930,000 930,000 4,000 0.4% - - - 0% 


NEEA - C&I Market Transformation 9,300,000 9,300,000 40,000 0.4% - - - 0% 


Restaurant Pilot Program 260,000 260,000 1,100 0.4% - - - 0% 


Small Scale Energy Loan Program 240,000 240,000 1,000 0.4% - - - 0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 24,000,000 24,000,000 100,000 0.4% - - - 0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial New 6,100,000 6,100,000 26,000 0.4% - - - 0% 


Subtotal 50,000,000 50,000,000 220,000 0.4% 2,400 2,400 - 0% 


Industrial         
NEEA - Industrial Process Market 
Transformation 820,000 820,000 1,400 0.2% - - - 0% 


Production Efficiency 400,000 400,000 700 0.2% - - - 0% 


Utility Transition - Industrial 30,000,000 30,000,000 51,000 0.2% - - - 0% 


Subtotal 31,000,000 31,000,000 53,000 0.2% - - - 0% 


Total Efficiency (annual kWh/therms) 140,000,000 141,000,000 940,000 0.7% 150,000 150,000 4,000 0.0% 


Total Efficiency (AMW)  16       


Renewable         


Open Solicitation 120,000 120,000 - 0.0% - - - 0% 


Utility Scale 125,000,000 125,000,000 - 0.0% - - - 0% 


Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 250,000 250,000 1,100 0.4%   - 0% 


Subtotal 130,000,000 130,000,000 1,100 0.0% - - - 0% 


2003 Total 265,000,000 266,000,000 940,000 0.4% 150,000 150,000 4,000 2.7% 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation          August 8, 2007 


13 


2004 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings  


(kWh) 


Adjusted Annual 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Change 
(kWh) 


Change 
(%) 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings 


(Therm) 


Adjusted 
Annual 
Savings 
(Therm) 


Change 
(Therm) 


Change 
(%) 


Residential         
Efficient Home Products 3,000,000 3,000,000 7,700 0.3% 28,000 28,000 2 0.0% 


Efficient New Homes 6,400 5,400 (1,000) -15.9% 2,200 2,200 40 1.8% 


Home Energy Savings 4,500,000 4,600,000 190,000 4.2% 580,000 520,000 (58,000) -9.9% 


Multifamily Home Energy Savings  8,600,000 8,800,000 130,000 1.5% 18,000 23,000 4,800 26.2% 


NEEA - Residential Market Transformation 68,000,000 68,000,000 140,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


State Home Oil Weatherization Program 19,000 19,000 50 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Water Heating - Residential 53,000 53,000 110 0.2% 5,200 5,200 - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Residential  330,000 330,000 690 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 84,000,000 85,000,000 460,000 0.6% 630,000 580,000 (53,000) -8.3% 


Commercial         
Building Efficiency 29,000,000 34,000,000 5,100,000 17.4% 49,000 47,000 (2,800) -5.6% 


Building Tune-Up and Operations 1,100,000 1,100,000 4,900 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


LED Traffic Signal Program 2,900,000 2,900,000 13,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


New Building Efficiency 520,000 520,000 2,200 0.4% 22,000 22,000 0 0.0% 


NEEA - C&I Market Transformation 10,000,000 10,000,000 43,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Water Heating - Building Efficiency 20,000 20,000 80 0.4% 5,800 5,800 - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 12,000,000 12,000,000 50,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial New 2,400,000 2,400,000 10,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 58,000,000 63,000,000 5,200,000 9.0% 78,000 75,000 (3,000) -3.6% 


Industrial         
NEEA - Industrial Process Market 
Transformation 720,000 720,000 1,200 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Production Efficiency 85,000,000 86,000,000 150,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Industrial 2,400,000 2,400,000 4,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 89,000,000 89,000,000 150,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Total Efficiency (annual kWh/therms) 231,000,000 236,000,000 5,800,000 2.5% 710,000 660,000  -7.8% 


Total Efficiency (AMW)  27       


Renewable         


Open Solicitation 270,000 270,000 - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 520,000 520,000 2,200 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 790,000 790,000 2,200 0.3% - - - 0.0% 


2004 Total 231,000,000 237,000,000 5,800,000 2.5% 710,000 660,000 (56,000) -7.8% 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation          August 8, 2007 


14 


2005 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings  


(kWh) 


Adjusted Annual 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Change 
(kWh) 


Change 
(%) 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings 


(Therm) 


Adjusted 
Annual 
Savings 
(Therm) 


Change 
(Therm) 


Change 
(%) 


Residential         
Efficient Home Products 15,000,000 16,000,000 190,000 1.2% 95,000 110,000 14,000 14.8% 


Efficient New Manufactured Homes 36,000 36,000 80 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Efficient New Homes 1,100,000 1,000,000 (41,000) -3.9% 94,000 92,000 (1,500) -1.6% 
Home Energy Savings- single family & 
manufactured 4,300,000 3,500,000 (760,000) -17.6% 670,000 570,000 (97,000) -14.5% 


Multifamily Home Energy Savings 14,000,000 14,000,000 210,000 1.5% 59,000 67,000 7,800 13.2% 


NEEA - Residential Market Transformation 67,000,000 67,000,000 140,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


State Home Oil Weatherization Program 180,000 190,000 1,100 0.6% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Water Heating - Residential 150,000 150,000 270 0.2% 15,000 15,000 - 0.0% 


Subtotal 102,000,000 102,000,000 (260,000) -0.3% 930,000 860,000 (76,000) -8.2% 
Commercial         


Building Efficiency 43,000,000 50,000,000 7,000,000 17.9% 380,000 370,000 (17,000) -4.5% 


Building Tune-Up and Operations 720,000 720,000 - 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


LED Traffic Signal and Walk Light Program 2,800,000 2,800,000 12,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


New Building Efficiency 6,600,000 6,600,000 (6,300) -0.1% 80,000 80,000 - 0.0% 


NEEA - C&I Market Transformation 8,600,000 8,700,000 37,000 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Water Heating - BE 35,000 35,000 150 0.4% 3,900 3,900 - 0.0% 


Subtotal 61,000,000 69,000,000 7,700,000 12.5% 470,000 450,000 (17,000) -3.7% 
Industrial         


Irrigation Initiative - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 
NEEA - Industrial Process Market 
Transformation 260,000 260,000 400 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Production Efficiency 179,000,000 180,000,000 300,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 180,000,000 180,000,000 310,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Total Efficiency (annual kWh/therms) 343,000,000 351,000,000 7,700,000 2.2% 1,400,000 1,300,000 (94,000) -6.7% 


Total Efficiency (AMW)  40       
Renewable         


Biopower 3,600,000 3,600,000 6,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Open Solicitation 13,000 13,000 - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 480,000 480,000 1,900 0.4% - - - 0.0% 


Small Wind - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 4,000,000 4,100,000 7,900 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


2005 Total 347,000,000 355,000,000 7,700,000 2.2% 1,400,000 1,300,000 (94,000) -6.7% 







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation          August 8, 2007 


15 


2006 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings  


(kWh) 


Adjusted Annual 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Change 
(kWh) 


Change 
(%) 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings 


(Therm) 


Adjusted 
Annual 
Savings 
(Therm) 


Change 
(Therm) 


Change 
(%) 


Residential         


Products 23,000,000 24,000,000 670,000 2.9% 49,000 150,000 100,000 210.6% 


New Manufactured Homes 1,200,000 1,200,000 (1,800) -0.2% 3,300 3,300 8 0.2% 


New Homes 3,100,000 3,200,000 56,000 1.8% 240,000 230,000 (11,000) -4.7% 


Existing Single Family 7,600,000 5,600,000 (2,000,000) -26.6% 640,000 560,000 (80,000) -12.5% 


Home Performance with Energy Star 8,000 7,500 (500) -6.3% 3,200 2,600 (600) -19.1% 


Existing Multifamily 8,800,000 8,900,000 96,000 1.1% 54,000 51,000 (3,200) -6.0% 


NEEA Residential Market Transformation 44,000,000 45,000,000 94,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


SHOW 240,000 240,000 800 0.3% - - - 0.0% 


Existing Homes Solar WH 230,000 230,000 500 0.2% 26,000 26,000 - 0.0% 


Solar Water Heating - Residential - 30 30 0.0%    0.0% 


Subtotal 89,000,000 88,000,000 (1,100,000) -1.2% 1,000,000 1,000,000 8,300 0.8% 


Commercial  10       


Existing Buildings  25,000,000 29,000,000 3,900,000 15.8% 660,000 620,000 (42,000) -6.3% 


Operations and Maintenance 1,600,000 1,600,000 7,000 0.4% 40,000 40,000 0 0.0% 


New Buildings 17,000,000 17,000,000 (19,000) -0.1% 610,000 600,000 (7,300) -1.2% 


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation 9,700,000 9,800,000 42,000 0.4% - - 0 0.0% 


Existing Buildings Solar WH - - - 0.0% 4,200 4,200 -1 0.0% 


Solar Water Heating - Commercial - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial Existing - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Commercial New - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 54,000,000 58,000,000 3,900,000 7.3% 1,300,000 1,300,000 (49,000) -3.7% 


Industrial  7       


Irrigation 54,000 54,000 91 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 9,500,000 9,500,000 16,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Production Efficiency 69,000,000 69,000,000 120,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Utility Transition - Industrial Process - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 78,000,000 78,000,000 130,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Total Efficiency (annual kWh/therms) 220,000,000 223,000,000 3,000,000 1.4% 2,300,000 2,300,000 (41,000) -1.7% 


Total Efficiency (AMW)  25       







True Up 2007: Tracking Estimate Corrections and  
True Up of 2002-2006 Savings and Generation          August 8, 2007 


16 


 
Renewable         


Biopower 17,000,000 17,000,000 28,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


Open Solicitation 50,000 50,000 - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 700,000 700,000 3,200 0.5% - - - 0.0% 


Wind - - - 0.0% - - - 0.0% 


Subtotal 17,000,000 17,000,000 32,000 0.2% - - - 0.0% 


2006 Total 238,000,000 241,000,000 3,000,000 1.3% 2,300,000 2,300,000 (41,000) -1.7% 


2002-2006 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings  


(kWh) 


Adjusted Annual 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Change 
(kWh) 


Change 
(%) 


Unadjusted 
Annual Savings 


(Therm) 


Adjusted 
Annual 
Savings 
(Therm) 


Change 
(Therm) 


Change 
(%) 


 1,210,000,000 1,230,000,000 18,000,000 1.5% 4,600,000 4,400,000 (190,000) -4.1% 


 








ADOPTED BILLS – 2007 LEGISLATURE 
 
RENEWABLE ENERGY  
 
Renewable Energy Act -- SB 838 


• Portfolio standard: Requires that 25% of Oregon's electric load come from new 
renewable energy by 2025 -- 5% by 2011, 15% by 2015 and 20% by 2020. The 25% by 
2025 requirement applies to electric utilities and service suppliers that serve at least 3% 
of load, which covers Oregon’s three largest electric utilities and over 75% of the 
electric load (depending on load growth, ODOE expects this will cover most of the new 
resources needed to meet these utilities’ new load). Utilities may comply by building 
resources and, to an extent, buying renewable energy certificates (green tags).  


• Establishes a state goal to achieve 8% of Oregon’s electricity from projects less than 20 
megawatts (MW) in capacity by 2025, and requires Energy Trust’s renewable energy 
funds to be limited to projects of this size after 2007. 


• Eligible generating facilities do not have to be located in Oregon but at least 80% of the 
electricity from these resources must serve Oregon loads. 


• Authorizes investor-owned utilities to fund energy conservation beyond the public 
purpose charge. 


• Extends public purpose charge to 2026. 
 
Tax credits 
 HB 3201 – BETC 


• Increases BETC for renewable energy systems from 35% to 50% 
• Increases project cost limit from $10 million to $20 million 
• Costs of constructing facilities to manufacture renewable energy systems and 


components are eligible for credit 
• Combined heat and power projects are eligible 
• Increases the size of eligible hydro projects from 1 to 10 MW if projects meet state and 


federal fish and wildlife requirements  
• Repeals offset of federal tax credits  
• Clarifies that investor-owned utilities may serve as pass-through partners 
• Provides incentive to builders of high-performance homes  
• Makes homebuilders eligible for RETC-level credit for renewable energy systems. 
• Applies to any project constructed or installed after January 1, 2007 


 
 HB 3201 – RETC 


• Allows RETC for more than one qualifying renewable item in the same year 
• Allows RETC for multiple energy-efficient appliances 
• Increases maximum credit for fuel cells and wind generation from $1,500 to $6,000 


over four years 
• Applies to any project constructed or installed after January 1, 2007 


 
 SB 819 -- Kicker  


• Revises tax code so purchasers of tax credits do not have the value of their tax credits 
reduced by a kicker refund  


 







Adopted Bills - 2007 Legislature 


 2


Solar  
 HB 3488 -- incentives 


• Expands residential property tax exemption for solar to business and other uses of solar 
and other renewable energy systems, including systems used for net metering.   


• Exemption sunsets July 1, 2012.   
• Authorizes OPUC to establish tariffs and rules to encourage IOUs to invest in 


renewable energy   
 
 HB 2620 -- Solar in public buildings 


• Requires state and local government to devote at least 1.5% of the cost of constructing 
a new building or renovating an existing building to solar if the building gets state funds 


• Passive solar qualifies if it reduces energy use by at least 20% 
• ODOE will establish rules and forms  


 
Biofuels  
 HB 2210 -- development  


• Package of measures to encourage development, distribution and use of agricultural and 
forest material for biofuels for electricity and other energy use 


 
 SB 814 -- tax credit 


• Removes corn grain as an eligible feedstock from the biofuel producer tax credit  
• Delays for two years eligibility of wheat for the producer tax credit.   


 
Ocean energy 
 SB 875 --  


• Authorizes Department of State Lands to develop rules for wave energy facilities 
• Clarifies that ocean wave energy is distinct from hydro and qualifies for BETC. 


 
 HB 2925 -- licensing exemption 


• Wave energy projects in Oregon’s jurisdiction are exempt from Water Resources 
Department licensing requirements if project is 5 MW or less and a federal license is 
not required under the Federal Power Act  


 
 House Joint Memorial 22 --  


• Supports wave energy; expresses concern about lack of federal agency coordination, 
urges Congress to establish a wave energy review process  


 
Renewable hydrogen -- House Resolution 1  


• Supports renewable energy sources of hydrogen and recommends it be a top priority 
for state research, policy and programmatic initiatives.   


• Encourages private - public partnerships like the Northwest Hydrogen Alliance. 
 
ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
 
Supplemental efficiency funds 


• SB 838 authorizes investor-owned utilities to fund energy conservation beyond the 
public purpose charge. 


 







Adopted Bills - 2007 Legislature 


 3


Appliance efficiency  
 SB 375 -- 


• Establishes efficiency standards for certain appliances and electrical equipment, based on 
standards adopted by California and other states.   


• Covers bottle-type water dispensers, commercial hot food holding cabinets, compact 
audio products, digital versatile disc players and recorders, portable electric spas, and 
walk-in refrigerators and freezers.   


• Gives ODOE rulemaking authority to adopt additional efficiency standards under certain 
circumstances. 


 
 HB 2565 --  


• Makes technical changes to two classes of equipment adopted in 2005 efficiency 
standards, to bring Oregon in line with California: single-voltage external AC to DC 
power supplies, and to incandescent reflector lamps 


• Authorizes ODOE rulemaking to modify equipment efficiency standards to be 
consistent with standards and timing of standards in adjoining states 


 
School light fixtures -- SB 479  


• Requires schools to remove all R-type metal halide or mercury vapor light bulbs with T-
type bulbs or alternative lighting such as fluorescent lights by January 1, 2008 


 
Outdoor lighting brightness study -- HB 2628  


• ODOE to evaluate energy efficiency and night brightness impacts of state statutes and 
building codes regarding outdoor lighting.  Report due October 1, 2008.  


 
OTHER 
 
Global warming -- HB 3543  


• Adopts greenhouse gas reduction goals: by 2010, begin reducing emissions; by 2020, 
reduce 10% less than 1990 levels; and by 2050 reduce 75% below 1990 levels  


• Establishes Global Warming Commission to make recommendations to meet the 
emissions reduction targets, examine cap and trade systems, develop educational 
strategy, track global warming impacts on Oregon, etc.  


• Creates Oregon Climate Research Institute in the Oregon University System. 
 
Low Income energy assistance -- SB 461  


• Increases from $10 million to $15 million/year the amount paid by PacifiCorp and PGE 
to the Department of Housing and Community Assistance for low income energy 
assistance (in addition to the public purpose charge). 


 
Bonds for energy loans – HB 5005  


• Authorizes state agencies to issue bonds, including $150 million for the Energy Loan 
Program for renewable energy and energy efficiency ($25 million more than previous 
biennium) and $35 million in new loans for university and community college energy-
saving projects. 








 
 
 
 
 
 CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 


Notes from meeting May 16, 2007 
 


Attending from the Council:            
Steve Bicker, NW Natural 
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Michael Early, ICNU 
Dave Tooze, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Mathew Northway, EWEB 
Paul Olson, Oregon Remodeler’s Association 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
Steve Weiss, NW Energy Coalition 
   
Attending from Energy Trust board:      
Debbie Kitchin 
Alan Meyer 
John Reynolds 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Phil Degens 
Diane Ferington 
Margie Harris 
Steve Lacey 
Jessica Rose 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Jan Schaeffer 
Elaine Prause 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Dana Cofer, PECI 
Sara Eddie, CSG 
Brian Hedman, Quantec 
Lori Koho, Oregon Public Utility Commission 
Walter Money, CSG 
Doug Oppedal, Evergreen 
Nick Parsons, Lockheed Martin  
Rob Morton, Cascade Engineering 
 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. Recompete schedules  
Home Energy Solutions. Diane Ferington reviewed the schedule for the Home Energy Solutions—Existing 
Homes recompete RFP. It will hit the streets May 25 or earlier; proposals would be due June 25 
Selection of a finalist is expected July 20. The contract would go to the board Oct. 3.  
 







CAC Notes – May 16, 2007       


 2


Debbie Kitchin asked who will be on the selection committee. Diane is looking for 2 outside Energy 
Trust and 3 inside. She is looking for suggestions and recommendations for outside reviewers. Mat 
Northway agreed to look into staff serving on the review committee. (Diane asked later if he might have 
a conflict of interest, inasmuch as EWEB has a contract with CSG.) Bonneville was suggested. Dave 
Tooze suggested a trade ally. Paul Olson thought trade allies might have a strong point of view, although 
he recalled serving on successful SHOW program manager selection panels. 
 
John Reynolds asked if Diane expects more than one bidder. Diane said she hopes for more than one 
bidder, because competition brings value. Jeremy Anderson asked if there were only one bidder, would 
it be possible to reissue the RFP? Steve said if there is one bidder, we go through the review and 
evaluation process; if the proposer scores low, we reserve the right to reopen the procurement.  
 
Diane asked for reactions from the CAC about bringing someone from out of state on the selection 
committee. John Reynolds thought there could be advantages and disadvantages. Debbie Kitchin thought 
this might work if the individual in question worked for an organization with goals similar to ours.  
 
Existing buildings. Greg releases this RFP July 6. Proposals are due Aug. 3. Decision on finalist is expected 
by August 20. Contract would go to the board Oct. 3. Greg expects more than one bidder. He has not 
determined the makeup of the selection committee.  
 
3. Program Delivery Model Enhancement Discussion 
Elaine Prause, senior industrial sector manager, outlined her intent to review the findings and 
recommendations of the study, followed by discussion of Production Efficiency and options for 
enhancements.  
 
She noted the program delivery model evaluation said different current delivery models are working 
well. Competitive bidding is key to cost effective delivery. Major issues identified were alignment of 
goals, development of long-term customer and vendor relationships, and communications. Because 
markets differ by sector, Energy Trust would be more able to respond to market changes if delivery 
model was determined by market needs.  
 
The study suggested reviewing the program delivery model before rebidding to determine if there are 
structural modifications that would benefit the program, and whether the current structure meets 
participant and Energy Trust needs.  
 
The study suggested reviewing the Production Efficiency model, noting other similar organizations 
administer industrial programs in house. Study authors felt communication throughout the PE structure 
is inefficient, and noted participants in this program request direct contact with Energy Trust. PE has the 
lowest project volume of all efficiency programs, making it the least burdensome administratively and 
requiring low labor resources. The study noted relationships with customers and project support is 
important to program success but takes time to develop.  
 
She explained the roles in the current PE model. The PMC’s technical manager is the hub of the 
program. PDCs (program delivery contractors) and ATACs (allied technical assistance contractors) are 
managed by the PMC manager.  
 
Noting advantages provided by the current model, she noted that technical skill and experience is key to 
program success; the approach allowed for a quick ramp up; administration at Energy Trust is efficient 
(one manager); efficiencies are associated with the overlap of Production Efficiency and Existing Buildings 
PMCs. She noted also it is an established structure that we know how to run.  







CAC Notes – May 16, 2007       


 3


Debbie Kitchin asked if the contractor achieved cost efficiencies from running two programs. Steve said 
this was represented in the proposal but has been hard to track in practice. Debbie noted by the logic of 
achieving efficiencies through operating two programs compared to one, a contractor might make the 
case that if we contracted with just one PMC for all programs, cost savings would be significant. We 
aren’t driven exclusively toward lowest cost but seek to balance cost value with value of stimulating 
businesses to develop.  
 
Michael Early asked how many bids we received last time. Steve said he recalls we received three. 
Michael Early asked what the value of the contract was when last let, and how much was for 
management versus incentives. Steve said the program management component of the PE contract was 
about $120,000. (Note: research finds that there were 2 proposals for Production Efficiency.) 
 
Paul Olson asked how we evaluate the efficacy of the proposal, including ability to control costs and 
achieve results. Steve said proposals are scored based on proposal strength (40%), team experience 
(30%) and cost and savings (30%). Each area has individual items weighted accordingly. 
 
Elaine reviewed disadvantages of the current PE model. Energy Trust is removed from the customer by 
an additional layer compared to other industrial programs. This can lead to indirect, slow or insufficient 
communication both ways. There are some duplicative roles between Energy Trust and the PMC in the 
areas of contract and program management and reporting. Energy Trust has direct responsibility for 
data quality and response to the market but relies on PMC resources to input and manage data. Actual 
or perceived conflicts of interest can exist between PMC/PMC/ATAC. She notes that renewables 
interaction with industrial customers is limited.  
 
She stated the fundamental question: whether an enhanced model would address the disadvantages and 
strengthen the program. The evaluation findings suggest some changes would be advantageous. She 
noted change would have impacts on Energy Trust staff resources.  
 
She said staff had created three options: 1) no change; 2) Energy Trust works directly with PDCs and 
ATACs; 3) PMC role would be shifted to technical review, assignment of studies and incentive offer 
review, while Energy Trust would be accountable for achieving savings goals and contract as in option 2.  
 
She noted Option 2 would necessitate adding two FTEs to Energy Trust staff (technical manager and 
industrial coordinator). This staff increase is equivalent to the current PMC staffing. Nevertheless, there 
would be a slight cost savings of $250,000. This arrangement would make coordination with renewables 
easier and would foster more efficient communication in all directions. Debbie wondered where the 
savings comes from. Steve said primarily the savings comes from performance compensation.  
 
Alan Meyer said he is a little surprised. He intuitively believes we need to seriously look at a change, 
with more direct involvement of Energy Trust. He thought we were going to do the process evaluation 
and SWOT before jumping to a conclusion. He thought this would take a year or so. Elaine said she 
thinks this is the beginning of the process. Steve said market assessment is the feedback we’re getting 
from our process evaluations, stakeholders and customers. Alan said he would not want as a board 
member to move forward in a new direction without all those steps having been completed, only to 
have to recycle back to complete them. Steve said the board will have the opportunity to give us 
direction if not at the strategic planning workshop then later in the year.  
 
Steve Weiss, regarding option 3, asked whether there would be a clean line of separation between the 
PMC and Energy Trust. Steve Lacey thinks the potential for miscommunication would remain. Energy 
Trust would hold the contract with the PDC, while a PMC individual would direct their work. Steve 







CAC Notes – May 16, 2007       


 4


Weiss thinks it would be better for one entity (i.e. Energy Trust) to do contract managing. If necessary, 
Energy Trust could contract for technical assistance. Dave Tooze noted that option 3, by transferring 
savings goals to PDCs, probably would require shifting performance payments to PDCs.  
 
Elaine outlined next steps, including feedback from CAC and other stakeholders. We will share feedback 
with the board at their June strategic plan workshop. We will pose the three options to the board at 
that meeting.  
 
Alan asked whether we had talked to PDCs about option 2. He said he would like to make a decision if 
he thinks it’s well thought out, and all questions answered.  
 
Steve Bicker asked what had been done to address some of the issues in option 1. Elaine thinks it helps 
to have one person (she) focused exclusively on the program. Steve Lacey said we are trying to be more 
proactive in getting out to customer sites.  
 
Rob Morton, a PDC, said in this world, continuity is important. Whether this structure is best or not, 
we all know our way around one another, and we work together effectively. Change comes with some 
risk. As technical manager, Ken Self would be hard to replace. Steve Lacey said regardless of where we 
go, we need a structure that achieves less reliance on one individual and in fact, through the competitive 
bidding process, there is no guarantee a particular staff resource will remain.  
 
Alan Meyer asked what the clients think. Michael Early said the biggest issue he hears repeatedly is 
inability to get directly to Energy Trust. He thinks the model has pushed down the responsibility for 
managing savings. He suggests the diagrams of optional program models should show customers. With 
customers there are four layers – too many. 
 
Lori Koho thinks packaging efficiency and renewables for delivery to a single customer would be an 
improvement.  
 
Michael Early thinks a direct line of communication would make us more sensitive to customer needs.  
 
Steve Bicker noted if there were a gas industrial program added, the utilities would have a bigger role.  
 
Mat said his staff of three engineers have ongoing relationships with industrial firms. Having heard Steve 
say Energy Trust will continue to use PDCs, Alan asked if Mat uses PDCs. Alan said his engineers serve 
the technical role, and account managers, like PDCs, are responsible for relationships.  
 
Lauren Shapton said PGE is a PDC, and that PDCs help connect customers to the program.  
 
Steve asked for final comments: 
 
Michael Early. He thinks Energy Trust has a structural problem that has to be addressed. He thinks 
option 3 makes no sense.  
 
Lori Koho. She thinks the “con” for option 2 regarding difficulty securing technical expertise should be 
removed.  
 
Mat Northway. He suggests fleshing out more details about how option 2 would be implemented in 
hopes that this would help PDCs better understand and possibly support this option.  
 







CAC Notes – May 16, 2007       


 5


Dave Tooze. Reducing layers is advantageous.  
 
Suzanne Dillard. She doesn’t think any of the three options are perfect. Clearly given the size and 
complexity of PE projects, you need to achieve continuity. 
 
Steve Weiss. He tends to like option 2, but recognizes the Energy Trust budget would have more costs. 
Sometimes that becomes a problem. He thinks there needs somewhere to be competitive bidding. Steve 
Lacey said we will continue to procure PDC services competitively.  
 
Lauren Shapton. She thinks option 2 is preferable. She suggests diagrams showing how this flows to the 
customer.  
 
Paul Olson. He noted having PMCs insulates us from customers. He thinks having more direct 
relationships is important.  
 
Steve Lacey said we will report any reaction from the board to the CAC at its June 20 meeting.  
 
4. Exclusive Residential Trade Ally Network 
Diane described the direction staff would like to go. In 2006, 754 contractors installed measures. Of 
these, 550 installed 5 or fewer measures. Approximately 170 have Energy Trust trade ally status. Most 
of the work is completed by 20-25 trade allies. She said that 50% of incentive applications are missing 
information. This is administratively burdensome to the program. She noted a non-trade ally could 
submit an initial incentive form. Energy Trust would pay the incentive and invite the contractor to 
become a trade ally. If the contractor chooses not to become a trade ally, incentives would not be 
provided to his/her subsequent projects. The contractor could decide subsequently to join.  
 
To become a trade ally, contractors would need to meet current requirements, including insurance, 
CCB license number and good business license status. They would receive a mandatory orientation. 
 
Debbie Kitchin is concerned that a customer may apply and be unaware that their contractor is not a 
trade ally. What if a contractor who previously participated as a non-trade ally had 8-10 jobs going at 
once. Nine out of 10 would be out of luck.  
 
She reviewed benefits of shifting to exclusivity for participants, including improved quality of installation; 
better savings; prompt payment. Trade allies would have access to more resources for application and 
incentive processing, technical and program training and coop ad incentives. The approach creates 
competitive differentiation in the marketplace.  
 
She reviewed transition elements – including ample notification to non-trade ally contractors to enroll 
before enforcement, language on website and collateral about requirement to use trade allies, changes 
to forms, and extensive consumer and contractor communication. We tentatively plan a rollout in 
January 2008. 
 
Steve said some trade allies are doing substandard work. We need some way to manage this on 
customers behalf. We can remove the contractor from our website, but in current practice there is no 
way to keep that contractor from continuing to do projects that are submitted to Energy Trust.  
 
Steve Weiss suggested differential incentives – higher incentives for trade allies, lower for non-trade 
allies.  
 







CAC Notes – May 16, 2007       


 6


Paul Olson said on balance he thinks this is institutional ill will.  
 
Lauren Shapton said she thinks there’s benefit in having mandatory participation, in terms of higher 
quality work and better completion of forms. Mat Northway said this is the way EWEB is working and is 
pretty straightforward. Customers must be pre-approved.  
 
Lori Koho thinks it makes sense so long as there is adequate notice. She asked what kind of 
coordination would be done with ODOE. Diane said we align with their requirements for heat pump 
Check Me and duct sealing.  
 
Paul disagrees with limiting access in the marketplace. He likes PGE’s solution, which is to inspect every 
non-trade ally job. He thinks people would be upset if they were served by a contractor who didn’t 
inform them about the opportunity to get an incentive, and then later find you could have received one.  
 
Debbie said we should seek an approach that provides carrots, not sticks.  
 
Mat said EWEB has gotten more sales by having a list of approved contractors.  
 
Debbie thinks we can modify the current approach, do more delisting and more training.  
 
Lori thought it would be useful to determine the amount of time we spend on non trade allies vs trade 
allies.  
 
Suzanne said ODOE requires contractors installing complicated measures, like duct sealing and heat 
pumps, to be trained. They don’t require this for weatherization contractors. Perhaps Energy Trust 
could create a tiered model. Diane said we already have two tiers, one for Home Performance with 
Energy Star contractors and one for all the rest.  
 
Walter Money said homeowner installed measures are for wall and ceiling insulation only. All of these 
are inspected, and a lot fail. He would greatly appreciate having every homeowner doing self install to be 
pre-approved. Then Walter could communicate requirements to them before they do the installs.  
 
Paul suggested stating that approved trade ally contractors can be counted on to fix any jobs that don’t 
pass inspection.  
 
Sara Eddie said it’s also about getting better savings from having more control over trade allies.  
 
Debbie asked how many hours of training we would require for new trade allies. Diane said this would 
depend on the competency of the trade ally. Debbie said we’d need to provide this information up front.  
 
Steve Bicker is concerned about the amount of consternation this would cause in the marketplace. He 
would be better able to make a recommendation if he understood customer reaction.  
 
Steve Lacey said this topic will be discussed again at the June 20 meeting.  
 
Steve Bicker would like minutes to be emailed to members with the meeting notice. Steve Lacey said he 
would do this.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:15 pm 








 
 
 
 
 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting June 20, 2007 
 
Attending from the Council:            
Steve Bicker, NW Natural 
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA 
Andria Jacobs, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Christine Kautzman, Cascade Natural Gas 
Karen Meadows, BPA 
Mathew Northway, EWEB 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
Lori Koho, Oregon Public Utility Commission 
   
Attending from Energy Trust board:      
Debbie Kitchin 
Alan Meyer 
John Reynolds 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Phil Degens 
Fred Gordon 
Diane Ferington 
Steve Lacey 
Brooke Nelson 
Elaine Prause 
Jan Schaeffer 
Jill Steiner 
Kendall Youngblood 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Todd Antonelli, Milgard Windows 
Dana Cofer, PECI 
Betty Merrill, ODOE 
Anthony Scales, Milgard Windows 
Bob Stull, PECI 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. Residential code implications for New Homes program  
Kendall Youngblood said in response to one of Gov. Kulongoski’s Global Warming Advisory 
Committee’s recommendations, the Oregon residential building code is proposed to increase 15%. A list 
of 9 options is provided for buildings to choose from to achieve the 15% increase, including high-e 
HVAC, duct sealing, building envelope, solar electric or water heating and others. There will be a public 
hearing on the code change proposal in late June/early July. The Building Code energy committee will 
review results of the hearing and make a decision in September/October. If passed, the new code goes 
into effect in April 2008.  







CAC Notes – June 20, 2007       


 2


 
If the code passes, we expect a small bump in homes permitted before April (permits expire after 180 
days and cost around $1/sf). Kendall estimates 500 homes will be permitted after April 1 and completed 
before Dec. 31.  
 
The proposed 2008 program focuses on support for non-participating builders, moving participating 
builders to the next level and supporting the next generation of design and practices. Building to Energy 
Star 2.0 will be required Jan. 2008. The new BOP will require high efficiency equipment and duct sealing, 
and new incentives for insulation grading, glazing, highest efficiency equipment, water heaters etc. For 
builders who want to go above and beyond, we are looking at offering pilot incentives for advanced 
framing, wall systems and insulation; duct-less homes; ducts inside conditioned space. We will offer 
training and support to improve design through passive solar and orientation, no AC design and 
neighborhood performance. She invited CAC comments on the proposal to keep incentives consistent 
throughout 2008 for clarity and simplicity in the marketplace, which entails “grandfathering in” 
approximately 500 homes that should be under the new code.  
 
Alan Meyer said he thought NEEA was responsible for market transformation and therefore training 
builders on new codes. Kendall said her training on new Energy Star standards would cover code 
changes too, as Energy Star standards include much of what’s in the code changes. Bob Stull amplified 
her comments. Even is someone meets the new code does not necessarily mean you’ll meet existing 
Energy Star standards. Alan asked if we’ll need to measure the cost effectiveness of the new BOP before 
rolling it out; Kendall said yes.  
 
Debbie said she thinks it’s good to keep the program stable throughout 2008, to avoid confusing 
builders too much. She asked how the LEED for new homes and LEED for neighborhoods is affected by 
the code change. Kendall said LEED requires Energy Star. As Energy Star moves up, LEED will too.  
 
CAC saw no need for a second round of discussion on this presentation. Kendall will bring the 2009 
BOP back to CAC. Steve said he’ll keep the council updated about changes in Washington DC. Fred said 
that, with possible new funds coming into Energy Trust, we may need to fund technology development.  
 
3. Residential trade ally exclusive network 
Diane said she and Paul Berkowitz have retooled their proposal in light of CAC comments at the last 
meeting.  
 
Paul Berkowitz presented new data, updated since his first study earlier this year. Before, he found that 
a small number of contractors do most of the work. This run shows non trade allies do a lot of single-
measure work (furnaces, heat pumps) while trade allies do most of the air sealing, duct sealing and 
insulation work. As a percentage, trade allies install 2/3rds of the work of the program. In a sample April 
06 through April 07, trade allies installed on average 64.77 measures while non trade allies installed on 
average 10.71 measures. 75% of measures installed by non trade allies are furnaces and heat pumps, 
typically a single measure; for trade allies, 45% of measures installed are furnaces and heat pumps. 
Approximately 65% of incentive applications are completed by a non trade ally. Proportion of 
applications with missing information (50% in all) are similar for trade allies and non trade allies.  
 
Lauren asked if we’ve looked at forms that can be filled out on line. Paul said we’re looking at making a 
form you can fill out on your computer, print out and mail in. We’re trying to get information in one 
form to populate other forms. Steve said we are taking another look at on-line forms. We will have 
quality control procedures and standards contractors must meet. We would attempt to move non trade 
allies toward participating status. We propose to eliminate customer self installs, because of the high 







CAC Notes – June 20, 2007       


 3


quality control failure rate. Paul reviewed trade ally benefits, including coop advertising (not available to 
non trade allies), training opportunities (open to all) with larger reimbursements for trade allies, 
equipment discounts and financing. If we move to a trade ally only network, the shift would occur in 09.  
 
Steve Bicker asked if Paul had any insights into why so many furnaces are installed by non trade allies, 
and why they don’t do other measures. Paul said he thinks these installs are mostly from rural areas. 
Steve would like Corban to work closely with NW Natural to make sure gas customers are well served. 
Steve thinks possibly the reason is that many of the vendors have worked with NW Natural for years; 
he would like to work more closely with Energy Trust to be sure the vendors are acquainted with 
Energy Trust.  
 
Lauren suggested requiring preapprovals on self installs rather than eliminating incentives altogether. 
Karen Meadows asked if there is a way to make forms easier to fill out for non participating trade allies. 
She noted BPA has an instructions manual for self installers. Steve asked for advice from CAC on how 
to reduce repeat inspections on the 50% failing QC tests. Mat Northway said all his projects need to be 
preapproved and also offer an instructions manual. Christine Kautzman said Cascade’s approach has two 
opportunities to talk with self installers – before and after. Steve suggested that a checklist of to-do’s  
for self installers be developed and required with incentive application submissions. Jeremy Anderson 
noted this would be a good idea and one specific to contractors be developed. 
 
Steve asked if the CAC supports continuing to permit non trade allies to participate in 2008. Lauren said 
as the data shows no significant difference in performance, there are no grounds for disallowing them. 
Rest of CAC nodded agreement.  
 
Debbie asked if we should survey contractors who don’t sign up as trade allies to find out why, and 
possibly to find out why some who sign up as trade allies don’t install measures. Debbie noted her 
company is a general contractor and hires subs who are trade allies to do some work but her company 
is not a trade ally. The owner never knows the name or cost of the sub’s work.  
 
Laurie would like to see a list of trade allies and their locations plotted in order to see if geography is a 
factor determining who participates and who doesn’t. Paul said we can try to pull that data.  
 
4. Board strategic planning workshop results 
Production Efficiency program moving in house. Elaine Prause said CAC in May generally supported the 
move, with some cautions, such as sensitivity to adding staff, need to be assured industrial participants 
support the change, and make sure adequate technical staff could be acquired. She said options were 
presented to the board. Option 2, recommended by staff, would bring the administrative functions in 
house and have Energy Trust contract directly with Program Delivery Contractors. The board was 
uncomfortable with this change in the absence of more information about issues, noted above, needing 
to be addressed and how the change would address this issue. For the August 8 meeting, Elaine said we 
will survey more participants to more clearly delineate issues, survey support for the change and 
examine prospects for bringing technical staff in house.  
 
Margie Harris noted we chose the PMC delivery model to quickly launch programs. The recent program 
delivery model evaluation suggested keeping the PMC model except possibly for the Production 
Efficiency model. She noted industrial customers seem to want long-term relationships and access to top 
Energy Trust staff. She noted typically this would be a management or operational issue, but because it 
would be a departure from how we have set up the programs, we wanted to involve the board.  
Alan Meyer said he thinks there were three camps on the board: 1) it’s not broken, so don’t fix it; 2) go 
ahead with the change; and 3) in the middle. Debbie Kitchin said there were some issues, such as 







CAC Notes – June 20, 2007       


 4


multiple visits to participants, which bringing the program in house wouldn’t necessarily fix. She noted 
the importance of finding someone with a technical background in industry and not just in energy 
program management. Steve Lacey said we’ve identified two potential candidates with the appropriate 
industrial engineering background.  
 
Bruce Dobbs said the relative merits of one over the other are a bit squishy now. If the change went 
forward, we would want to make sure the transition worked as smoothly as possible for customers. 
Steve said we do not expect much impact at all to the customer. The persons having the relationships 
with the customers are the Program Delivery Contractors; we propose to continue their contracts 
through 2008 and then recompete the contracts as would any PMC.  
 
Expansion into other states. Margie explained Cascade Natural Gas has formally asked Energy Trust to 
consider if Energy Trust is the appropriate party to deliver Cascade efficiency services to their 
customers in Washington. We are engaged in a study examining what it would take for us to operate in 
another state, and whether this is practicable. The board had a good discussion about this. A couple 
members noted we were created to serve Oregon, and others who thought expansion opportunities 
needed to be studied and assessed. We will bring findings to the board for discussion in August.  
 
Debbie said a lot of questions were raised about our capacity to respond to legislative changes. People 
wanted to see results of the study. Christine said Cascade doesn’t have staff in Washington to run the 
programs. It would be difficult for Cascade to get programs up and running in the expected time frame. 
 
Andria Jacobs asked mechanically how Energy Trust could do this. Margie said we are an independent 
501(c)(3) operating under a grant agreement with OPUC and separate agreements with NW Natural 
and Cascade. Our agreement with OPUC specifically permits us to raise funding from sources other 
than the public purpose fund.  
 
Alan Meyer said he views the IOU ratepayers in Oregon as our core constituents. Anything we do 
should add benefit to them.  
 
Margie said we are doing an IT architecture study of our systems, which initially served two utilities 
while now we have transactions with five to track. Answering whether the systems remain efficient is 
helpful and informative to the question of moving outside Oregon as well.  
 
Renewable energy standard. Margie said the Renewable Energy Act (formerly bill, SB 838), provides the 
opportunity for PGE and Pacific Power to file integrated resource plans identifying energy efficiency they 
wish to acquire above that available through the public purpose funds. Some of the new funds would 
flow to Energy Trust to augment its programs or possibly add new ones. The renewable energy 
standard will change Energy Trust’s renewable offerings substantially. Some 60% of Energy Trust 
renewables spending has been on utility scale (wind). Beginning 2008 the utilities will be responsible for 
such projects. Energy Trust will have the same percentage funding but it will be limited to projects up to 
20 megawatts. Some legal questions came up about wording changes concerning project funding in SB 
838 compared to SB 1149; we are seeking clarification of these through OPUC.  
 
Andria Jacob noted the City of Portland just received notification that it has received a Solar City 
Partnership grant from US Department of Energy.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:40 pm 








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on May 16, 2007. 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Justin Klure, ODOE 
Jeff King, NW Power & Conservation Council 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Troy Gagliano, RNP 
Angus Duncan, Bonneville Environmental 
Foundation 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Elizabeth Giles 
Erin Johnston 
Alan Cowan 
Adam Serchuk 
Kacia Brockman 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Davis McClelland 


Attending from the Board: 
Alan Meyer, Weyerhaeuser 
John Reynolds, University of Oregon 
 
Others attending: 
Dave Tooze, City of Portland 
Jon Miller, OSEIA 
Tom Chester, OIT 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Lee Perlow, Perlow Mapping & Design 
Jim Deason


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Adam convened the meeting at 9:30 am. The April notes were adopted with one change from 
Lori Koho.  


2. Legislative update 


Justin Klure presented an update on the 2007 legislative session. Hearings on House Bills 2210 
(Biofuels package), 2211(BETC changes) and 2212(RETC changes) were heard last week. Visit 
http://www.leg.state.or.us/bills_laws/home.htm for more detailed descriptions and status updates 
on legislative bills. No amendments have been proposed to 2210, and the majority was 
supportive. They did have time to address 2211 or 2212. 


Adam asked about status of the fixing the problematic interaction between the BETC pass-
through and the corporate kicker. Justin said that there are no specific fixes to his knowledge. 
Last he heard, there was a rule or bill that would be added to ensure there were no 
disincentives to claiming the BETC. Troy added that SB 819 should be addressing this issue. 


The Renewable Portfolio Standard(RPS), Senate Bill 838, has a work session schedule for this 
afternoon. It passed 20 to 10 out of the Senate and is in the House Energy and Environment 
Committee. There is a change being incorporated that will affect the Consumer-Owned Utilities 
(COU). Those COUs with less than 1.5% would be required to provide 5% renewable energy 
by 2025. Those between 1.5 and 3% would need 10% by 2025. 


HB 2610 would require 1.5% of the construction budget for public buildings that use state funds 
to go toward adding solar to the building. Dave Tooze asked if a building that is receiving BETC 
funding through a pass through would be considered to have state funding. Jon Miller was 
unsure and said he would follow up. 







RAC notes – 5/16/07 


 2


Kacia asked for an update on the net-metering change. Jon said that May 9th was the last date for 
public comment. He expects that the rule will take effect with tariffs in place in September.  


Angus added that there were several bills relating to climate change that were brought forward, 
and it is likely at least that one will pass setting up a Climate Commission and recognizes the 
work being done within the state university system. It also puts the climate goals proposed by 
the governor into statute. 


3488 extends the property tax exemption to 3rd party financing projects.  


3. Strategic Planning 


Adam led a discussion on the strategic planning issues for renewables. Energy Trust currently 
devotes about 48% of its $11 million renewable energy budget to utility-scale projects.  We fund 
projects in return for a share of their green tags, which we (or the utilities) hold in trust for the 
ratepayers whose money we manage. All our renewable energy programs, with the exception of 
utility-scale, blend resource acquisition with market development.  Market development 
activities stimulate healthy renewable energy markets, and are intended in time to lead to 
increased renewable generation. 


Energy Trust has a green tags policy that requires us to take ownership of the green tags for a 
given project in proportion to the amount of the above-market cost with support. We are 
seeing an evolving market for green tags, so we are developing a revised approach in which we 
would claim only as many tags as our incentive would purchase at a fair market value.   


There is also a set of OPUC performance benchmarks. The current performance benchmarks 
do not recognize market development activities. Our stakeholders have expressed a 
commitment to market development and resource diversity, and several of the Board’s strategic 
goals are not easily translated into megawatts. SB 838 seems to require more focus on market 
development, not less. Markets for most smaller-scale renewable technologies are less mature 
than large wind and will require more market efforts. 


Lori said that this statement may be misleading. SB 838 does not require that Energy Trust 
engage in market development. Adam agreed, and clarified that this is a conclusion Energy Trust 
has reached in its work to date.  Lori also pointed out that while SB 1149 mentions new market 
transformation, the rules apply this term only to energy efficiency.   


Currently, we are required to claim green tags in exchange for financial incentives which 
heightens the tension between market development and project construction, and the confusion 
over what counts as success. This raises numerous questions—Are we successful if a project is 
developed with our help, or only if we obtain the green tags? If we receive only some of the 
tags, should we claim only some of the credit? If green tags are the compliance mechanism for 
the RPS, is our job to procure tags on behalf of ratepayers? If Oregon implements an RPS and it 
is determined that Energy trust should help the ratepayers comply with that standard, does that 
imply that we should only pursue projects for which we can claim tags? 


Angus said that there are various ways you can characterize Energy Trust’s mission. If and when 
the RPS passes, it may trump all other options and may require that Energy Trust, as a 
collaborator with the IOUs, assist the reaching of the goal. In terms of achieving the goal of 
increasing overall renewable generation in the state, if we want to move RE development faster, 
it helps greatly if the financial tools are additive and not substitutable. If a project can get 
financing from Energy Trust and some additional support from selling green tags, this will only 







RAC notes – 5/16/07 


 3


lead to more renewable generation being installed.  Angus’s opinion is that Energy Trust could 
do more to advance renewable energy if it did not claim green tags as a condition of funding. 


Adam continued, saying he expects the Board to address these issues over the next year, in 
pace with market change and legislative action.  To start discussion, staff created a strawman 
conceptual approach, consisting of two goals:   
 
• Goal #1:  Construction of projects able to deliver power to PGE or PacifiCorp  
 


o Projects measured by capacity (in average megawatts) built with significant Energy 
Trust participation, through a financial incentive or otherwise  


 
• Goal #2:  Development of strong, long-term renewable energy markets in Oregon   
 


o Market development measured by achievement of indicative market effects (e.g., 
installers trained, dairies that obtain cost data on digesters, etc.) 


 


In this formulation, Energy Trust purchases green tags as a tool to assist in market development, 
as described in the current, interim green tag policy.  Those tags are used to defray RPS 
compliance costs for PGE and PacifiCorp ratepayers.  However, Energy Trust’s primary goals 
are broader than RPS compliance alone, and green tag ownership is not the primary measure of 
success.  


Staff would also encourage consideration of expanding Energy Trust’s role in technology 
development (e.g., move upstream into demonstration projects); take a more active role in 
project development (e.g., buy turbines on behalf of community wind projects to leverage 
purchasing power and relationships); and redefine ratepayer benefit to include effective RPS 
compliance (e.g., issue an  RFP for green tags from specific types of new projects, where doing 
so also contributed to market development goals). 


Lori said that the OPUC staff is concerned about the Energy Trust pursuing unbundled green 
tags on the open market to achieve compliance. If Energy Trust is purchasing green tags, it 
would be in competition with the utility. Adam asked if OPUC believes that the utilities will be 
buying tags from projects under 20 MW. Angus added that Energy Trust could be seen as 
collaborating with the utilities by acquiring these tags on behalf of the ratepayer.  


Dave said that market transformation was a phrase that was not associated with renewables at 
the time the language of the statute was developed. Above-market cost is a pretty broad phrase 
and there is room for market transformation activities in that phrase. Customer initiated 
projects, 20 MW and less, are developed for more reasons than just energy generation. To ask 
them to give up the greenness of the project runs counter to the desire of many customers, the 
City of Portland included. There needs to be a way for the customer, Energy Trust and utility to 
achieve success. If the customer gives up the tags, they are just a power generator. If the 
customer, who is a ratepayer, retires the tags for their own benefit (and does not sell them), it 
should count toward the RPS.  Assuming that an RPS passes, why doesn’t the OPUC say that all 
of Energy Trust’s projects for which the tags have been retired by either the customer or 
Energy Trust count toward the RPS and be subtracted from the utility’s RPS requirement? That 
would be considered success for the customer, Energy Trust and the utility. 


Angus said that when BEF does solar school projects, they leave the tags with the school 
because they have not been able to find a way to explain to the kids why they aren’t generating 







RAC notes – 5/16/07 


 4


green power. The school is obligated to retire the tags as a PGE or Pacific Power customer, and 
may not resell the tags. In a non-legal sense, they ought to be able to be counted against an RPS.  


Jon said that to make full use of the tags, Energy trust should sell tags and reinvest the revenue 
in additional renewable resources. To use them most fully for the industry, they should be 
turned into additional renewable projects.  


Alan agreed with Dave that Energy Trust, the utility and the developer could all get credit 
toward their goals if the tags are retired and not sold, but questioned whether the law will allow 
that, given that he believes the intent of the legislation is to acquire tags toward the utility RPS.  


Adam said that the Lakeview Biomass project has announced that they have financing. This will 
be a 10-15 MW project near the CA border. We have been involved for several years in the 
background. It seems possible that they could sell the green tags and possibly the power to 
California. Let’s suppose that we could make a case that we had helped the project development 
process even though we did not provide a financial incentive.  Would we consider this a success 
or a failure? Alan said that as the law is written now, it would be a success, even if we don’t 
contribute money or get green tags. With an RPS, it would be a failure.  


Thor said that PGE has struggled with the PUC interpretation that their 50 aMW of voluntary 
green power purchases will not count toward an RPS. 


Angus said that in the case of the Lakeview project, Energy Trust should be able to claim a non-
material success in the involvement. Just as the marketing and communications efforts 
contribute to Energy Trust’s success, so does involvement in projects like Lakeview.  


Jim commented on the above-market cost calculations. He always assumed that the green tag 
policy emerged from the above-market policy. He supposes that any activity in which Energy 
Trust engages ought to be tied somehow to a project’s above-market cost.  


Angus said that Energy Trust needs guidance from the OPUC on whether the tags they claim 
are going to be counted toward the obligation of the utilities.  Lori responded that yes, green 
tags owned by Energy Trust will count toward the utilities’ RPS goals. 


Adam asked whether Energy Trust would be doing the right thing if it funded a project that was 
sited in COU territory and the electricity went to the COU and the tags were claimed by 
Energy Trust on behalf of PGE or Pacific Power customers.   


Angus asked if Energy Trust could fund a project in COU territory if its demonstration value 
would help develop the market in Energy Trust territory. Lori responded that such a project 
may be acceptable since it ultimately would benefit the ratepayer.   


Jon commented that such a demonstration project may be acceptable, but in general Energy 
Trust should not seek to acquire unbundled green tags for RPS compliance.   


Lori asked why Energy Trust would want to acquire unbundled green tags. If cost effectiveness is 
a concern, we should consider changing the performance benchmarks. 


Adam gave examples of COU projects that may be considered.  First, a successful digester 
project in Tillamook County would help transform the dairy market for biopower, but is served 
by Tillamook PUD.  Second, most good Oregon wind sites are located in COU territory. 







RAC notes – 5/16/07 


 5


Alan M. said that tags were developed, in part, because it isn’t always physically or financially 
feasible to deliver the green power to an end user.  He added that SB 838 exempts net metered 
and qualifying facilities from the utilities’ 20% limit on unbundled green tag purchases. 


Lori said that the bottom line is to ensure a coal plant does not get built. Funding a project in 
COU territory and claiming the tags for the RPS does not address the supply needs for the 
IOUs. Doug agreed that for him the ultimate point is to ensure that fossil fuel use is reduced or 
more plants aren’t built.  


Angus disagreed, explaining that an RPS requires electricity to be delivered, and is therefore an 
imperfect tool for reducing CO2, if CO2 reduction is your ultimate goal. Jeff King agreed. Troy 
added that the RPS has goals beyond CO2 reduction, including jobs and energy independence 
for Oregon. 


Adam asked for feedback about how Energy Trust should measure success. Jon said that Energy 
Trust is doing a good job when it works itself out of a job. The goals defined in the strawman 
proposal are appropriate. 


Dave said he favors a broader definition of success. If Energy Trust touches a project, such as 
funding preliminary studies, it can claim credit. Success in terms of economic development and 
growth in the community is a measure as well.  


Lori feels that the bottom-line goal of acquiring MWhs is key, but Energy Trust will not be 
successful in doing this if it does not take steps toward market development. It is a question of 
magnitude—if a disproportionate amount of funding is spent doing projects outside the service 
territory or is not acquiring generation, it will come under a lot of scrutiny. She reiterated a 
previously written OPUC staff position that projects receiving technical support from Energy 
Trust should count toward its goals, even if they receive no above market funding.  Lori voiced 
support for staff’s strawman proposal. 


Angus said that it is appropriate, though difficult, to define some big, easy-to-measure metrics 
for the soft goals, and identify the kinds of Energy Trust activities would contribute to those 
goals. These soft goals could be “signpost” indicators of market penetration. 


Lori commented that if Energy Trust invested in projects in COU territory, some may believe 
that the benefit to the COUs would be unfair given the COU opposition to the RPS. Angus 
responded that the benefit to the COU could be acceptable if the project would lead to 
significant long term benefit for the IOU customers, too. 


Adam said that the next step will be to frame the conversation for the Board’s retreat in June. In 
August, we will decide how to measure the project goal (aMW or green tags) and market 
development goal. By October, as part of 2008 budget, we will propose new annual project 
benchmarks and market development goals. In November, staff will propose a new long-term 
project goal to Board, and in December the Board will approve the 2008 project goal and 
project benchmarks to OPUC. 


There were no other public comments. Adam adjourned the meeting at 11:30 pm. 








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on June 20, 2007. 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Troy Gagliano, RNP 
Angus Duncan, BEF 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Elizabeth Giles 
Erin Johnston 
Alan Cowan 
Adam Serchuk 
Kacia Brockman 
Jan Schaffer 
John Volkman 
Fred Gordon 


Attending from the Board: 
Alan Meyer, Weyerhaeuser 
John Reynolds, University of Oregon 
 
Others attending: 
Dave Tooze, City of Portland 
Jon Miller, OSEIA 
Jason Bagwill 
Robert Moody 
Craig Stewart, Tanner Creek Energy 
Dan Dettmer, Advanced Energy Systems 
Steve McGrath, Commercial Solar Ventures 
Sandra Walden, Commercial Solar Ventures 
Mark Heizer, Interface Engineering 
Lisa Petterson, SERA Architects 
Rebecca Sherman, Hydropower Reform 
Coalition 


 


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Adam convened the meeting at 9:35 am. The May notes were adopted without change.  


2. Legislative update 


Jon Miller reported that HB 2211and 2212 have been combined into omnibus bill, HB3201. HB 
3488, which will property tax exemption for facilities with solar, has passed the house but is 
likely to have amendments by the Senate. HB 819, the BETC kicker fix, passed the house and 
will now move into the Senate.  


Alan Meyer reported that at the federal level, the Senate finance committee passed an 
amendment to section 45 that would remove the third-party sale requirement for biopower, 
which means a project no longer needs to sell the electricity from the site in order to claim the 
tax credit. 


3. Strategic Planning Retreat Follow-up 


Adam shared some of the results and conclusions from the Board strategic planning retreat in 
June. There were three primary outcomes for renewables, all of which were considered in light 
of the recent passage of SB 838. 


The Board agreed that Energy Trust should have the flexibility to pursue demonstration type 
projects that may be more R&D in nature. Staff is currently working on a policy, a draft of which 
will be brought before the RAC in July. Project location and power delivery was also discussed. 
This would enable Energy Trust to explore projects outside of Energy Trust’s service territory if 
the project delivers green tags to PGE or Pacific Power customers.  







RAC notes – 6/20/07 


 2


Energy Trust’s ability to engage in and support activities that do not directly contribute to the 
above-market costs of a renewable project was also discussed in response to possibly restrictive 
language in SB 838. SB 1149, the bill that originally directed the activities that Energy Trust was 
to engage in, stated that the Trust was to fund “the above-market costs of new renewable 
energy resources.” Energy Trust and the OPUC interpreted this to encompass the market 
development and industry support necessary to cultivate good projects and encourage growth 
in the renewables sector. However, SB 838 included language that appears more narrowly 
define how funds are to be spent, on “…the above-market costs of constructing and operating 
new renewable energy resources with a nominal electric generating capacity . . . of 20 
megawatts or less.”  


Lori said that there has been a great deal of discussion at the OPUC about how much flexibility 
they have to interpret the bill, and there is no answer as of yet. The Department of Justice 
(DOJ) is gathering evidence and communicating with those involved in writing the bill to clarify 
the intent, and plans to have some results by Friday (June 22). However, there is the possibility 
that the issue may have to go back to the legislature for an amendment, which would not 
happen in 2007.  


Dave Tooze asked what the process will be for rectifying this problem, and whether there 
would be an opportunity for constituent and stakeholder input. John Volkman replied that it is 
common for new legislation to require clarification. Energy Trust is waiting to see what the 
Department of Justice provides, and believes things may be resolved without major issue. 


Lori said that DOJ is searching through the tapes and records from the bill to gleam what the 
intent of the legislation was when the language was crafted. Angus commented that in the 
meetings he attended, he never recalled any conversation around changing to the mission of 
Energy Trust. Troy agreed, saying that the only discussion was about extending the life of Energy 
Trust and focusing on projects 20 MW and less. Jon Miller concurred. Lori asked that those 
involved in the drafting of the bill e-mail their thoughts to herself, Lisa Schwartz, Lee Sparling 
and Lee Beyer. 


Jon said that while he feels that the language used was unfortunate, it should be implicit that 
certain activities are necessary to the programs operating successfully. On the other hand, if you 
get too far from activities that lead to constructing and operating a project, it is appropriate for 
there to be push back. Adam asked how Jon would characterize ‘too far.’ Jon said that early 
stage R&D might be too far. 


Adam explained that the next steps will be to develop the demonstration and project location 
policies. Energy Trust staff will also work on how to measure success for non-project activities, 
and begin developing new annual project benchmarks and market development goals for the 
2008 budget. In the fall, staff will propose a new, long-term department goal to the Board.  


Angus asked when these issues would be discussed with the RAC. Adam replied that the 
demonstration policy will be brought before the RAC in July, and staff will continue to roll items 
out through the summer as drafts are developed.  


Alan Meyer expressed concern that Energy Trust had yet to seek guidance from the OPUC on 
treatment of Green tags. Lori said that she believed the issue had been addressed. John 
Reynolds agreed that the topic was resolved and closed at the retreat. Alan requested further 
clarification of the outcome. Lori said that there is staff consensus that the goal of Energy Trust 
is not just to acquire green tags, but to develop successful projects. Alan replied that this 
interpretation should be subject to change in light of the passage of SB 838. Lori responded this 
consensus was arrived at in ocnsideration of SB 838, and was the result of conversations 
internally with Commissioners at the OPUC. Adam added that Energy Trust’s understanding is 
that green tags acquired through program activities will count toward the utilities’ obligations. 







RAC notes – 6/20/07 


 3


However, RPS compliance is the responsibility of the utilities, and Energy Trust’s mandate is to 
develop projects.  


Angus said that he expects that there will be more conversations between Energy Trust and the 
utilities as the utilities become more interested in Energy Trust’s green tag acquisition activities. 
Dave added that the end-use customer should not be forgotten in this discussion. Many 
customers will want to be able to, at the very least, share the tags so that they can claim the 
green benefits of their projects.  


4. East Portland Community Center Solar Project 


Betsy described a proposal for a 90 kW solar electric installation at the East Portland 
Community Center for which the Open Solicitation Program is seeking approval for up to 
$166,500 in funding. The project is applying for LEED certification and is expected to generate 
92,434 kWh annually, 
 
Except for one key difference, the project’s financing is along the line of the standard investment 
model as used for most wind projects and for the previously approved Portland Habilitation 
Center solar project. A Limited Liability Corporation (EPCC Solar LLC) is being formed 
between a majority, outside investor and BEF to finance the system. Total installed costs are 
estimated at $891,000. 
 
The majority investor is contributing 70% of the installation costs. Utilizing a grant from PGE, 
BEF provides 11.3%. The LLC proposes that Energy Trust’s funds make up the remaining 18.7%. 
For the first five years, the majority investor will be the majority owner (99.9%), absorbing all 
the tax benefits, paying all costs and receiving all the energy sales revenue attributed to the 
project. After five years, owner percentages will flip with BEF becoming the majority owner 
(95%) and the majority investor becoming a minority owner (5%). BEF will then receive 95% of 
the benefits of the system and absorb an equal share of any costs. At that point, BEF will have 
the option to buy out the investor at a price of 5% of the appraised fair market value of the PV 
system. BEF and the city of Portland may structure a second agreement to transfer ownership of 
the PV system to the city. 


Angus added that BEF will set up a subsidiary, to avoid any tax complications. Additionally, BEF 
and the project investor consultant, Commercial Solar Ventures (CSV), are hoping that this can 
be used a model for future opportunities for solar on public entities.  


 
The total project costs are $891,116. Energy Trust’s subsidy of $166,500 will cover 100% of the 
above-market costs. In addition, Energy Trust will set aside $9,000 of that subsidy to be used to 
compensate BEF, should the city decide not to exercise the option to purchase the solar system 
after year six. A $100,000 grant has also been awarded by PGE. Energy Trust and PGE will 
jointly take title to all the tags for the project and retire them on behalf of PGE ratepayers. 
Energy Trust’s payment will be on commissioning. 
 
In addition, the inclusion of the PV system could lead the Community Center to achieve LEED 
Platinum rating. This would be the first LEED Platinum pool in the country. Troy asked what 
portion of the building’s power will come from the solar electric system. Lisa Petterson replied 
that it will provide roughly 12.5% of the site’s electricity. Troy asked about the funding from 
PGE, which Thor said is coming from the Clean Wind Development Fund.  
 
Dave commended all of the players involved in developing this project, which will act as a 
replicable model for other projects with similar financial situations. His thanks included PGE, 
Energy Trust, the Park Bureaus, BEF, SERA Architects, Interface Engineering and CSV.  







RAC notes – 6/20/07 


 4


 
John Reynolds asked about the disposition of the green tags, which Betsy said are being jointly 
retired on behalf of PGE and Energy Trust. Thor added that they will ultimately count toward 
PGE. Lori asked if there would be a conflict since the funding is coming from ratepayer options. 
Thor clarified that the funding for the Clean Wind Development Fund is net after the customers 
receive their tags, and thus should not present a problem.  
 
Adam thanked Betsy for her work on the third-party ownership model, adding that the Open 
Solicitation Program exists specifically to provide an avenue not only for uncommon 
technologies, but creative ways to make renewable projects happen.  
 
The RAC agreed to endorse the project, which will be brought before the Board at the next 
Board meeting.  


5. Small Wind Program Design 


Alan Cowan described the preliminary design for the small wind program. The primary 
motivation for developing a stand-alone program with a standard incentive is consumer demand. 
Every week, Energy Trust receives numerous inquiries about small wind, which are currently 
being directed to the anemometer loan program. Small wind is to the rural residence what solar 
PV is to the urban residence. The tax benefits from the state in the form of the Residential 
Energy Tax Credit (RETC) and Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC), and proposed federal tax 
credits for small wind are also driving interest. 


The small wind industry is undergoing a significant amount of growth. Turbine manufacturers 
Bergey and Southwest Windpower have a good track record with their existing products, and 
there are new technologies opening up the market. Activity is also increasing locally, with two 
manufacturers in the Newberg area, Abundant renewable Energy and Volt-Air Wind Electric..  


Energy Trust contracted with NWSEED to investigate existing small wind programs across the 
country. They identified and explored the five most successful and innovative programs 
nationwide. There appear to be three primary types of incentives: cost based, capacity based 
and hybrids (based on production and cost with a cap). Three states have a list of eligible 
turbines, and two use approved installers. None stipulated green tag ownership or a post-
installation inspection. 


There are several barriers to small wind for the consumer in Oregon, some of which are of 
Energy Trust’s making. Currently, Energy Trust requires a one-year resource assessment from 
an anemometer, which is long time investment. There is a general lack of performance standards 
and accredited installers. Energy Trust does not offer a standard incentive, so participants do 
not know what they can expect for an incentive. Conditional use permits are required for 
structures over 35 feet, and there are few sources of credible small wind information. 


John Reynolds asked if an exception to the permitting issue was possible for small wind, similar 
to those for cell phone towers. Alan replied that there are some national efforts to obtain this, 
lead by AWEA, but currently none exist for wind. Alan said that allowing counties to become 
familiar with the installations is a good first step toward eliminating permitting problems.  


The Program plans to provide resource assessment for consumers through a web-based 
mapped model system. A small wind schools initiative will provide consumer education through 
a public demonstration. This will also provide visibility to the program and promote community 







RAC notes – 6/20/07 


 5


acceptance of the technology, as well as providing training opportunities. Initially, the program 
proposes to work with 4-6 schools through a request for Letters of Interest. 


Angus said that, while he remains dubious of anyone extracting cost-effective generation from 
small wind turbines, he is supportive of Energy Trust’s effort. BEF has a full-time curriculum 
developer, and there may be opportunity for partnership between the two organizations. He 
also asked if the wind data software will be available on Energy Trust’s website. Alan said that 
third tier (low resolution) will be available publicly for a first look through a link to AWS’ 
website, and Energy Trust will secure access to the second tier (higher resolution) TrueWind 
wind data for use internally. 


Implementation of a standard incentive will simplify the application/installation process and 
attract participants by covering some of the initial costs. Currently, installed costs vary greatly 
between manufacturers, so an incentive that is based on production and cost will help even the 
playing field. Applicants will qualify based on mapped wind data, where <10 mph does not 
qualify, between 10 mph and 12 mph will be conditional, and >12 mph qualifies.  There will also 
be other qualifiers, such as lot size and setback requirements.  


Alan Meyer asked how the program will develop a standard incentive that covers the above-
market cost with the wide variations in cost. Alan Cowan replied that Wisconsin uses a 
production based incentive that includes the cost. 


Quality assurance is also important to the program. Energy Trust proposes to address this 
through a list of eligible equipment and qualified installers. To begin, the program will publish a 
list of requirements for turbine manufacturers. In the long-term, the program hopes to 
transition to certified turbines. AWEA is developing a Small Wind Turbine Performance and 
Safety Standard through the Small Wind Certification Corporation (SWCC).  


Qualified installers who provide O &M support is also critical to the long-term viability of the 
industry. Technical requirements will be  


Training will be modeled after the solar program. 


The next steps will be to Contract with wind map data provider, develop the schools initiative 
details and standard program details, and write and publish the outreach material. 


John asked why the program wouldn’t contract with both Three Tier and AWS, since two 
opinions are better than one. Alan said that we have begun comparing Oregon’s anemometer 
data with the data from the sources. However, this may be a good recommendation.  


Adam asked what the outlook is for the anemometer loan program. Alan responded that Energy 
Trust will continue to use the anemometer loan program for tall-tower data collection and 
analysis for the community wind program.  


6. East Portland Community Center Solar Project 


Betsy introduced Rebecca …. from the Hydropower Reform Coalition,  


Rebecca Sherman Hydropower Refrom Cooalition represents over 130 organizations 
nationwide. Began in 1992 resulting from relicensing in the Great Lakes, but the focus has 
shifted to the Northwest. The platform is moderate, and they are now involved in FERC 
licensing requirements. Have been involved in what the definition of renewables should be for 
Renewable Portfolio Standards. There are three provisions: 







RAC notes – 6/20/07 


 6


Any project constricted before 1995, up to 50 MW, as long as certified 


If you can improve the way you are generating power, you get benefit 


Any power development, as long as it is outside of federally protected areas, is ok. Federally 
protected areas were developed in 1998 after five years of study. There are a few exceptions 
for existing power generating facilities and dams that would like to expand to include power 
production. When SB 838 was developed, they urged the drafters to include the language to 
state “no new impoundments, no new diversions.” 


Energy Trust, however, has the opportunity to develop a stricter definition of what is 
considered acceptable renewables. Additionally, some hydropower is regulated by state, and 
some by FERC. Our strong state standards do not always play out when it is a federally 
regulated project because FERC supersedes the state requirements. Betsy clarified that she 
assumed that any project in the state would be required to comply with the rigorous state 
standards, but there can be cases where the project goes through FERC and will not be subject 
to state review.  


Angus asked what “no new impoundments or diversions” leaves as an option for hydro. 
Rebecca replied that irrigation diversions and new facilities on existing dams would qualify. 
Adam asked if run of the river would also be excluded by this. Rebecca clarified that run of the 
river means that what is taken from the river is returned, ie. there is no storage. However, 
usually there is still diversion. Angus asked if this assumes that there is no such thing as a new 
dam project that is environmentally acceptable. The presumption is that any project with an 
environmental footprint 


Alan Meyer said that if the law defines what renewable energy is, Energy Trust may not have the 
flexibility to define what it considers acceptable. Adam replied that Energy Trust is free to 
develop policies, criteria or requirements as the Board sees fit.  


Angus asked about the relationship between the Hydropower Reform Coalition and the Low-
Impact Hydropower Institute. Rebecca said that there is no formal relationship, but there is 
considerable overlap in oversight. Betsy said that the Low-Impact Hydropower Institute does 
not certify new dams or pump storage, only existing sites to encourage more efficient 
generation.  


Angus added that Energy Trust might consider looking to ODFW in the case where a project is 
being regulated by FERC, instead of developing its own policy. 


Fred asked if the Coalition feels that all new hydro is undesirable, or whether the regulation is 
insufficient and/or ineffective. Rebecca replied that it is a little of both. Fred added that if it is 
primarily a regulatory issue, it may be worth working to resolve them as Oregon is going to 
have increasing demand for small renewables, and we do not want to exclude any workable 
options for the future.  


Adam adjourned the meeting at 11:55am.  





